Public Document Pack

RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

at the Council Offices, Farnborough on
Wednesday, 7th November, 2018 at 7.00 pm

To:
VOTING MEMBERS

Clir B.A. Thomas (Chairman)
Clir J.H. Marsh (Vice-Chairman)

Clir Mrs. D.B. Bedford Clir P.1.C. Crerar Clir C.P. Grattan
Clir D.M.T. Bell Clir Sue Dibble Clir Mara Makunura
Clir R.M. Cooper CliIr Jennifer Evans Clir A.R. Newell

NON-VOTING MEMBERS
Clir Barbara Hurst (Cabinet Member for Planning and Economy) (ex-officio)
STANDING DEPUTIES

Clir Veronica Graham-Green
Clir P.F. Rust

Enquiries regarding this agenda should be referred to Marion Young,
Democratic and Customer Services, 01252 398827 marion.young@rushmoor.gov.uk




AGENDA
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - (Pages 1 - 2)

All Members who believe they have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to
be considered at the meeting may not participate in any discussion or vote taken on
the matter and if the interest is not registered it must be disclosed to the meeting. In
addition, Members are required to leave the meeting while the matter is discussed.

MINUTES - (Pages 3 - 16)
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 10th October, 2018 (copy attached).
PLANNING APPLICATIONS - (Pages 17 - 194)

To consider the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1829 on planning applications
recently submitted to the Council (copy attached).

Sections A & B of the report set out the items to be considered at future meetings
and petitions received:

Item Reference Number Address Recommendation

1 16/00981/FULPP Aldershot Bus Station, 3 For information
Station Road, Aldershot

2 18/00225/LBCPP Ramsden Garden Wall For information
Memorial — Montgomery
Lines, Aldershot

3 18/00367/OQUTPP Former Police Station, For information
Pinehurst Avenue,
Farnborough

4 18/00614/FULPP Randell House, Fernhill For information
Road, Blackwater

5 18/00709/FULPP Land adjacent Green For information
Hedges, Hawley Road,
Blackwater

Section C of the report sets out planning applications for determination at this
meeting:

Item Pages Reference Address Recommendation
Number
6 25-59 18/00140/FULPP  Meudon House, Grant

Meudon Avenue,
Farnborough



7 61-110  18/00466/FULPP 117 Farnborough Grant
Road, Farnborough

8 111-141  18/00481/FULPP  Upper Union Grant
Terrace and 182 to
192 Victoria Road,
Aldershot

9 143-178 18/00657/FULPP  Farnborough Grant
Airport,
Farnborough Road,
Farnborough

Section D of the report sets out planning applications which have been determined
under the Council’s scheme of delegation for information.

PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT) SUMMARY REPORT FOR THE
QUARTER JULY - SEPTEMBER 2018 — (Pages 195 - 200)

To receive the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1830 (copy attached) which
updates on the Performance Indicators for the Development Management section of
Planning, and the overall workload for the Section for the period 1st July to 30th
September, 2018.

MEETING REPRESENTATION

Members of the public may ask to speak at the meeting, on the planning applications
that are on the agenda to be determined, by writing to the Committee Administrator
at the Council Offices, Farnborough by 5.00 pm on the day prior to the meeting, in

accordance with the Council’s adopted procedure which can be found on the
Council’'s website at
http://www.rushmoor.gov.uk/speakingatdevelopmentmanagement



http://www.rushmoor.gov.uk/speakingatdevelopmentmanagement

This page is intentionally left blank



Development Management Committee

7th November 2018

Name: Clir

Declarations of interest

AGENDA ITEM No. 1

Head of Planning

N.B. A declaration is not required for items that appear either in Section D of the
Planning Report or the Appeals Progress Report as such items are for noting only.

Agenda
Item No.

Planning
Application No.

Application
Address

Reason

Page 1




This page is intentionally left blank



25.

26.

27.

AGENDA ITEM No. 2

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

Meeting held on Wednesday, 10th October, 2018 at the Council Offices,
Farnborough at 7.00 pm.

Voting Members

Clir B.A. Thomas (Chairman)
Clir J.H. Marsh (Vice-Chairman)

ClIr Mrs. D.B. Bedford
Clir D.M.T. Bell
Cllr R.M. Cooper
Clir P.I.C. Crerar
Cllr Sue Dibble
Clir Jennifer Evans
Cllr Mara Makunura
Clir A.R. Newell

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Clir C.P. Grattan.
Clir P.F. Rust attended the meeting.
Non-Voting Members

Clir Barbara Hurst (Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder) (ex officio)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 15th August, 2018 were approved and signed by
the Chairman.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

0] permission be given to the following application, as set out in
Appendix “A” attached hereto, subject to the conditions, restrictions
and prohibitions (if any) mentioned therein:

* 18/00566/FULPP (lvy Road Recreational Ground, vy Road,
Aldershot);

Page 3



(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

planning permission/consent be refused in respect of the following
application as set out in Appendix “B” attached hereto for the reasons
mentioned therein:

18/00580/FULPP (Nos. 36, 40 and Land to the Rear of 26-
54 Cove Road, Farnborough);

the applications dealt with by the Head of Planning, where necessary
in consultation with the Chairman, in accordance with the Council’s
Scheme of Delegation, more particularly specified in Section “D” of the
Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1826, be noted;

the following applications be determined by the Head of Planning, in
consultation with the Chairman:

18/00506/FULPP (Nos. 1-5 Firgrove Parade, Farnborough);
18/00623/FULPP (Nos. 110-118 Victoria Road,
Farnborough);

the current position with regard to the following applications (as
amended at the meeting) be noted pending consideration at a future
meeting:

16/00981/FULPP (Aldershot Bus Station, No. 3, Station
Road, Aldershot);

18/00140/FULPP (Meudon House, Meudon Avenue,
Farnborough);

18/00225/LBCPP (Ramsden Garden Wall Memorial -
Montgomery Lines, Aldershot);

18/00367/OQUTPP (Former Police Station, Pinehurst Avenue,
Farnborough);

18/00466/FULPP (No. 117 Farnborough Road,
Farnborough);

18/00481/FULPP (Old Warehouse and Star Yard,
Aldershot);

18/00614/FULPP (Randell House, Fernhill Road,
Blackwater, Camberley);

18/00657/FULPP (Farnborough Airport, Farnborough Road,
Farnborough);

* The Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1826 in respect of these

applications was amended at the meeting

Page 4



28.

29.

30.

SITE VISIT

RESOLVED: That a site visit be undertaken in respect of the following planning
application for the reason set out:

Application No. Address Reason for Site Visit

18/00614/FULPP  Randell House, Fernhill To assist in consideration of
Road, Blackwater, Camberley the application given the
proximity to properties in

Randell Close.

REPRESENTATIONS BY THE PUBLIC

In accordance with the guidelines for public participation at meetings, the following
representations were made to the Committee and were duly considered before
decisions were reached:

Application No.  Address Representation In support of or against
the application

18/00580/FULPP 36, 40 and Land  Mr. M. Danaher In support
to the Rear of 26-
54 Cove Road,
Farnborough

18/00623/FULPP 110-118 Victoria  Mr. S. Cater In support
Road,
Farnborough

APPLICATION NO. 18/00506/FULPP - NOS. 1-5 FIRGROVE PARADE,
FARNBOROUGH

The Committee considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1826 (as
amended at the meeting) regarding the demolition of existing buildings and erection
of a new building comprising retail use at ground floor (flexible use of Use Class A1,
A2, A3, A4 and/or A5) and 19 dwellings above (eight one-bedroom and 11 two-
bedroom flats) with associated car and cycle parking, bin storage and amenity space
and installation of an electricity substation.

It was noted that the recommendation was to grant permission subject to the
completion of a satisfactory Agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990.

RESOLVED: That subject to the completion of a satisfactory Agreement under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to secure financial
contributions towards open space, transport, SPA/SAMM mitigation and to vary the
2013 planning agreement as necessary, the Head of Planning, in consultation with

Page 5



31.

32.

the Chairman, be authorised to grant planning permission subject to the conditions
and informatives set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting).

APPLICATION NO. 18/00623/FULPP - NOS. 110-118 VICTORIA ROAD,
FARNBOROUGH

The Committee considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1826 (as
amended at the meeting) regarding the demolition of five detached dwellings and
erection of 42 apartments (26 one-bedroom and 16 two-bedroom) for the elderly (60
years of age and/or partner over 55 years of age), guest apartment, communal
facilities, access, car parking and landscaping.

It was noted that the recommendation was to grant permission subject to any
amendment to condition 14 required to address any views received from Hampshire
County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority, a financial contribution towards
affordable housing as set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting) being
satisfactorily addressed and the completion of an appropriate planning obligation
under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

RESOLVED: That:

0] subject to any amendment to condition 14 required to address any
views received from Hampshire County Council as Lead Local Flood
Authority and a financial contribution towards affordable housing as
set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting), the Head of
Planning, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to grant
planning permission subject to the completion of an appropriate 106
planning obligation by 6th December, 2018 in respect of SAMM, open
space, affordable housing and highway matters as set out in the
Report (as amended at the meeting) and the revised conditions and
informatives set out in the Report (as amended at the meeting).

(i) in the event of failure to complete a satisfactory Section 106 planning
obligation by 6th December, 2018, the Head of Planning, in
consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to refuse planning
permission on the grounds that the proposal fails to make appropriate
provision for open space, affordable housing and SAMM nor mitigate
its impact in highway terms contrary to development plan policies and
the provisions of the Council’s supplementary planning document
Planning Contributions — Transport 2008.

ENFORCEMENT AND POSSIBLE UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT - NO. 107
FERNHILL ROAD, FARNBOROUGH

The Committee considered the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1827 regarding
the building of a new boundary fence over one metre in height to the front of the
property without permitted development rights. The property owners had been
invited to submit a planning application for the retention of the boundary fence. To
date, no application had been submitted.

Page 6



33.

The Committee was advised that the new fence appeared similar in height to the
previous fence, whilst the width had been reduced overall by approximately 30cm at
each end, increasing the vehicular entrances at both neighbouring properties.
Members were advised that Hampshire County Council would not object to any
request for retrospective planning permission were one to be submitted.

RESOLVED: That no further action be taken.

APPEAL PROGRESS REPORT

(1)

)

New Appeals
Address

Land affected by TPO
416A — Within Links
Way, Fox Heath and
Randolph Drive,
Farnborough

No. 65 Cove Road,
Farnborough

Appeal Decisions
Application /
Enforcement Case
No.

18/00070/CONSRV

16/00109/HOME

18/00181/FUL

Description

Against the refusal of consent for the removal of one oak
tree located in woodland at the rear of No. 28 Randolph
Drive. It was noted that this appeal was being dealt with

by means of the written procedure.

The appeal was withdrawn by the appellant on 26th

September, 2018.

Description

Against an enforcement notice requiring
removal of unauthorised uPVC windows
installed in a building converted to flats in a
Conservation Area at No. 14 Church
Circle, Farnborough.

Against an enforcement notice requiring
the owner to cease using any part of the
land for the storage and sale of motor
vehicles, and remove from the land all
vehicles other than those owned by the
residential occupiers of the land, which are
stored in connection with and ancillary to
the residential use of the land at No. 36
Mayfield Road, Farnborough.

Against the Council’s refusal of planning
permission for a two-storey rear extension,
single storey front extension and rooflights
to front at No. 107 Fernhill Road,
Farnborough.

Decision

Dismissed

Dismissed

Allowed

Page 7



RESOLVED: That the Head of Planning’s Report No. PLN1828 be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.10 pm.

CLLR B.A. THOMAS (CHAIRMAN)

Page 8



Application No.

& Date Valid:

Proposal:

Applicant:

Conditions:

Development Management Committee
10th October 2018

Appendix “A”

18/00566/FULPP 24th July 2018

Removal of existing portacabin, replace with new pavilion for
recreation/community use, extension of existing car park and
provision of lamp columns/luminaires at lvy Road Recreation
Ground Ivy Road Aldershot Hampshire

Rushmoor Borough Council

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun
before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2 The development shall be completed in the external and
surfacing materials as set out in the submitted
application

Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance
and surface water drainage.”

3 Construction or demolition work of any sort within the
area covered by the application shall only take place
between the hours of 0800-1800 on Monday to Fridays
and 0800-1300 on Saturdays. No work at all shall take
place on Sundays and Bank or Statutory Holidays.

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring
occupiers and to prevent adverse impact on traffic and
parking conditions in the vicinity.

4 Before the building is occupied details of satisfactory
provision for the storage and removal of refuse from the
premises shall be submitted and approved in writing by
the Local Authority. The approved details shall be made
available for use prior to the first occupation of the
building.

Reason - To safeguard the amenities of the area.

Page 9



Page 10

The building shall not be occupied until the existing and
additional car parking and cycle parking facilities have
been provided and/or marked out in accordance with the
approved plans. The overall parking facilities shall
thereafter be retained solely for parking purposes, and
made available to the occupiers and visitors to the
premises *

Reason - To ensure that provision for vehicle parking
clear of the highway is available for users of and visitors
to the development in the interests of highway safety.

No construction shall commence until there has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority: -

i. a desk top study carried out by a competent
person documenting all previous and existing uses of
the site and adjoining land, and potential for
contamination, with information on the environmental
setting including known geology and hydrogeology. This
report should contain a conceptual model, identifying
potential contaminant pollutant linkages.

ii. if identified as necessary; a site investigation
report documenting the extent, scale and nature of
contamination, ground conditions of the site and
incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as
appropriate by the desk top study.

iii. if identified as necessary; a detailed scheme for
remedial works and measures shall be undertaken to
avoid risk from contaminants/or gas identified by the site
investigation when the site is developed and proposals
for future maintenance and monitoring, along with
verification methodology. Such scheme to include
nomination of a competent person to oversee and
implement the works.

Where  step iii) above is implemented, following
completion of the measures identified in the approved
remediation scheme a verification report that
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation shall
be submitted for approval in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the
development permitted and in the interests of amenity
and pollution prevention.*



7

10

In the event that unforeseen ground conditions or
materials which  suggest potential or actual
contamination are revealed at any time during
implementation of the approved development it must be
reported, in writing, immediately to the Local Planning
Authority. A competent person must undertake a risk
assessment and assess the level and extent of the
problem and, where necessary, prepare a report
identifying remedial action which shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
before the measures are implemented.

Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report must
be prepared and is subject to approval in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the
development permitted and in the interests of amenity
and pollution prevention and to ensure that the
development is not put at unacceptable risk from, or
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water
pollution caused by mobilized contaminants in line with
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative
methods shall not be permitted other than with the
express written consent of the local planning authority,
which may be given for those parts of the site where it
has been demonstrated that there is no resultant
unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason - To ensure that the proposed potential piling
does not harm groundwater resources in line with
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

The building shall not be occupied until the external
lighting shown on the approved plans is installed and
made available for use.

Reason - To provide an appropriate environment for
users of the playing fields

The development hereby approved shall be undertaken
strictly in accordance with the Arboricultural Impact

Page 11



Page 12

11

12

Assessment and BS 5837 Tree Survey prepared by
Sapling Arboriculture Ltd dated August 2018 and
referenced J1079.02.

Reason - To preserve the amenity value of the retained
trees and shrubs.*

Ground floor levels within the building hereby approved
shall be no lower than 600 millimetres (mm) above the
estimated flood level.

Reason - In the interests of managing flood risk.

The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in
accordance with the following approved drawings -
D33858/RD/B, 6CT76 Lighting column, Kingfisher
Lighting data sheet Italo Street, Italo 1 luminaire and
Quarto luminaire information, existing floor plan, IVY/2
Rev A, IVY 4 and IVY /10

Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in
accordance with the permission granted



Application No.

& Date Valid:

Proposal:

Applicant:

Reasons:

Appendix “B”

18/00580/FULPP 27th July 2018

Re-development of land involving erection of 7 houses
(comprising 1 x 2 bed and 6 x 3 bed dwellings) divided
between two terraced blocks and associated works following
demolition of existing buildings at 36, 40 And Land To The
Rear Of 26 - 54 Cove Road Farnborough Hampshire

Block 88 Ltd

1 The proposed development, by reason of the ad hoc,
piecemeal and constrained nature of the application
land and the poorly-contrived design of the proposed
development would be an incongruous form of
development which would relate poorly and
unsympathetically to its surroundings. Furthermore, the
proposed development would be likely to prejudice the
possible future development of adjoining land together
with the application land in a more satisfactory and
comprehensive manner. As such, allowing the current
proposals to proceed would not be in the interests of the
proper planning of the vicinity nor make the most
efficient use of land. The proposed development is
thereby contrary to adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy
Policies CP1 and CP2, and emerging New Rushmoor
Local Plan (2014-2032) Policies DE1 and SS1.

2 It has not been demonstrated that the application land is
suitable for residential re-development having regard to
potential ground contamination. The proposals are
thereby contrary to saved Local Plan Policy ENV49 and
emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy
DE10.

3 The proposals would result in the loss of a tree worthy
of retention. The proposals also fail to provide adequate
justification for the removal of a substantial boundary
screen hedge and has failed to consider the impact of
the proposed development on a tree in the rear garden
of No.24 Cove Road near the proposed Plot 7 house.
The proposals are contrary to saved Local Plan Policies
ENV13 and ENV20, and emerging New Rushmoor
Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy NE3.

Page 13



Page 14

4

Inadequate consideration has been given to the
relationships of the proposed development with existing
immediately adjoining and nearby residential properties,
the occupiers of which would suffer a material loss of
privacy due to undue direct overlooking and loss of
amenity due to noise, disturbance and activity arising
from the use of the parking courtyards. The proposals
are thereby unacceptable and contrary to adopted
Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP2, saved Local Plan
Policy ENV17 and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan
(2014-2032) Policy DE1.

The proposed development would provide a poorly
contrived and inadequate living environment for
potential future occupiers by reason of the potential for
undue overlooking of proposed dwelling units from
existing neighbouring properties and/or the likely noise,
disturbance and cooking odours arising from the
operation of nearby commercial uses. The proposals
are thereby contrary to Rushmoor Core Strategy
Policies CP1 and CP2, saved Local Plan Policy ENV17,
and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032)
Policy DE1.

The proposed development makes no provision to
address the likely significant impact of additional
residential units on the objectives and nature
conservation interests of the Thames Basin Heaths
Special Protection Area. The proposals are thereby
contrary to the requirements of retained South East Plan
Policy NRM6, Rushmoor Core Strategy Policies CP13
and CP15, and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan
(2014-2032) Policies NE1 and NE4.

The proposal has failed to demonstrate, through
adequate ecological surveys of the application land, that
there would be no adverse impact on protected wildlife
species having regard to the requirements of adopted
Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP15 and emerging
New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) NE4.

8. The proposals, would be likely to have a severe
impact on the safety and convenience of highway users,
including users of the adjoining pedestrian pavement
due to:-

(@)  the failure to propose improvements to the means
of vehicular access to and from the site and the
proposed intensification in the use of existing sub-
standard and unsatisfactory driveways with poor
pedestrian and vehicular sight-lines;

(b)  the failure to provide adequate on-site parking to



10

meet the functional parking needs of the proposed
development and the existing continuing requirements
to provide parking for occupiers of adjoining properties
outside the application land in an area with significant
demand for very limited on-street parking with the
consequent likelihood  of significant indiscriminate
overspill parking and additional demand on already
limited on-street parking in the vicinity;

(c) inadequate on-site vehicle manoeuvring space;
and

(d)  the failure to consider the impact of the proposed
development upon refuse collection arrangements;

the proposal would therefore be contrary to adopted
Rushmoor Core Strategy Policies CP2 and CP16, saved
Local Plan Policy TR10, emerging New Rushmoor Local
Plan Policy IN2, and the Council's adopted Parking
Standards SPD (November 2017).

The proposals fail to provide details of appropriate
surface water drainage for the development as required
by adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP4 and
emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan Policy NES8.

The proposals fail to provide details of sustainable
energy performance measures as required by adopted
Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP3 and emerging New
Rushmoor Local Plan Policy DE1.

INFORMATIVE - THE FOLLOWING PLANS &
DOCUMENTS WERE CONSIDERED IN MAKING THIS
DECISION:- CDA Drawing Nos.CDA-249-010 REV A, -
011 REV.A, -012 REV.A, -015, -016 REV.A, -017
REV.A, -018 REVA, -019, and -020; Vail Williams
PLANNING, Dseign & Access Statement (July 2018);
Motion TRANSPORT STATEMENT (May 2018);
Sapling Arboriculture Ltd. ARBORCULTURAL IMPACT
ASSESSMENT (June 2018); Groundsure Review
Report (5 July 2018); and Darwin Ecology Preliminary
ECOLOGICAL REPORT (July 2018).

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM No. 3

Development Management Committee Head of Planning
7th November 2018 Report No.PLN1829

1.

11

Planning Applications

Introduction

This report considers recent planning applications submitted to the Council,
as the Local Planning Authority, for determination.

2. Sections In The Report

2.1

2.2

The report is divided into a number of sections:
Section A - FUTURE Items for Committee

Applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not
ready for consideration or are recently received applications that have been
received too early to be considered by Committee. The background papers
for all the applications are the application details contained in the Part 1
Planning Register.

Section B — For the NOTING of any Petitions
Section C - Items for DETERMINATION

These applications are on the Agenda for a decision to be made. Each item
contains a full description of the proposed development, details of the
consultations undertaken and a summary of the responses received, an
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and
concludes with a recommendation. A short presentation with slides will be
made to Committee.

Section D — Applications ALREADY DETERMINED under the Council’s
adopted scheme of Delegation

This lists planning applications that have already been determined by the
Head of Planning, and where necessary with the Chairman, under the
Scheme of Delegation that was approved by the Development Management
Committee on 17 November 2004. These applications are not for decision
and are FOR INFORMATION only.

All information, advice and recommendations contained in this report are
understood to be correct at the time of publication. Any change in
circumstances will be verbally updated at the Committee meeting. Where a
recommendation is either altered or substantially amended between preparing
the report and the Committee meeting, a separate sheet will be circulated at
the meeting to assist Members in following the modifications proposed. This
sheet will be available to members of the public.

Page 17



3. Planning Policy

3.1

3.2

Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
requires regard to be had to the provisions of the development plan in the
determination of planning applications. The development plan for Rushmoor
comprises the Rushmoor Plan Core Strategy (October 2011), the Hampshire
Minerals and Waste Plan adopted October 2013, saved policies of the
Rushmoor Local Plan Review (1996-2011), and saved Policy NRM6 of the
South East Plan. Relevant also as a material consideration in the
determination of planning applications is the emerging Draft Submission
Rushmoor Local Plan, June 2017.

Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the
relevant development plan will have been used as a background document
and the relevant policies taken into account in the preparation of the report on
each item. Where a development does not accord with the development plan
and it is proposed to recommend that planning permission be granted, the
application will be advertised as a departure and this will be highlighted in the
Committee report.

4. Human Rights

4.1

The Human Rights Act 1998 (the Act) has incorporated part of the European
Convention on Human Rights into English law. All planning applications are
assessed to make sure that the subsequent determination of the development
proposal is compatible with the Act. If there is a potential conflict, this will be
highlighted in the report on the relevant item.

5. Public Speaking

5.1

The Committee has agreed a scheme for the public to speak on cases due to
be determined at the meeting (Planning Services report PLN0327 refers).
Members of the public wishing to speak must have contacted the Meeting Co-
ordinator in Democratic Services by 5pm on the Tuesday immediately
preceding the Committee meeting. It is not possible to arrange to speak to
the Committee at the Committee meeting itself.

6. Late Representations

6.1

The Council has adopted the following procedures with respect to the receipt
of late representations on planning applications (Planning report PLN 0113
refers):

All properly made representations received before the expiry of the final
closing date for comment will be summarised in the Committee report. Where
such representations are received after the agenda has been published, the
receipt of such representations will be reported orally and the contents
summarised on the amendment sheet that is circulated at the Committee
meeting. Where the final closing date for comment falls after the date of the
Committee meeting, this will be highlighted in the report and the

Page 18



b)

d)

e)

recommendation caveated accordingly.

Representations from both applicants and others made after the expiry of the
final closing date for comment and received after the report has been
published will not be accepted unless they raise a new material consideration
which has not been taken into account in the preparation of the report or
draws attention to an error in the report.

Representations that are sent to Members should not accepted or allowed to
influence Members in the determination of any planning application unless
those representations have first been submitted to the Council in the proper
manner (but see (b) above).

Copies of individual representations will not be circulated to members but
where the requisite number of copies are provided, copies of individual
representation will be placed in Members’ pigeonholes.

All letters of representation will be made readily available in the Committee
room an hour before the Committee meeting.

7. Financial Implications

7.1

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. However, in
the event of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the
Council’'s decision. Rarely, and in certain circumstances, decisions on
planning applications may result in the Council facing an application for costs
arising from a planning appeal. Officers will aim to alert Members where this
may be likely and provide appropriate advice in such circumstances.

Keith Holland
Head of Planning

Background Papers

The individual planning application file (reference no. quoted in each case)
Rushmoor Core Strategy (2011).

Rushmoor Local Plan Review (1996-2011)[Saved policies].

Current government advice and guidance contained in circulars, ministerial
statements and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).

Any other document specifically referred to in the report.

Regional Spatial Strategy for the South East, policy NRM6: Thames Basin
Heaths Special Protection Area.

The National Planning Policy Framework.

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013).

Draft Submission Rushmoor Local Plan, June 2017.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Development Management Committee Report No. PLN1829
7th November 2018
Section A

Future items for Committee

Section A items are for INFORMATION purposes only. It comprises applications that
have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for consideration
or are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by the
Committee. The background papers for all the applications are the application details
contained in the Part 1 Planning Register.

Item | Reference Description and address

1 | 16/00981/FULPP | Demolition of existing bus station and re- development of
site with the erection of a mixed use building comprising
three ground floor commercial units with flexible use
faling within Use Classes Al, A2, A3, A4, A5 or
laundrette (sui generis); and upper floor residential use
(Use Class C3) comprising 32 market residential flats
(18 X 1-bedroom, 12 X 2- bedroom & 2 X 3-bedroom
units) with associated on- site servicing and parking areas.

Aldershot Bus Station, 3 Station Road, Aldershot,
Hampshire

The Council has agreed to an extension of time for the
determination of this application until 20 December 2018 to
allow time for proposals for improvements to the adjoining
Station forecourt to be more certain in terms of both design
and timescales, and thereby to address representations
lodged in respect of this planning application.

2 | 18/00225/LBCPP | Soft and hard landscape works within the setting of the
Ramsden Garden Wall Memorial

Ramsden Garden Wall Memorial - Montgomery Lines
Aldershot, Hampshire

Further work is in progress on amendments to this
proposal.

Page 21



3 |18/00367/OQUTPP

Outline application for the erection of up to 174 units
across 8 storeys (plus a semi-underground car park) with
associated car parking, cycle parking, open space,
landscaping,  lighting, drainage and  associated
infrastructure, engineering and service operations (all
matters reserved).

Former Police Station, Pinehurst Ave, Farnborough,
Hampshire

The consultation period has now expired, responses are
under consideration together with work on a S.106
planning obligation. The application will be presented to
the Development Management committee in due course.

4 | 18/00614/FULPP

Proposal: Demolition of all buildings at Randell House,
including the former All Saints Chapel, and erection of a
new building to accommodate specialist nursing facility
comprising 58 bedrooms and a 2-bedroom rehabilitation
apartment to provide 24-hour care for people with a range
of complex care needs (Use Class C2) with associated
access, parking, and landscaping

Randell House Fernhill Road Blackwater Camberley

The consultation period in respect of this application has
expired and a number of consultees have responded
requesting additional information from the applicants,
which the applicants’ agents are currently working on. The
application will be presented to the Development
Management Committee in due course. The Committee
has agreed to undertake a Site Visit at a date to be
determined by when the application is ready for
consideration.

5 |18/00709/FULPP

Re-development of site with 10 dwellings (comprising 6 X
2-bedroom and 4 X 3-bedroom units) with associated
vehicular access road, parking and acoustic fence
following demolition of existing buildings

Land adjacent Green Hedges, Hawley Road,
Blackwater

This application has only recently been received and
consultations and neighbour notifications are in progress.

Page 22




Petitions

Section B

Item

Reference

Description and address

There are no petitions to report.

Page 23




This page is intentionally left blank



Development Management Committee Item 6
7th November 2018 Report No.PLN1829
Section C

The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the
date of preparation, which is more than two weeks in advance of the Committee meeting.
Because of these time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comment. Any changes or necessary
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

Case Officer Sarita Jones
Application No. 18/00140/FULPP
Date Valid 19th February 2018
Expiry date of 7th November 2018

consultations

Proposal Demolition of existing structures and erection of 205 dwellings
comprising 93 one bedroom flats; 80 two bedroom flats and 32
three bedroom townhouses with associated access, parking and
landscape arrangements.

Address Meudon House Meudon Avenue Farnborough Hampshire GU14
7NB

Ward Empress

Applicant TLW Trading Properties Limited

Agent Mr Paul Manning

Recommendation GRANT subject to S.106 planning obligation

Description

This irregular shaped site of some 2.1 hectares is located to the south of Meudon Avenue, to
the west of the Council offices and 117 Farnborough Road, to the north of housing at
Sunderland Place and Jupiter Close and to the east of housing at Elles Close and Pinehurst
Avenue. It comprises a two storey office building (some 7500 square metres gross internal
area) dating from the 1980s with car parking (415 spaces) which surround the building. It has
been vacant since 2016 and was last occupied by IBM as part of a larger site including 117
Farnborough Road. Vehicular access is from Meudon Avenue. When in use together with
117 Farnborough Road there was also access and egress on Farnborough Road as a
through route was created between the sites. Whilst there is a grass verge within the public
highway on Meudon Avenue, there are no surfaced public footpaths across the site. There is
a deceleration lane on Meudon Avenue for vehicles entering the site which also acts as an
acceleration lane for vehicles leaving the Council offices and travelling west. Various trees
within site are subject to Tree Preservation Order 363, whilst trees within/adjacent to the rear
garden of 17 Jupiter Close are subject to Tree Preservation Order 422. Whilst there are
changes in level across the site, the highest points are on Meudon Avenue and in the south
east corner. Meudon Avenue, a dual carriageway with a 40 mph speed limit and a major
arterial road, forms the boundary between Farnborough town centre and the built up area of
Farnborough to the south. Meudon Avenue also links the Pinehurst roundabout to the east

Page 25



with the Sulzers roundabout to the west.

Jupiter Close and Sunderland Place, part of the Farnborough Central residential
development, are situated to the south of the site and comprise terraces of two and three
storey dwellings built in the last 10 years, They are contemporary in design with curved
roofs, and balconies on the front elevations of the three storey buildings. 8 Jupiter Close and
18 Sunderland Place have side elevations to the southern site boundary. 9-17 Sunderland
Place and 9-17 Jupiter Close back onto the southern site boundary. There is a footpath
which runs along the common site boundary to the rear of 9-17 Sunderland Place. this
provides pedestrian and cycle access to Pinehurst Avenue to the west.

Elles Close and Pinehurst Cottages Pinehurst Avenue are to the west of the site. They
comprise terraces of two storey dwellings built in the first half of the 20th century. 9
Pinehurst Cottages and 34 Elles Close are side on to the application site and 1-6 Elles Close
have frontages overlooking the development. There is a childrens’ play area to the west of
1-6 Elles Close.

Elles Hall, a car parking area, the former police station site and Westmead House are
situated to the north of Meudon Avenue. Elles Hall is a two storey building in community
use, the former police station site is cleared and hoarded and is the subject of a planning
application which will be reported to this committee in due course. Westmead House is a six
storey office building. They are located within Farnborough town centre within the defined
Civic Quarter, an area identified for major regeneration.

The Council offices the former offices of IBM at 117 Farnborough Road are to the east of the
site. The Council offices are three storey in height with car parking along the common site
boundary. The former offices of IBM are vacant and are the subject of a current application
for redevelopment which also appears on this agenda. This building also has car parking
along the common site boundary.

There is a footpath which extends from Farnborough Road in the east to Pinehurst Cottages
in the west through the Farnborough Central site.

Relevant planning history
The planning history of the site largely relates to use as offices for IBM.
The following applications in the vicinity are considered relevant.

There is a current outline application, 18/00367/OUTPP in relation to the former police
station site for the erection of up to 174 units across 8 storeys (plus a semi-underground car
park) with associated car parking, cycle parking, open space, landscaping, lighting, drainage
and associated infrastructure, engineering and service operations (all matters reserved).
This application is under consideration and will be reported to the Development Management
committee in due course

There is a current application, 18/00466/FULPP in relation to 117 Farnborough Road which
is the subject of a report on this agenda, for the extension, alteration of the existing office
building (Use Class B1) to facilitate conversion and change to residential use (Use Class C3)
to provide 113 flats (comprising 7 studio, 52 one bedroom, 52 two bedroom and 2 X three
bedroom units); retention/provision of 197 on-site parking spaces and use of existing
vehicular entrance from Farnborough Road; and landscaping.

Page 26



The current application seeks permission to demolish the existing building and ancillary
structures and the erection of 205 dwellings comprising 93 one bedroom flats; 80 two
bedroom flats and 32 three bedroom townhouses with associated access, parking and
landscape arrangements.

A substantial apartment building is proposed on the north east part of the site (the Meudon
Avenue frontage) comprising 93 one bedroom and 80 two bedroom flats. This would have a
central landscaped courtyard at fourth floor level and car parking at ground floor level. The
building would be generally rectangular in footprint (some 71 metres by 60 metres). At fourth
floor level and above this would have a "U" shape open ended to the south. The
accommodation would be provided over six floors. All flats would have access to their own
private amenity space predominantly in the form of balconies. The submitted design and
access statement gives an indication of external materials for the main apartment block. This
suggests ‘lighter grey brick’ would be used on the ground floor level and ‘darker brown brick’
above together with ‘Bronze-coloured Aluminium’ or similar for balustrades. In the event of
planning permission being granted, external materials would be the subject of conditions
requiring submission and approval prior to implementation of the relevant parts of the
scheme.

5% of the proposed flats are designed for use by wheelchair uses with the remaining 95%
being adaptable dwellings. Lifts are provided to all floors. Layouts have been designed in
line with Lifetime Homes Standards. Refuse and recycling storage facilities are to be
provided at ground floor level in four locations within the car park (2 north, 2 south). A layby
for the refuse vehicle is shown to the south of the building. On collection days the site wide
management company will wheel the bins from the two northern storage areas to the two
additional central collection points located at the south of the building.

Three terraces and one pair of semi-detached townhouses are proposed on the south and
west parts of the site. Block E comprises twelve dwellings on the west side of the site in
proximity to the site entrance from Meudon Avenue. This terrace is parallel to 1-6 Elles
Close. Block F is a pair of semi-detached houses adjacent to the open space proposed on
the west side of the site. Block G comprises five dwellings in the south west corner of the
site to the rear of 12-17 Sunderland Place. Block H comprises 13 dwellings along the main
southern boundary with Sunderland Place and Jupiter Close. The proposed houses are
three storey in height, at just under 9 metres, with balconies at second floor level on the front
elevations. The design is contemporary in terms of appearance and, like the apartment
block, are indicated as using brick and bronze coloured aluminium. The buildings would
have central flat roofed areas and incorporate pitched roofs on the front and rear elevations.
All houses would have two parking spaces and bin storage within the curtilage at the front
and cycle storage facilities in the rear gardens. Rear garden depths are in the region of 10.5
to 11 metres.

One category B tree (a Scots Pine) and a total of 59 category C or U trees (Cherry, Birch,
Lawson Cypress, Corsican Pine, Oak, Scots Pine, Hornbeam, Evergreen Oak, Sycamore,
Red Oak, Larch, Ash, Field Maple, Sweet Chestnut and Liquidamber) would be removed to
facilitate the development. A scheme of arboricultural management is proposed which
includes the pruning of trees (lift canopy or reduce crown) to facilitate the development, to
ensure adequate clearance for vehicles and people and to alleviate potential shading issues.

Three open areas of landscaped amenity space are proposed within the site. The first is on
the Meudon Avenue frontage and includes the provision of a footpath linking the site with the
Council offices to the east and the proposed crossing on Meudon Avenue to the west. The
second area is between the townhouses. Footpaths within this space link the site into Elles

Page 27



Close leading to Farnborough business park and Horizon and Solartron retail parks beyond.
The third is in the south east corner and makes provision for footpath links into the
development site at 117 Farnborough Road and Farnborough Central.

Vehicular access from Meudon Avenue remains in the same location at present existing
including the retention of the deceleration/acceleration lane arrangement. An island is to be
provided at the entrance to provide physical separation between traffic entering and leaving
the site in response to the comments made by the County Highway Authority. 371 car
parking spaces are to be provided (317 resident spaces and 54 visitor spaces) including 19
wheelchair accessible spaces. Cycle storage for the houses is proposed in sheds in rear
gardens. Cycle parking for flats is provided in four separate spaces within the ground floor of
the building. A total of 288 cycle spaces are to be provided across 24 double stacker cycle
storage units that hold 12 bikes each. Additionally 12 Sheffield stands are proposed for
visitors at the north and south west entrances to the building. An indicative layout for the
provision of a pedestrian/cycle crossing on Meudon Avenue has been provided showing how
this facility could be achieved. The site layout makes provision for improved pedestrian and
cycle links to the north, south, east and west of the site.

Refuse and recycling storage facilities are to be provided at ground floor level within the car
park. Refuse will be a managed collection system allowing for the double stacking of bins in
the refuse and recycling store where the bins will be taken out on collection days to the
collection point.

An existing electricity substation is also proposed to be relocated to the south east corner of
the site adjacent to car parking spaces.

The application is supported by a planning statement, a design and access statement, a
detailed arboricultural report, a transport assessment, a transport note, a travel plan, a
financial viability assessment, a preliminary geo-environmental risk assessment, a flood risk
assessment, an air quality assessment, an acoustics report, a daylight and sunlight
assessment report, an energy statement, a utilities statement, a habitats regulations
assessment, an extended Phase | habitat survey and a consultation statement

Consultee Responses

HCC Highways Development raise no objection to the proposal subject to conditions

Planning and legal agreement

Natural England raise no objection to the proposal

Community - Contracts raises no objection to the proposal.

Manager

Parks Development Officer raises no objection subject to a financial contribution

being secured.

Ecologist Officer provides advice on the Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area, bats and green infrastructure including
biodiversity improvements.

Scottish & Southern Energy gives advice on electricity infrastructure in the area.

Page 28



Environment Agency

Hampshire Fire & Rescue
Service

Southern Gas Network
(Formerly TRANSCO)

Environmental Health

Housing

Planning Policy

Crime Prevention Design
Advisor

South East Water

Surface Water Drainage
Consultations

TAG

Arboricultural Officer

Thames Water

does not wish to be consulted on this development.

advise that the development should be undertaken in
compliance with Approved Document B5 of the
Building Regulations and section 12 of the Hampshire
Act 1983 - Access for Fire Service. Comments are
also made in respect of access for high reach
appliances, water supplies, sprinklers and timber
framed buildings.

No views received.

raises no objection subject to conditions.

advise that the scheme is not policy compliant in that
there is no affordable housing being proposed although
it is accepted that a viability assessment has been
provided. They also query the layout for the flats to be
occupied by wheelchair users.

raises objection to the proposal on grounds of
affordable housing and absence of SPA mitigation.

gives advice on the vulnerability to crime and anti-
social behaviour, limited natural surveillance of car
parking/amenity/play space and the type of boundary
treatment to be used.

No views received.

raises no objection to the proposal subject to condition.

raises no objection to the proposal.

raises no objection to the proposal subject to
compliance with the submitted tree protection
measures

raise no objection to the proposal subject to condition
in relation to waste water infrastructure. They further
advise that it is the responsibility of a developer to
make proper provision for drainage to ground, water
courses or a suitable sewer. In respect of surface
water it is recommended that the applicant should
ensure that storm flows are attenuated or regulated
into the receiving public network through on or off site
storage. When it is proposed to connect to a combined
public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and
combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary.
Connections are not permitted for the removal of
groundwater

Page 29



Neighbours notified

In addition to posting a site notice and press advertisement, 161 individual letters of
notification were sent to Elles Close, Farnborough Road, Jupiter Close, Lion Road, Bell Court
Merlin Road, Meudon Avenue, Pinehurst Cottages Pinehurst Avenue, Pond Road and
Sunderland Place. Letters were also sent to Homes England and XLB as owners of
Farnborough Business Park.

Neighbour comments

The application is supported by a consultation statement which states that a letter of
invitation to a public drop in event held in November 2016 was sent to 594 nearby properties
surrounding the site (residents and businesses). 47 members of the public attended the
event. Members of the Farnborough Society, former County Councillor John Wall and ward
councillors were given separate presentations. 12 feedback forms, five e-mails and one
telephone call were received including comments being made on the reuse of a brownfield
site, linkages in the area, design and appearance, public spaces and landscaping, provision
of car parking/access, potential vehicular access into Elles Close, traffic management, cycle
storage/connectivity, controls during construction, the proposed pedestrian crossing and
lighting

Representations have been received from 12 Bideford Close, 23 Elles Close, 8 Jupiter
Close, 16 Stuart Close, 3, 16 and 17 Sunderland Place, 98 Totland Close and the Rushmoor
Cycle Forum objecting to the proposal on the following grounds:

- there is no way the road networks can support the additional cars associated with the
development, particularly given the new retail units;

- there is a massive parking issue associated with new developments and this will make the
situation even worse;

- as Farnborough Central is a private development there should be no direct access from the
site via Sunderland Place;

- opening up direct walking access from Meudon House straight into Sunderland Place will
only increase existing pedestrian access along with more noise and disturbance;

- the proposed pedestrian access could and will have an impact upon the fabric of the
Farnborough Central estate which will result in an increase in contributions from the
residents on Farnborough Central,

- the proposed development will degrade the appearance, size, boundary and access in
relation to Farnborough Central;

- location of affordable/social housing and potential impact on property;

- perhaps Rushmoor could work with developer to provide key worker housing for
professionals such as teachers, nurses etc

- the block H town houses will block light;

- impact on existing trees, particularly 63, 64, 65, 66 and 67 given gardens being proposed at
a depth of 10 metres;

- future maintenance issues if trees are to be retained;

- potential loss of trees;

- loss of privacy;

- loss of view;

- lack of affordable homes is ridiculous;

- for future investment of the next generation we must have affordable housing stock being
built at a rapidly expanding rate;

Page 30



- there are some very greedy people out there who are just interested in getting richer;

- local people who do not earn enough to get mortgages for these properties get forgotten
again;

- this area is crying out for real affordable housing but none get included due to the get out
clauses, this has to stop;

- the Council needs to make a stand for the people of this Borough who need assistance
getting decent housing, the proposed project will not do that;

- lack of clarity on access;

- concern about impact of increased height of building on Elles Close;

- close proximity of development to properties in Elles Close will cause the area to feel
claustrophobic;

- potential loss of valuable area of green space for residents of Elles Close;

- concern about increase in vehicular traffic given the proposed residential and commercial
properties along with the removal of both Sulzers and Pinehurst roundabouts (Officer note
these roundabouts are not being removed as part of this proposal);

- Meudon Avenue suffers from a high volume of traffic during rush hours and to replace the
roundabouts with traffic signals will increase regular waiting times in traffic for local residents
who at present are not troubled outside rush hour with the provision of roundabouts (Officer
note see previous note and the proposed traffic signals are associated with a proposed on
demand pedestrian crossing);

- concern about arrangements for the increase in site traffic and noise on narrow residential
street (Elles Close); (Officer note the only vehicular access for this site is from Meudon
Avenue)

- concern about level of car parking provision and proposed parking controls;

- Elles Close is a narrow road and the proposal is for more residential properties which will
bring an increase in vehicular traffic; (see Officer note above)

- concern about increased light and noise pollution;

- the current properties on Elles Close (Elles Quarters) were built in the early 20th century as
accommodation for serving officers, what plans are made to retain the historical character of
the properties on Elles Close;

- given proposed increase in local population, what investment will be made to public
services, particularly policing as nearest Police response team is in Aldershot;

- the proposed construction of numerous properties on Elles Close as listed as phase 2 is
opposed;

- too many dwellings proposed on the site;

- the design of the flats is ugly and not fitting for the entrance to Farnborough;

- the proposal does not create a sustainable community driven environment that promotes a
range of lifestyle and travel choices and reduces reliance on the private car;

- the proposal does not meet the five design criteria for cycle networks in standards such as
Interim Advice Note 195 published by Highways England of coherence, directness, comfort,
attractiveness and safety;

A representation has been received from 37 Lincoln Court Wallis Square in support of the
proposal on the grounds that there is a need for more housing in Farnborough

In the objection received from the Rushmoor Cycle Forum recommendations are made which
"identify a set of relatively low cost measures which would provide better cycle support within
the site; links to cycle networks in all directions; a safer crossing of Meudon Avenue; and
future expansion of the cycle networks”. Comments are also made on the residential travel
plan, Safe Routes to Schools, the Meudon Avenue access, the footpath/cycleway linking to
Elles Close, the Meudon Avenue crossing include design and a reduction in vehicle speed to
30 mph or less on Meudon Avenue; access from the site to Rushmoor Borough Council and

Page 31



its environs; access to cycle routes across the airfield and the route adjacent to Meudon
Avenue.

Policy and determining issues

The site is within the built up area of Farnborough. As such policies SS1 (The Spatial
Strategy), CP1 (Sustainable Development Principles), CP2 (Design and Heritage), CP3
(Renewable Energy and Sustainable Construction), CP4 (Surface Water Flooding), CP5
(Meeting Housing Needs and Housing Mix), CP6 (Affordable Housing), CP8 (Supporting
Economic Development), CP10 (Infrastructure Provision), CP11 (Green Infrastructure
Network), CP12 (Open Space, Sport and Recreation), CP13 (Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area), CP15 (Biodiversity), CP16 (Reducing and Managing Travel Demand) and
CP17 (Investing in Transport) of the Rushmoor Core Strategy and "saved" local plan policies
ENV5 (Green Corridors), ENV13 (Trees and Existing Landscape Features), ENV16 (General
Development and Design Criteria), ENV19-19.4 inc (New landscaping requirements), ENV22
(Access for People with Disabilities), ENV48, 49, 50, 51 and 52 (Environmental Pollution and
Noise), OR4/4.1 (Open Space for New Housing Development), TR10 (Transport and
Development), H10 and H10.1(Mobility housing) and H14 (Amenity space) would be relevant
to the consideration of any planning application as would the Council's supplementary
planning documents on Car and Cycle Parking Standards 2017, Planning Contributions -
Transport 2008, Housing Density and Design 2006 and Sustainable Design and Construction
2006. The Council's Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Avoidance and
Mitigation Strategy (AMS) as updated May 2018 and the advice contained within the National
Planning Policy Framework/Practice Guidance would also be material considerations in the
determination of any application.

The Council published the draft submission version of the Local Plan for public consultation
between Friday 9 June and Friday 21 July 2017. The Council's Planning Policy team have
processed all the representations that have been received, prepared a report which has
summarised the issues raised during the consultation and set out the Council's response.
On 2 February 2018, this report, together with all the 'duly made' representations received
during the consultation period, were submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for examination,
alongside the plan and its supporting documents.

A planning inspector was been appointed and held a public hearing in May 2018. Given this,
and recognising that they are material considerations of some weight in the assessment of
the submitted scheme, policies SS1 (Presumption in favour of sustainable development),
SS2 (Spatial Strategy), SP2 (Farnborough town centre), SP2.3 (Farnborough Civic Quarter)
SP7 (Meudon House/115-117 Pinehurst), IN1 (Infrastructure and Community Facilities), IN2
(Transport), D1 (Design in the Built Environment), DE2 (Residential Internal Space
Standards), DE3 (Residential Amenity Space Standards), DE4 (Sustainable Water Use),
DE6 (Open space, sport and recreation), DE10 (Pollution), LN1 (Housing mix), LN2
(Affordable Housing), NE1 (Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area), NE2 (Green
Infrastructure), NE3 (Trees and Landscaping), NE4 (Biodiversity) and NE8 (Sustainable
Drainage Systems) as proposed to be amended are also relevant to the current proposal

The main determining issues are considered to be the principle of development, the effect on
the character of the area, the impact on adjoining neighbours, the living environment created,
the provision of affordable housing, open space provision, nature conservation, the water
environment and sustainable construction/renewable energy.

Page 32



Commentary
The principle of development

The principle of residential development on this site has been accepted through its allocation
for residential use in the Draft Submission Local Plan and as supported by the evidence
base. Whilst technically the proposed residential development on a key employment site is
contrary to Core Strategy Policy CP8 and the application has been advertised as such, the
Planning Policy and Conservation Manager raises no objection to the proposal on the basis
that there is adequate evidence to justify residential redevelopment of this particular site.

The proposal is also subject to policies which protect amenity, highway safety and
biodiversity whilst promoting the efficient use of land, affordable housing and sustainable
development. As such there would be no objection to the principle of development, subject
to the proposal being found to be satisfactory in addressing the following matters.

The effect on the character of the area

The Farnborough Town Centre and Civic Quarter SPDs indicate that there will be a change
in scale and form in relation to new development schemes in these areas. This has been
demonstrated by the increase in height and massing of new buildings including the North
Queensmead redevelopment and the Premier Inn/Firgrove Parade sites. The Farnborough
Civic Quarter SPD envisages a more efficient use of land which includes the introduction of
taller buildings. Whilst outside the Civic Quarter, the proposed development would be seen
in the context of it and the town centre to the north. Whilst recognising that the existing office
building has a large footprint, the proposed apartment building will represent a significant
change to this part of Meudon Avenue by virtue of its height, use, massing and footprint.
However having regard to the aspirations for the Civic Quarter to make more efficient use of
a site in a sustainable location, the use of site levels and design to reduce the overall impact
of the height of the apartment building, the housing layout within Farnborough Central and
the relationship of existing flat buildings to housing within the adjoining Farnborough Central,
no objection is raised to the proposal in terms of its impact on the character of the area.

A number of trees are shown to be removed as a result of this proposal. In response to the
original consultation the Council's Arboricultural Officer requested that the applicant consider
a layout which placed the southern boundary trees in the public realm rather than in private
gardens and re-orientation of the housing. The applicant considered this and advised that
such changes to the layout would result in longer circulation and servicing routes, north
facing living spaces and gardens, an isolated terrace of development, entrances to the rear
from the access into the development, loss of car parking spaces, more trees within hard
surfaced areas and car spaces for the flats on the opposite side of the houses. The
Arboricultural Officer was re-consulted on these comments. In response he has raised no
objection subject to the provision of adequate tree protection measures including
arboricultural supervision of works within Root Protection Areas throughout demolition and
development and the adoption of a satisfactory landscape management plan of the
communal spaces by site management. Having regard to the original comments of the
Arboricultural Officer and the concerns of residents about the management of trees and
appropriate maintenance it is considered appropriate to secure a maintenance programme
for trees to be retained within the site. This can be secured by way of conditions. Subject to
this no objection is raised to the proposal in landscape terms.

Page 33



The impact on neighbours

The closest residential neighbours are located at Jupiter Close and Sunderland Place to the
south and Elles Close and Pinehurst Cottages Pinehurst Avenue to the west. The proposal
will introduce a different form, pattern, height and use of development in relation to these
properties. However having regard to the existing pattern and form of development within
Farnborough Central, the location of proposed rear gardens in proximity to the southern
boundary, the resultant separation distances retained and the orientation of development, the
proposal is considered acceptable in relation to Jupiter Close and Sunderland Place in terms
of privacy and outlook. The comments made by residents about trees in proximity to the
common boundary are noted and as set out above, an arboricultural maintenance
programme is considered appropriate.

The proposal will change the outlook of residents in Elles Close and Pinehurst Cottages
particularly those residents at 1-6 Elles Close, by virtue of proximity, pattern, height, form and
use of development. However having regard to the location of car parking and/or gardens
adjacent to the common boundary with these properties and the separation distances
retained between buildings varying between some 22.5 metres (1-6 Elles Close), some 19
metres (34 Elles Close) and some 25 metres (9 Pinehurst Cottages) no material loss of
privacy or outlook or unacceptable overshadowing is considered to result.

A new footpath link from the site between the proposed terraced buildings on the southern
boundary into Farnborough Central is proposed via Sunderland Place. This would link into
the footpath through the Farnborough Central development from Farnborough Road to
Pinehurst Cottages. Footpaths are also proposed to link the development into Elles Close
and Pinehurst Cottages. A footpath link is also proposed into the development site at 117
Farnborough Road. The proposed footpaths are likely to result in an increase in
pedestrian/cycle movements in the area, particularly having regard to the provision of the
new pedestrian crossing on Meudon Avenue, which will have an impact on both existing
residents of Sunderland Place, Elles Close and Pinehurst Cottages and future residents of
the proposed development in terms of activity and disturbance. However having regard to
the Government’s aspirations to promote alternative modes of movement to the car,
improved permeability through the site, the ability to secure an appropriate lighting strategy
for the site and the Council's wider ability to deal with any potential anti-social behaviour
issues which may arise no objection is raised to the proposed footpath links.

Meudon Avenue separates the site from the town centre and civic quarter to the north.
Given the separation distance afforded by the dual carriageway and the potential for
landscaping, the proposed development is not considered to prejudice the objectives for the
redevelopment of either the town centre or the civic quarter nor result in unacceptable
relationships with future residents of the proposed development. No objection is raised to
the proposal in this regard.

The Council Offices lie to the east. Whilst the development will have an impact on this site
by virtue of the increase in, and proximity, of built form and increased overlooking and
potential overshadowing impacts, given the non-residential character of the council offices,
the resultant impacts are not considered to result in material planning harm. No objection is
raised to the proposal in this regard.

The closest proposed building to the common boundary with 117 Farnborough Road has a
separation distance in excess of 45 metres. Given this and the location of car parking within
117 Farnborough Road, as existing and as proposed, no material harm to either office or
residential occupiers of that site would result.

Page 34



The living environment created

The proposal details a combination of one and two bedroom flats and three bedroom houses.
All of the dwellings meet the nationally prescribed space standards published by the
Department for Communities and Local Government in March 2015. The proposal is
considered to provide acceptable levels of accommodation to meet the occupational needs
of future residents. A lift is provided to the upper floors of the apartment block. All residents
would have access to amenity space in the form of either private balconies/patios/gardens
and communal landscaped amenity space. The proposal is therefore considered to create
an acceptable living environment and no objection is raised in this regard.

There will be a degree of overlooking within the scheme particularly between elements of
the apartment building. However the proposed layout is not unusual in a residential
development of this type, and future residents will be aware of this when deciding whether to
live there. No objection is raised to the proposal in this regard.

The application is supported by an acoustics report which concludes that the noise levels on
the site are primarily from road traffic noise on Meudon Avenue and some aircraft using
Farnborough Airport. Where habitable rooms with windows in the northern facade front
Meudon Avenue, enhanced glazing and acoustic passive ventilation would be provided. For
the remaining dwellings standard thermal double glazing and passive ventilation are
recommended. Environmental Health are satisfied with these proposals which may be
secured by condition.

Environmental Health have considered the submitted Preliminary Geo-Environmental Risk
Assessment. This has identified a Low to Moderate risk to future site users and controlled
waters and recommends that an intrusive site investigation be undertaken to identify and if
necessary address any potential risks identified. This may be secured by way of condition.
Subiject to this no objection is raised to the proposal in this regard.

Environmental Health have also raised a concern about potential noise nuisance arising from
stray dogs being temporarily housed at the Council offices overnight or at weekends. In this
regard the applicants have confirmed that mechanical ventilation will be provided to the
dwellings closest to the kennels and of an acoustic fence will be erected along the common
boundary between the closest residents and the Council Offices. This may be secured by
way of condition.

The application is supported by an Air Quality Assessment. Having regard to the transport
assessment which demonstrates that the proposed development will result in a reduction of
trips for vehicular movements when compared to the B1 use of the site, Environmental
Health are satisfied that the proposal will have a minimal impact on ambient air quality.

The provision of affordable housing

No affordable housing is proposed to be provided and a Financial Viability report has been
submitted in support of the proposal. The planning policy background is that the lack of
affordable housing contravenes policy CP6 of the Core Strategy which requires 35%
affordable housing, and the emerging local plan policy LN2 which require 30% affordable
housing. The Council's Housing team also advise that this scheme is not policy compliant in
that there is no provision of affordable housing of either rent or intermediate product types.
Whilst they accept that there is a viability assessment to support this, they comment that
other schemes currently are able to comply with policy, for example Queensgate and Sun

Page 35



Park.

These concerns are noted. However both policy CP6 of the Core Strategy and emerging
policy LN2 are qualified by the phrase "subject to site viability". The submitted Financial
Viability report has been independently assessed by the District Valuer. He advises, based
on an assessment of the scheme that it would not be viable if it had to provide affordable
housing on site, or to make a financial contribution towards affordable housing in lieu of on
site provision. However he did recommend a review mechanism if the housing is not
delivered in a timely manner, which may be secured by way of legal agreement. Subject to
this no objection is raised to the proposal in terms of the provision of affordable housing.

Flood risk and drainage issues

The site is within Flood Zone 1 and as such is considered to be at low risk of fluvial flooding.
The application is supported by a flood risk assessment which confirms that the use of
infiltration drainage is not feasible on this site due to low permeability soils being
encountered. The proposed strategy proposed the discharge of surface water run off to an
existing surface water sewer via a combination of hydro-brake, geo-cellular tanks, filter
drains, bio filter drains and permeable paving. Hampshire County Council (HCC) as Lead
Local Flood Authority, the Environment Agency (EA) and Thames Water have been
consulted on this proposal. The EA did not wish to be consulted on this application. HCC
raise no objection to the proposal subject to a condition which secures a detailed surface
water drainage strategy. Thames Water has identified an inability of the existing waste water
infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this application. To address this issue it
recommends the submission of a drainage strategy detailing both on and off site drainage
works. This may be secured by way of condition. Subject to the imposition of conditions as
set out above, no objection is raised to the proposal on flood risk and drainage terms.

Highway considerations

The application is supported by a transport assessment, a transport note and a travel plan
which has been considered by the County Highway Authority. The adopted parking
standards for the site are as set out in the Council's supplementary planning document Car
and Cycle Parking standards 2017. The standards indicate a requirement for 1 car parking
space per one bedroom dwelling and 2 car parking spaces for two and three bedroom
dwellings. The same quantum is required for secure cycle storage. This would equate a need
for 317 car parking spaces and cycle spaces. There will also be a requirement for 53 visitor
spaces resulting in a total requirement for the development of 370 spaces. 371 spaces are
shown to be provided. This meets the adopted parking standard and is acceptable.
Notwithstanding this it is considered appropriate that the visitors parking spaces should be
clearly identified as such which may be secured by way of condition.

The adopted cycle standard has a requirement for one cycle space for a 1 bed dwelling and
two cycle spaces for 2/3 bed dwellings. This would result in a total requirement of 317 cycle
spaces. The standard also indicates that a mix of long term and short term spaces is
acceptable, as long as each residential unit has access to a minimum of one secure space.
No specific quantum for visitor parking is set for cycles, but is recommended for
developments of this scale. As such, the proposed provision of 364 cycle spaces meets the
required standards and is seen to actively promote sustainable transport. However short
term spaces are strongly recommended to be covered, which is not currently indicated on the
north-west, south-west or south-east visitor spaces. Appropriate covered storage may be
secured by way of condition.

Page 36



The existing vehicular entrance from Meudon Avenue remains largely unchanged. However
the County Highway Authority has requested that an island at the Meudon Avenue entrance
providing physical separation of traffic entering and leaving the site, is provided. This reflects
the existing situation at the entrance to the Council Offices from Meudon Avenue. The
applicant has agreed to this and although the County Highway Authority suggests that this is
included in the legal agreement, this is a matter which may be secured by way of condition.
It is noted that a separate consent for works within the highway must first be obtained from
the highway authority.

Refuse from the townhouses is shown to be collected from the front of each property.
Communal waste storage facilities are provided within the proposed apartment building with
a layby for the refuse vehicle proposed to the south of the building. On collection days the
site wide management company will wheel the bins from the two northern storage areas to
the two central collection points located at the south of the building. A swept path analysis
for the refuse vehicles operated by Rushmoor, which are larger than standard refuse
vehicles, has been provided. Both the Council's Contracts team and the County Highway
Authority are satisfied with the proposed arrangements and no objection is raised to the
proposal in this regard.

The ground floor parking to serve the apartment building provides 15 double electric vehicle
charging points serving 2 car spaces each, equating to a total of 30 car spaces available for
electric charging with all other spaces having passive provision (wiring allowing future
provision of electric vehicle charging points). These facilities may be secured by way of
condition.

The application is supported by a transport assessment which demonstrates that the
proposed development will result in a reduction of trips for vehicular movements. It
concludes that the development would have an overall positive impact as it is anticipated that
it would reduce the total number of trips on the network than if the site were to be retained as
offices. The former use of the site as offices did not provide pedestrian/cycle linkages with
the town centre from Farnborough Central and beyond. The Farnborough Civic Quarter SPD
seeks to re-establish a network of connected streets and spaces in and around the Civic
Quarter with improved pedestrian links from the south. It explains that there are a number of
locations on Meudon Avenue which are used as informal pedestrian crossings owing to
strong desire lines. The safety benefits of introducing a pedestrian crossing are
acknowledged by the applicant and the CHA believes this facility is required due to the
change in use from office to residential occupation. The applicant has agreed both to the
principle of this crossing and to make a contribution of £105,000 (70% of the total cost)
towards its delivery. In addition the CHA has identified a need to make a minor improvement
to the pedestrian route to Tower Hill School in the form of making a contribution of £10,000 to
formalise the link from Pinehurst Avenue to Sulzers roundabout underpass. The applicant
has also agreed to this. These contributions can be secured by way of legal
agreement/condition. The applicant is in the process of completing the requisite agreement.
Subject to this no objection is raised to the proposal in this regard.

Objection has been received from the Rushmoor Cycle Forum on the basis that it fails to
meet the policy objectives relating to walking and cycling as promoted by both Hampshire
County and Rushmoor Borough Councils and Interim Advice Note 195 in that the proposal
fails to make walking and cycling journeys as attractive as using the car. In this regard the
County Highway Authority (CHA) have given detailed consideration to the pedestrian and
cycle network. The proposed crossing on Meudon Avenue is to be designed to serve both
pedestrians and cyclists. The CHA sought clarity from the applicant about how residents will
reach the Meudon Avenue crossing location from the internal site roads by cycle. In this

Page 37



regard Appendix 4 of the Transport Note shows the proposed access strategy and it has
been confirmed with the applicant that "proposed sustainable mode routes” means these
internal routes on the Proposed Access Strategy drawing will be suitable for both pedestrians
and cyclists in the form of shared use paths.

The CHA also sought clarity concerning the cycle link to the A325 Farnborough Road
through Farnborough Central leading to Pinehurst Cottages as this existing route is not
adopted highway and is not formally secured for public use in perpetuity. The CHA confirm
that records show this route has been open to the public for a number of years and it is
included as a cycle route in Rushmoor's cycle network. As such in its view it is likely that
some level of public access routes do exist and the risk of the route being closed is limited.

The CHA have given detailed consideration to the connections from the application site
boundary to existing pedestrian and cycle facilities as follows:

- a connection to the future Meudon Avenue controlled crossing;

- retaining the existing connection to the north east of the site (adjacent to the Rushmoor
Borough Council car park)

- a connection to Sunderland Place

- a number of connections to Elles Close;

- a connection to Pinehurst Passage and

- a connection through 117 Farnborough Road.

The CHA notes the connection to Meudon Avenue is within the public highway and will be
delivered when the Meudon Avenue toucan crossing is constructed. This will provide a cycle
link from the site to the town centre when complete but will not be available from first
occupation. It notes that the connections to Sunderland Place, Pinehurst Passage and
Farnborough Road require third party land and agreement. However the scheme makes
provisions for these links to be made and no restrictive boundary treatments are proposed as
a result of the current proposal.

The second connection above provides a deliverable pedestrian only connection tying into an
existing footpath and linking northwards towards Farnborough town centre. The dominant
pedestrian demand is north from the proposed development site into the town centre, and
whilst longer, there are alternative pedestrian routes for those wishing to travel south from
the application site. The CHA do not consider it appropriate to object on the basis that
delivery of the last four links as set out above has not been secured for pedestrian use.

The CHA considers at least one formal cycle connection to the site should be provided from
first occupation and recommends the provision of a cycle link to provide cycle connectivity
from first occupation. This may be secured by condition. In this regard it is noted that the
connection to Elles Close over land within the ownership of Rushmoor Borough Council
would be the most achievable. Subject to the imposition of this condition no objection is
raised to the proposal in terms of pedestrian/cycle connectivity.

Open space provision

The Local Plan seeks to ensure that adequate open space provision is made to cater for
future residents in connection with new residential developments. Policies OR4 and OR4.1
allow provision to be made on the site, or in appropriate circumstances a contribution to be
made towards upgrading facilities nearby. The policy does not set a threshold of a particular
number of dwellings or size of site above which the provision is required.

This is a circumstance where a contribution towards off-site provision by way of a planning
obligation may be appropriate. In this case the refurbishment of the public civic quarter

Page 38



(landscaping and general infrastructure improvements) within the Farnborough community
area, playground refurbishment at Elles Close and pitch refurbishments at Southwood
Playing Fields are considered to be justified. The applicant is in the process of completing
such an agreement. Subject to this the proposal is acceptable within the terms of Policy
OR4

Nature Conservation

The European Court of Justice judgement in 'People Over Wind, Peter Sweetman v Coillte
Teoranta C-323/17' established the legal principle that a full appropriate assessment (AA)
must be carried out for all planning applications involving a net gain in residential units in
areas affected by the Thames Basin Heaths SPA, and that this process cannot take into
account any proposed measures to mitigate any likely impact at the assessment stage.

The Local Planning Authority is responsible for undertaking an appropriate assessment
following the requirements of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

As a result of this judgement, the Council can no longer conclude that the assignment of, or
provision of, mitigation capacity at the point of application is sufficient to remove the
requirement for a full appropriate assessment. To this end the applicant has provided a
habitats regulations assessment in support of the application and completed the Council's
Habitats Assessment form. The appropriate assessment has been completed and concludes
that the development would lead to a likely significant effect on the integrity of the Thames
Basin Heaths Special Protection Area.

The Rushmoor Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Interim Avoidance and
Mitigation Strategy is now in place. This includes the Suitable Alternative Natural
Greenspace (SANG) at Bramshot within Hart in order to divert additional recreational
pressure away from the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBHSPA) and the
provision of a range of Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Measures to avoid
displacing visitors from one part of the TBHSPA to another and to minimize the impact of
visitors on the TBHSPA. The applicant has secured an allocation of capacity at the
Bramshot SANG and made the requisite financial contribution. The SAMM contribution is to
be secured by way of section 106 planning obligation which the applicant is in the process of
completing. Natural England have been consulted in this application and advises that
provided the scheme is in accordance with the Council's Thames Basin Heaths Avoidance
and Mitigation Strategy it raises no objection to the proposal. Subject to the completion of
the legal agreement to secure the SAMM contribution the proposal is considered to mitigate
its impact on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area and on this basis no
objection is raised to the proposal in this regard.

The Council's Ecologist has been consulted on this application and has provided comments
on the TBHSPA, bats and green infrastructure. The application is supported by an extended
Phase | Habitat Survey. This survey inspected all trees within the site from ground level and
the building for evidence of bat activity, although it is noted that it was not possible to access
the majority of the roof void of the building. However it notes that main building on the site is
about 20-30 years old. It has a pitched slate roof, the incline of which is not steep. Lead
flashing is present to the edges of the pitches with roof overhangs with metal soffits on all
aspects. This building is considered to have negligible potential for roosting bats to occur
within the building. An outline mitigation strategy is detailed in the ecology report. To ensure
that any potential presence of bats are safeguarded, it is recommended that before any part
of the building is demolished further surveys are undertaken including mitigation measures

Page 39



as required. This may be secured by way of condition. It is also noted that the grant of
planning permission does not supersede the requirements of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 and
any unauthorised works would constitute an offence. If bats or signs of bats are encountered
at any point during development then all works must stop immediately and the developer has
an obligation to contact Natural England in this regard.

In addition the report recommends enhancements which will provide a "net gain" for
biodiversity as outlined in the NPPF. The Ecologist recommends the submission of a
multifunctional green infrastructure strategy including biodiversity improvements. This may
be secured by way of condition. Subject to the above measures being in place, no objection
is raised to the proposal on nature conservation grounds.

Renewable energy and construction.

Following the Royal Assent of the Deregulation Bill 2015 (26 March 2015) the government's
current policy position is that planning permissions should not be granted requiring or subject
to conditions requiring, compliance with any technical housing standards for example the
Code for Sustainable Homes, other than for those areas where authorities have existing
policies. In Rushmoor's case this means that we can require energy performance in
accordance with Code Level 4 as set out in policy CP3 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy. The
application is supported by an energy statement advises that the development has been
designed to achieve an energy efficient scheme. The dwellings will be designed to achieve
optimum energy performance and will incorporate 100% low energy lighting, all apartments
to be served by high efficient gas fired communal heating system, all townhouses to be
served by high efficient gas fired individual heating systems, mechanical ventilation and heat
recovery in all units and the use of solar PV to offset any remaining emissions (if required).
A verification report to confirm that the energy performance targets have been met may be
secured by way of condition. Subject to this no objection is raised to the proposal in terms
of policy CP3.

Conclusion

The proposal would have an acceptable impact on the character of the area, it would create
a satisfactory living environment for future occupiers, have an acceptable impact on adjoining
non-residential and residential occupiers and meet the functional requirements of the
development. The proposal is acceptable in highway terms, it makes satisfactory provision
for affordable housing and public open space, addresses its impact on the SPA and secures
appropriate energy efficiency measures. It complies with development plan policies, the
Council's adopted Rushmoor Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Interim
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework/Planning
Practice Guidance and is recommended for approval.

Full Recommendation

Subject to the expiry of the site notice advertising a departure from the development plan (7
November 2018) and no adverse comments being received which have not been previously
addressed it is recommended that permission be GRANTED subject to the completion of an
appropriate section 106 planning obligation by 19 December 2018 in respect of SAMM, open
space, affordable housing and highway matters as set out above, and the imposition of the
following conditions and informatives:

However, in the event that a satisfactory s106 planning obligation is not completed by 19

Page 40



December 2018 the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to
REFUSE planning permission on the grounds that the proposal fails to make appropriate
provision for open space, affordable housing and SAMM nor mitigate its impact in highway
terms contrary to development plan policies and the provisions of the Council's
supplementary planning document Planning Contributions - Transport 2008.

1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of one year
from the date of this permission.

Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to reflect
the objectives of the Council's Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy as amended July 2014 and to accord with the
resolution of Rushmoor's Cabinet on 17 June 2014 in respect of Planning Report no
PLN1420.

Prior to the construction of external walls, and installation of roofs and window frames,
and notwithstanding the details submitted with the application, a schedule and/or
samples of the materials to be used in these parts of the development shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The
Development shall be completed and retained in accordance with the details so
approved.

Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance.*

Prior to the installation of any paving, footpath and roadway surfaces within the
development hereby approved, and notwithstanding the details submitted with the
application, a schedule and/or samples of the surfacing materials to be used shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be completed and retained in accordance with the details so
approved

Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance and drainage arrangements.*

Notwithstanding any details submitted with the application no works of construction of
the buildings hereby approved shall start until plans showing details of the existing
and proposed ground levels, proposed finished floor levels, levels of any paths, drives
and parking areas and the height of any retaining walls within the application site have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be completed and retained in accordance with the details so
approved.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory form of development in relation to neighbouring
property and the character of the area.*

The development shall not be occupied until details of all screen and boundary walls,
fences, hedges or other means of enclosure have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be completed and
retained in accordance with the details so approved prior to first occupation.

Reason - To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring property.*

Page 41



10

11

12

Prior to first occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, the refuse
bin storage facilities as shown on the approved plan relevant to that part of the
development to which they relate shall be provided and made available for use and
thereafter retained for their designated purpose.

Reason - To safeguard the amenities of the area.*

Construction or demolition work of any sort within the area covered by the application
shall only take place between the hours of 0800-1800 on Monday to Fridays and
0800-1300 on Saturdays. No work at all shall take place on Sundays and Bank or
Statutory Holidays.

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and to
prevent adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity.

Notwithstanding the details submitted with the application, details of a landscaping
scheme for the site, including measures for biodiversity enhancement, shall be
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the scheme
so approved implemented in full prior to the first occupation of any part of the
development or the first available planting season whichever is the sooner. Any
tree/shrub removed, dying or becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting
shall be replaced by trees/shrubs of similar size and species to those originally
required to be planted.

Reason - To ensure the development makes an adequate contribution to visual
amenity, to meet the objectives of policy CP15 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy and
having regard to policies NE2 and NE4 of the Rushmoor Local Plan Draft Submission
2017.

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the car parking facilities
shown on the approved plans associated with that part of the development they are to
serve have been completed and made ready for use by the occupiers. The parking
facilities shall be thereafter retained solely for parking purposes (to be used by the
occupiers of, and visitors to, the development). *

Reason - To ensure the provision and availability of adequate off-street parking.

No part of the development hereby approved shall be used or occupied until the
proposed means of vehicular access has been completed and made available for use

Reason - To ensure adequate means of access is available to the development

The electric charging facilities shown on the approved plans associated with that part
of the development they are to serve have been completed and made ready for use
by the occupiers prior to first occupation of that part of the development to which they
relate. The electric charging facilities shall be thereafter retained *

Reason - In the interests of sustainable development, energy efficiency and to
promote alternative modes of transport.

In the event that unforeseen ground conditions or materials which suggest potential or

actual contamination are revealed at any time during implementation of the approved
development it must be reported, in writing, immediately to the Local Planning

Page 42



13

14

15

Authority. A competent person must undertake a risk assessment and assess the
level and extent of the problem and, where necessary, prepare a report identifying
remedial action which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority before the measures are implemented.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
verification report must be prepared and is subject to approval in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the
interests of amenity and pollution prevention

Prior to the erection of any part of the new buildings hereby approved and
notwithstanding the details submitted with the application, a detailed drainage strategy
including updated plans and calculations, information on exceedance flows including
plans and calculations to demonstrate where water would flow and pond, details of
any on and/or off site drainage works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority together with details of arrangements for its maintenance.
The scheme so approved shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of
the development to which they relate and retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP4 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy and
to ensure that sufficient capacity is made available to cope with the new development
in order to avoid sewage flooding and adverse environmental impact upon the
community.

Details of measures to achieve the energy performance standards for the
development in accordance with Code Level 4 for Sustainable Homes or equivalent
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
the first occupation of each individual building to which they relate. Such details as
may be approved shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of that part
of the development to which they relate and be retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP3 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy

No works shall start on site until a construction method statement has been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which shall include:

i) programme of construction work;

i) the provision of long term facilities for contractor parking;

i) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works;

iv) methods and phasing of construction works;

V) access and egress for plant and deliveries;

Vi) protection of pedestrian routes during construction;

vii)  location of temporary site buildings, site compounds, construction
materials and plant storage areas;

viii)  controls over dust, noise and vibration during the construction period;

iX) provision for storage, collection and disposal of rubbish from the
development during the construction period

Construction shall only take place in accordance with the approved method
statement*

Page 43



16

17

18

19

Reason - In the interests of amenity and highway safety.

The development shall not be occupied until the cycle parking to serve that part of the
development to which they relate as shown on the approved plans has been provided
and made available for use, including the provision of covered cycle parking to be
used by visitors. These facilities shall thereafter be retained for their designated
purpose.

Reason - To promote alternative modes of transport

Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development details of the timetable for
the provision of communal amenity spaces within the development and a maintenance
strategy for the ongoing maintenance of these amenity spaces shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for approval. Once approved the communal amenity
spaces shall be provided in accordance with these details and thereafter
retained/maintained.

Reason - To meet the recreational needs of future residents

In the event that demolition works are not to take place concurrently as part of the
construction of the proposed development, a demolition strategy shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority for approval. Once approved demolition and associated
mitigation measures shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved strategy.

Reason - In the interests of the visual and residential amenities of the area and
highway safety

No construction works pursuant to this permission shall commence until there has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: -

I. a desk top study carried out by a competent person documenting all
previous and existing uses of the site and adjoining land, and
potential for contamination, with information on the environmental
setting including known geology and hydrogeology. This report
should contain a conceptual model, identifying potential
contaminant pollutant linkages.

il. if identified as necessary; a site investigation report documenting the
extent, scale and nature of contamination, ground conditions of the site
and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by
the desk top study.

iii. if identified as necessary; a detailed scheme for remedial works and
measures shall be undertaken to avoid risk from contaminants/or gas
identified by the site investigation when the site is developed and
proposals for future maintenance and monitoring, along with verification
methodology. Such scheme to include nomination of a competent
person to oversee and implement the works.

Where step iii) above is implemented, following completion of the measures identified
in the approved remediation scheme a verification report that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Page 44



20

21

22

23

24

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the
interests of amenity and pollution prevention.*

Before demolition of any existing buildings on the site begins a bat mitigation strategy
will shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
implemented in accordance with the strategy so approved. The mitigation plan should
include details of:-

- updated surveys and working practices to ensure no bats are harmed within
the demolition process

- replacement roosts

- monitoring of the replacement roosts

- preservation and enhancement of bat foraging and commuting habitat

Reason: To ensure that bats are protected from harm

Prior to first occupation of that part of the development to which they relate details of a
street lighting strategy including all parking areas shall be submitted to the Local
Planning Authority for approval. Once approved the lighting shall be installed and
made available for use prior to the first occupation of the development to which they
relate and thereafter retained.

Reason - in the interests of amenity

Notwithstanding any details submitted in the application no dwelling shall be occupied
until details of the location and appearance of the communal aerial/satellite/fibre
facilities to that part of the development to which they relate have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved system shall
then be installed and made operational before the relevant dwellings are occupied. *

Reason - In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until measures to protect
buildings and garden areas from traffic or other external noise including the dog
kennels within the Rushmoor Borough Council site have been implemented in
accordance with a scheme to include, for example, bunds, acoustic barriers and
double glazing which has been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the development.*

Prior to the first occupation of any part of the houses hereby approved an
arboricultural management strategy for trees within the site in perpetuity shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval to include as a minimum annual
inspections and remedial tree works as necessary to demonstrate good arboricultural
management and to ensure appropriate relationships between trees, buildings and
amenity space/gardens are retained both within and beyond the site.

Reason - In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to safeguard the
amenities of proposed and adjoining occupiers.

Page 45



25

26

27

28

29

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England), Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that
Order), no development falling within Classes A, B, C, E and G of Part 1 and Class A
of Part 2 of Schedule 2 shall be carried out without the prior permission of the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and the
character of the area, including having regard to trees of amenity value and to prevent
adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity.

Prior to the first use of the vehicular entrance hereby approved an island shall be
provided at the Meudon Avenue entrance to separate physically traffic entering and
leaving the site in accordance with details to be first submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once approved the island shall be provided in
accordance with these details and thereafter maintained and retained.

Reason - In the interests of pedestrian and cyclist safety.

Prior to the first occupation of the development the means of pedestrian and cycle
access to the site, including the layout and construction details, shall be provided in
accordance with details to be first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority and thereafter retained.

Reason - In the interests of site accessibility and to promote alternative modes of
transport

The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the
detailed Arboricultural Report prepared by WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff dated
December 2017 with all tree protection measures being in place for the duration of
construction of that part of the development to which they relate.

Reason- To safeguard amenity trees of value and in the interest of the character of
the area.

The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved drawings - 0100 rev 2, 0101 rev 2, 0102 rev 2, 0103 rev 2, 0104 rev 2, 0105
rev 1, 0220 rev 2, 0201 rev 2, 0202 rev 2, 0203 rev 2, 0204 rev 2, 0205 rev 2, 0206
rev 2, 0207 rev 2, 0300 rev 1, 0301 rev 1, 0400 rev 1, 0401 rev 1, 0500 rev 1, 0600
rev 1, 0601 rev 1, 0602 rev 1 and 0603 rev 1

Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the
permission granted

Informatives

INFORMATIVE — The Local Planning Authority’s commitment to working with the
applicants in a positive and proactive way is demonstrated by its offer of pre-
application discussion to all, and assistance in the validation and determination of
applications through the provision of clear guidance regarding necessary supporting
information or amendments both before and after submission, in line with the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Page 46



2

INFORMATIVE - REASONS FOR APPROVAL- The Council has granted permission
because the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the character of the area,
it would create a satisfactory living environment for future occupiers, have an
acceptable impact on adjoining non-residential and residential occupiers and meet the
functional requirements of the development. The proposal is acceptable in highway
terms, it makes satisfactory provision for affordable housing and public open space,
addresses its impact on the SPA and secures appropriate energy efficiency
measures. It complies with development plan policies, the Council's adopted
Rushmoor Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Interim Avoidance and
Mitigation Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework/Planning Practice
Guidance. It is therefore considered that subject to compliance with the attached
conditions, and taking into account all other material planning considerations,
including the provisions of the development plan, the proposal would be acceptable.
This also includes a consideration of whether the decision to grant permission is
compatible with the Human Rights Act 1998.

INFORMATIVE - Your attention is specifically drawn to the conditions marked *.
These condition(s) require either the submission and approval of details, information,
drawings etc.by the Local Planning Authority BEFORE WORKS START ON SITE,
BEFORE SPECIFIC ELEMENTS OF THE PROPOSAL ARE CARRIED OUT or,
require works to be carried out BEFORE COMMENCEMENT OF USE OR FIRST
OCCUPATION OF ANY BUILDING. Development started, carried out or occupied
without first meeting the requirements of these conditions is effectively development
carried out WITHOUT PLANNING PERMISSION. The Council will consider the
expediency of taking enforcement action against any such development and may refer
to any such breach of planning control when responding to local searches.
Submissions seeking to discharge conditions or requests for confirmation that
conditions have been complied with must be accompanied by the appropriate fee.

INFORMATIVE - This permission is subject to a planning obligation under Section 106
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is recommended to achieve maximum energy
efficiency and reduction of Carbon Dioxide emissions by:

a) ensuring the design and materials to be used in the construction of the building
are consistent with these aims; and

b) using renewable energy sources for the production of electricity and heat using
efficient and technologically advanced equipment.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised to follow good practice in the demolition of
the existing buildings on site including the re-use of all material arising from demolition
as part of the redevelopment wherever practicable.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised to contact the Recycling and Waste
Management section at Rushmoor Borough Council on 01252 398164 with regard to
providing bins for refuse and recycling. The bins should be:
1) provided prior to the occupation of the properties;
2) compatible with the Council's collection vehicles, colour scheme
and specifications;
3) appropriate for the number of occupants they serve;
4) fit into the development's bin storage facilities.

Page 47



10

11

12

13

14

15

INFORMATIVE - The planning permission hereby granted does not authorise the
applicant, or his agents, to construct a new/altered access to, or other work within, the
public highway. A separate consent for works within the highway must first be
obtained from the highway authority who may be contacted at the following address:-
Hampshire County Council Highways Sub Unit, M3 Motorway Compound, Hook,
Hampshire, RG27 9AA.

INFORMATIVE - Measures should be taken to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the
site during construction works being deposited on the public highway throughout the
construction period.

INFORMATIVE - No materials produced as a result of site preparation, clearance, or
development should be burnt on site. Please contact the Head of Operational
Services for advice.

INFORMATIVE - Future occupiers of the development should be made aware that
aircraft approaching and departing TAG Farnborough Airport could be seen, and
(dependent on weather conditions and ambient noise from other sources) heard from
the application site.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised that there may be a need to comply with the
requirements of the Party Wall (etc.) Act 1996 before starting works on site. The Party
Wall (etc.) Act is not enforced or administered by the Council but further information
can be found on the Planning Portal website https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-
etc-act-1996-guidance and you are able to download The party Wall Act 1996
explanatory booklet.

INFORMATIVE - It is a legal requirement to notify Thames Water of any proposed
connection to a public sewer. In many parts of its sewerage area, Thames Water
provides separate public sewers for foul water and surface water. Within these areas
a dwelling should have separate connections: a) to the public foul sewer to carry
waste from toilets, sinks and washing machines, etc, and b) to public surface water
sewer for rainwater from roofs and surface drains. Mis-connections can have serious
effects: i) If a foul sewage outlet is connected to a public surface water sewer this
may result in pollution of a watercourse. ii) If a surface water outlet is connected to a
public foul sewer, when a separate surface water system or soakaway exists, this may
cause overloading of the public foul sewer at times of heavy rain. This can lead to
sewer flooding of properties within the locality. In both instances it is an offence to
make the wrong connection. Thames Water can help identify the location of the
nearest appropriate public sewer and can be contacted on 0800 316 9800.

INFORMATIVE - In the UK all species of bats are protected under Schedule 5 of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and under Schedule 2 of the
conservation (Natural Habitats & c) Regulations 2004. The grant of planning
permission does not supersede the requirements of this legislation and any
unauthorised works would constitute an offence. If bats or signs of bats are
encountered at any point during development then all works must stop immediately
and you should contact Natural England.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised that during the demolition and construction
phases of the development measures should be employed to contain and minimise
dust emissions, to prevent their escape from the development site onto adjoining
properties. For further information, please contact the Head of Operational Services.

Page 48



16

INFORMATIVE - All wild birds and their nests are protected under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). If any trees are to be removed or buildings
demolished during the bird breeding season (March-September inclusive) they should
first be inspected by an experienced ecologist to ensure that no active nests are
present. If an active nest is discovered it should be left in situ until the young have
fledged.

Page 49



A0

arnborough Leisure Centre

O
sts
3 FARNBPRANEH

Y/
NGSM

|-
(=2
o
=)
o

™
P Ut

5| [ﬂlﬂ
L]
O

Dﬂuﬂun
[ ]

LB
my Q = 4 [9 ﬂ °ee ﬂ
1 5 9
(=]
a 1 i 9 =
0 ] | 5. L=
o) O
% Al o [ B
eof 5= =‘§ |_
N J % 1 a = “3 !
b 7o LION ROADT
a =
S 2
3 Y, JAGUAR ROAD I
o ] 7
=] ! - b | R133E 5 S
~ = = = '
o] = Ll
, i) s ||F 2 Hi s
- Sy 9 o
0 % = a1 =
1 P—
Criown Copyright. All Rjghts Resgrve 26412018
Q17 |

Page 50



38070 ¥3Ldnr

LION ROAD

LA

30vd aNYTHIANNS

ELLES CLOSE

Page 51



e T/

iSOV vV Q|
O

xxxxxxxxxx

i@

R AN

{1000 0000

N ELEHH

0on

Page 52






Page 54






+= e
g O ig
é% B EIER:
Baa > — o
2 3 £ i
o5 o 1%
58 ) o
,,,,, - < Z
i 5
o 1%
w i3
- n ]
L
s d
A =
0 o [ o
S (o
H miflli = == I: I
H = I e ] H L
0 o o o :
; ] (o |:
A i o
I i o
N ] | o —
g
it
i
!
H
,,,,,,,,,,, -
/f =
/' 3z
s
v
\LT_:J—_
(=il
= i
g ;T
E - 3
w . w
’7 £z & FE 5
2z - == H

Page 56



1090 -7 = cll XX 00 “ M3 0rr0L | p— e — e — —
pelingi -

0z o8 g ¢ Z 0

00
uopess|3 Jse3

fsepunog |
L1

Page 57

T ([ 10T
| T} [T
I i 5
T [ IIT
| T (LTI T
I

0l
UoReAS[3 yInog

Kiepunog | Kepunog
ang | oy

\\lm TTW —— |

\
\
-

I
LT T
1
T
LT 11




8€ 8€

& ) P &

-

gad449s

¥

o o [ [ o

'EEE

=gy 0
IERERE
i
= =

== =] = =

A
[ ]
| |
]
]

0D UOII08S + UOIIeAS|T YUON - PJeA LN0D Uopnajy

Page 58

810z Aserugay PONWI SUBWISBAU|
Wewaee)s ssa0ay + Ubiseq BupInosNQ |leM UOPUOT
4Bnosoquie ‘BSNOH UOPNe SPBIIIY HdI




e
uolieAs[g 19aM

|
il

e
uoners3 1se3

[ )

g

Wk
uopoes [eodAL

ok
YHON - uojjeas|3 juol4

ooe b

yinos - uogens|3 Jeay

_‘

e

wojoag ssoun) [eadAl

L

UL

g |
Ueld J00]4 PUNOID

- .
—
©

Page 59

02
UBld 100|415l

00e - b
ueld Joo|4 puodes




This page is intentionally left blank



Development Management Committee Item 7
7th November 2018 Report No.PLN1829
Section C

The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the
date of preparation, which is more than two weeks in advance of the Committee meeting.
Because of these time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comment. Any changes or necessary
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

Case Officer David Stevens
Application No. 18/00466/FULPP
Date Valid 25th June 2018
Expiry date of 7th November 2018

consultations

Proposal Erection of extensions and alterations to existing office building
(Use Class B1) to facilitate conversion and change of use to
residential use (Use Class C3) to provide 113 flats (comprising 7 X
studio, 52 X 1-bedroom, 52 X 2-bedroom and 2 X 3-bedroom units);
retention/provision of 199 on-site parking spaces and use of
existing vehicular access to Farnborough Road; and landscaping
including creation of new landscaped podium amenity courtyard

Address Pinehurst House, 117 Farnborough Road Farnborough
Ward Empress

Applicant Pinehurst Investments Ltd

Agent DRK Planning Ltd

Recommendation Grant subject to s106 Planning Obligation

A Members’ Site Visit was undertaken on Saturday 20 October 2018.
Description

Pinehurst House (117 Farnborough Road) is a large vacant office building (Use Class B1)
located in a backland position on a site adjoining the south boundary of the Council Offices
and immediately behind the building converted into flats (115 Farnborough Road, previously
known as the Hillside Convent) that fronts the west side of Farnborough Road (A325).
Vehicular access to and from Farnborough Road for Pinehurst House, in the form of on- and
off- slip-roads, is shared with The Convent building. The shared exit slip-road serving both
these sites joins the Farnborough Road slip-road exit from the Council Offices.

The application site has an irregular, roughly rectangular, shape covering approximately 0.91
hectares, within which the existing office building [of some 7,400 sgm floorspace] occupies a
footprint covering approximately 50% of the overall site. It is nearer to the south and east sides
of the site behind The Convent building. It comprises two decks of car parking with two storeys
of office space above. The parking levels are partially recessed below ground level towards

Page 61



the front (east) side of the site as the ground levels fall towards the rear of the site to the west.
Together with some surface car parking within the site to the side and rear of the building,
there are 238 existing parking spaces.

To the south, the site abuts a tree-lined public footpath, Pinehurst Passage, which leads from
Farnborough Road to Merlin Road. To the south of the path is a private parking area serving
blocks of flats at Lynx Court, Buccaneer Court and Bell Court. To the rear (west) of the site,
the site has an open boundary with car parking forming part of the Meudon House site.
Beyond this land are residential dwellings at Lion Road and Jupiter Close. To the north the site
shares a boundary with the Council Offices.

The Pinehurst House offices were formerly attached by a first-floor corridor bridge link to The
Convent building when both were in office use. At the closest point the two buildings are
separated by a facade-to-facade gap of 4.2 metres. Pinehurst House has deep overhanging
eaves which reduce the gap at this level to 3.5 metres. The gap between the facades of the
buildings is generally at least 6.6 metres for the southern side of The Convent. It is greater on
the north side, at between 28.2 and 29 metres, where there is a hard landscaped entrance
courtyard. Between Pinehurst House and The Convent is a drive serving a parking area used
by some occupiers of the Convent. Further existing parking belonging to occupiers of the
Convent adjoins the entrance courtyard of Pinehurst House. There is a further row of parking
spaces to the north side of the access road. These parking areas for The Convent do not form
part of the application site and are unaffected by the current proposal.

There are groups of mature trees along both the north and west boundaries of the site subject
to Tree Preservation Orders. Further TPO trees are located outside the application on the
other side of Pinehurst Passage and to the north and east of Lynx Court.

The application proposes the erection of extensions and alterations Pinehurst House. Primarily
this involves removal of all of the existing shallow-pitched roofs (and plant) and the addition of
up to three further storeys of accommodation under flat ‘green’ roofs. This would facilitate
conversion of the building to residential (Use Class C3) providing 113 flats. The scheme
comprises 7 studio, 52 1-bedroom, 52 2-bedroom and 2 3-bedroom units. 199 on-site parking
spaces are proposed including retention of most of the existing car parking within the building,
and most of the existing external surface parking. The development would use the existing
Farnborough Road slip-roads as the means of access. Whilst there is an existing internal road
link between the application site and the adjacent Meudon House site, this was an
arrangement created when both were occupied by IBM. The sites are now in separate
ownership and the link will be closed.

The existing mature landscaping (including TPO trees) within the site will be retained and
some new and re-modelled landscaped areas for the use of residents will be created. The
wooded area along the north boundary of the site (shared with the Council Offices) would be
cleared of some undergrowth and informal paths created. The existing parking area adjoining
the main entrance into Pinehurst House in the north-east corner would be re-graded and soft
landscaped as a combination of private and communal amenity space. An existing internal
lightwell would be enlarged and opened out to the north flank of the building by the removal of
a section of the existing building above the parking levels. This would create a new private
communal amenity area. A play area would be provided adjoining the west (rear) boundary of
the site on land previously used for surface parking. An existing track running along the south
boundary of the site parallel with Pinehurst Passage would be retained for emergency access.
Each flat within the proposed development would be provided with some form of private
amenity space in the form of balconies or roof terraces.

Page 62



The application is supported by a Design & Access Statement, Planning Statement, Transport
Statement incorporating a Framework Travel Plan, Air Quality Assessment, Arboricultural
Impact Assessment, Daylighting & Sunlighting Report, Energy & Sustainability Statement,
Flood Risk Assessment, Noise Impact Assessment, Preliminary Ecological Appraisal,
Preliminary Structural Report, Public Consultation Statement, Economic Viability Assessment;
and an Appropriate Assessment Information Form. Further supporting information on highways
issues has been provided subsequently by the applicants’ Transport Consultants to address
requests for more information from the Highway Authority (Hampshire County Council).

In amended by plans received on 18 October 2018, the proposals indicate the possibility of
creating a pedestrian and cycleway connection into the adjoining Meudon House site to the
rear to link into the pedestrian path/cycleway proposed with that scheme. This is in addition to
undertaking improvements to link the site into the existing pedestrian path/cycleway on
Farnborough Road. These amendments have arisen as a result of discussions with the
Highway Authority (Hampshire County Council) and on which a formal response is, at the time
of drafting this report, awaited. Also submitted were a revised Framework Travel Plan and an
amended Arboricultural Report.

The applicants’ Economic Viability Assessment concludes that the proposed development
cannot provide any affordable housing on viability grounds. This conclusion has been
confirmed by independent analysis by the District Valuer’s Office. The applicant is preparing a
s106 Planning Obligation to secure Special Protection Area, Transport, Travel Plan and Public
Open Space financial contributions; together with financial viability re-appraisal and overage
clauses.

The application has been with the Council for some time and, at the time of writing, is currently
subject to an agreed extension of time for determination expiring on 30 November 2018.

Relevant Planning History

The land occupied by Pinehurst House and The Convent was previously part of Farnborough
Technical College; and before that known as ‘Hillside Convent’. Planning permission was
granted in 1985 (RSH/04407) for the alteration and enlargement of the existing vehicular
entrance from the College Site, which was combined with the Farnborough Road slip-road
from the adjoining Council Offices.

Planning permission was granted in August 1988 (RSH/05603) for the refurbishment and
partial demolition of existing building [The Convent] and change of use to offices; together with
construction of new offices [Pinehurst House, originally known as the ‘Hillside Convent Offices
Annexe’] linked to existing building, provision of improved access, car parking and
landscaping. This permission was then subject to amendments, with a revised scheme
permitted in February 1989, RSH/05895. The development was implemented and built
commencing in 1990.

Planning permission was granted subject to conditions in October 1990 (RSH/0715) for the
formation of a vehicular and pedestrian access route to the adjoining site [Meudon House] and
erection of traffic barrier at the exit onto Farnborough Road. In January 1994 planning
permission was subsequently granted for the relief of Condition No.2 of planning permission
RSH/07150 and the erection of a traffic control barrier at the vehicular entrance into the
Pinehurst House offices site from the adjoining site [Meudon House], 91/00149/FUL. This
barrier still remains in place at the boundary of the current application site and Meudon House.

Planning permission was granted in December 2013 for the change of use of the existing B1

Page 63



office building [The Convent] to provide 13 two-bedroom and 1 three-bedroom flats
13/00493/COUPP. The first-floor corridor link between The Convent and Pinehurst House was
removed prior to this application in mid-2013 following the grant of an earlier planning
permission for residential conversion of The Convent building in December 2012,
12/00729/FUL.

The Council formally confirmed in July 2018 that the current proposals did not require an
Environmental Impact Assessment (18/00484/SCREEN).

A planning application submitted by London Wall Outsourcing Investments Ltd relating to the
adjoining Meudon House site is currently under consideration by the Council,
18/00140/FULPP. This application proposes demolition of existing structures and erection of
205 dwellings comprising 93 one-bedroom flats; 80 two-bedroom flats and 32 three-bedroom
townhouses with associated access [to Meudon Avenue], parking and landscape
arrangements. This application is also to reported to this Committee.

In addition, here is a current outline application, 18/00367/OUTPP in relation to the former
police station site submitted by Homes England for the erection of up to 174 units across 8
storeys (plus a semi-underground car park) with associated car parking, cycle parking, open
space, landscaping, lighting, drainage and associated infrastructure, engineering and service
operations (all matters reserved). This application is under consideration and will be reported
to the Development Management Committee in due course

Consultees Responses
Planning Policy No planning policy objections.

Community - Contracts Manage! No objections.

(Bins)

Environmental Health No objections subject to conditions and informatives.

Parks Development Officer Provides details of Public Open Space projects to which
s106 contributions are required.

Environment Agency No comment : The proposals are for development of a type

and location that the EA do not wish to be consulted upon.
EA Standing Advice should be consulted instead.

HCC Highways Development No Highways Objections : Following receipt of amended

Planning plans and a revised Framework Travel Plan on 18 October
2018 subject to:-
(1) the applicant entering into a s106 Planning Obligation to
secure (a) a Transport Contribution of £49,343.90 towards
cycle links from the site to Farnborough town centre to be
used for either provision of a cycle link adjacent to the A325
Farnborough Road, or towards an alternative cycle route via
the adjacent Meudon House development and crossing
Meudon Avenue; (b) the submission and implementation of
a full Travel Plan; (c) payment of Travel Plan approval
(£1,500.00) and monitoring fees (£15,000.00).; and (d)
provision of a surety mechanism to ensure implementation
of the Travel Plan (a bond value of £41,750.00); and

Page 64



Hampshire Fire & Rescue
Service

Housing

Natural England

Thames Water

Hampshire & I.0.W. Wildlife
Trust

Crime Prevention Design
Advisor

TAG

Scottish & Southern Energy

Southern Gas Network
(Formerly TRANSCO)

South East Water

Lead Local Flood Authorities
Aboricultural Officer

Neighbours Notified

(2) imposition of a condition to require the submission of a
Construction Traffic Management Plan.

No objections, but provides generic comments concerning
fire safety precautions and facilities.

No objections on the basis that the non-provision of
affordable housing is justified by an Economic Viability
Assessment that has been independently reviewed on
behalf of the Council. Nevertheless, it is recommended that
Economic Viability re-appraisal clauses are incorporated into
the s106 Planning Obligation in the event that completion of
the development is protracted.

No objection provided that appropriate SPA mitigation and
avoidance is secured.

No comments received during the consultation period,
thereby presumed to have no objections.

No comments received during the consultation period,
thereby presumed to have no objections.

No objections, but makes a number of recommendations for
detailed crime prevention measures to be incorporated into
the proposed development.

No objections.

No objections : Provides information and general guidance
on the position of electricity cables on and in the immediate
vicinity of the application site.

No comments received during the consultation period,
thereby presumed to have no objections.

No comments received during the consultation period,
thereby presumed to have no objections.

No objections.

No objections subject to conditions.

In addition to posting a site notice and press advertisement, 176 individual letters of notification
were sent to properties in Farnborough Road (including all of the Flats at 115 Farnborough
Road), Buccaneer Court, Bell Court, Lynx Court, Jupiter Close, Lion Road, Farnborough
College of Technology and the representatives of the applicants for planning application
18/00140/FULPP relating to Meudon House, Meudon Avenue. These written notifications have
included all properties adjoining the application site.

Page 65



Neighbour Comments

Representations have been made by the occupiers of Flat Nos.2, 3, 6, 10, 12 & 13 The
Convent; the owners of Flat Nos.1, 4, 5, 8, 9, 11 & 14 The Convent; The Convent
Management Company (also the owner of Flat No.4); and the owner/occupier of 17 Lion Road.
The following summary grounds of objection have been raised:-

(a) Despite pre-application consultation by the applicants, the concerns of residents of The
Convent have been ignored. The proposals are unreasonable. The applicant’s
suggestion that residents of The Convent broadly support the proposals are incorrect
and the applicants have not fairly represented them.

(b) Health and safety concerns for the construction period of the proposed development
and beyond: The building phase will create extensive heavy traffic that would need to
be completely isolated from the current site entrance off the A325 shared with The
Convent flats. It is suggested that this could be addressed by the creation of a new
access for the site off the A327 Meudon Avenue road to service vehicular access for
both construction traffic and, indeed, the entire scheme once completed and occupied.
[Officer Note: this suggestion would involve significant use of land in separate private
ownership and is part of the proposal. The impacts of the construction period of a
development cannot be a material consideration when determining planning
applications.]

(c) Whilst it is appreciated that the existing building is already located close the rear of The
Convent building and it is more straightforward to build from the existing building
structure, the proposed development would be significantly taller and/or bulkier than the
existing building and building roof, thereby having a significant negative impact upon the
narrow space between the proposed development and The Convent flats. This would
be as a result of:

- loss of light,

- loss of outlook,

- significant intrusion and overbearing impact,

- loss of privacy due to overlooking from windows, balconies and roof terrace areas,

- noise and disturbance, including additional traffic noise and from bin collections and
other servicing,

- air pollution etc.

Further, residents of The Convent would have no say in the moderation of the loudness
of music and voices of residents of the proposed development using their balconies,
terraces etc. Not all new residents would be reasonable in their behaviour and think of
others.

When challenged about the issue of privacy and noise by Convent residents, the
applicants dismissed their concerns as somewhat trivial.

It is suggested that more space be provided between The Convent building by setting
the proposed development further back.

(d) The fact that the Pinehurst House offices were allowed to be built so close to The
Convent building (approximately 3.5 metres at the narrowest point) is hard to believe
and the applicant’s desire to build on the existing footings only compounds this previous
bad decision : this should not be allowed to continue. The building as it currently exists

Page 66



would certainly not get planning permission to be built next to The Convent flats if it was
being proposed from scratch. The narrow gap between the buildings would also be
unacceptable if new build on fire and health and safety grounds : it is considered
unlikely that fire trucks with long extension ladders would be able to get round the back
of the building. Providing a greater building-to-building separation would ease these
concerns.

(e) There are National and local guidelines which require a minimum separation distance
between buildings of between 13 metres and 22 metres. [Officer Note: References
provided by the objectors appear to relate to documents published by other authorities;
they do not form part of Rushmoor’s Development Plan or supplementary planning
documents.]

(f) The proposed development would infringe upon Convent residents’ rights to light
[Officer Note: common law rights to light are a private property matter between
landowners which can be asserted and established by those claiming to benefit from
them; they are not a matter for consideration in the determination of a planning
application.]

(9) The proposed development would result in the loss of existing private views from flats in
The Convent [Officer Note: loss of a private view is not a matter for consideration in the
determination of a planning application.]

(h) The height of the proposed development is considered to be excessive. The proposed
5-storey height would not be in keeping with adjacent apartment blocks in the
immediate area, which are generally of 3 and 4 storey height only and are well spaced
from each other.

(i) Unacceptable size, layout and density of development. The increased size and scale of
building cannot be justified. The proposed development would completely change the
character of the area and have a negative environmental impact on this urban green
space. The proposed development is entirely out of keeping with the density found in
The Convent, where there are only fourteen apartments.

() The proposed development would have a negative heritage impact upon The Convent
building, which is thought to be a Building of Local Importance. The Convent building is
an asset to Farnborough and the western facade (the rear elevation) of The Convent
buildings deserves to be more readily visible. [Officer Note: The Convent building is not
designated as a Building of Local Importance : the respondents who have raised this
point have been advised of this.]

(K) Noise intrusion : a small amount of noise between these two buildings already echoes
and travels a long way, but would be increased as a result of the proposed
development. When in office use, the offices were empty at weekends and public
holidays, therefore quiet;

() With a greater density of occupants there would be many more smokers than used to
stand around the exit points when the offices were in use.

(m)When The Convent flats were marketed prospective purchasers were made aware that
Pinehurst House was intended to be redeveloped. This appeared to offer the prospect
of an improvement to the building's current dire architecture and the prospect of the
inevitable disturbance was accepted. However owners/occupiers of The Convent flats

Page 67



did not contemplate being presented with the development currently being proposed.
[Officer Note: This is not a matter that can be taken into account in the determination of
this application].

(n) Increased traffic levels : The proposed development would cause significant traffic
issues around the slip-road junction with Farnborough Road The slip-road is shared
with The Convent residents and the adjacent Council offices. The number of cars per
household has increased in modern times, as have the range and number of home
deliveries households receive. Vehicular activity associated with the proposed
development would be 24/7, not just weekday working hours. The proposed
development is considered likely to cause excessive use of the slip-road and create a
significant bottleneck close to the already busy Pinehurst roundabout on the A325.
Expecting the existing slip-road access to cope with the traffic associated with the
proposed development is unrealistic and unsafe.

(o) Inadequate parking provision for the needs of residents and their visitors. It is proposed
that 197 on-site parking spaces be provided, but with 113 flats there will be more than
200 cars coming and going as most modern households have more than 1 vehicle.
There has been no mention of visitor parking, which also needs to be addressed. There
are no side roads for visitors to utilise in this vicinity, therefore any spare space on site
will be used for parking, including The Convent parking area.

(p) There is no clarity with the planning application about the demarcation between the
existing Convent parking and the proposed soft landscaping of the proposed
development. [Officer Note: the submitted plans clearly show that all the parking
provided for The Convent is separate from the parking and landscaping of the current
proposed development.]

(q) There is an existing oversupply of apartments in the area : would the community not be
better served by the site providing a smaller number of good family 3- or 4-bedroom
executive homes instead of more apartments? The footprint of the development should
be reduced and a scheme produced for a smaller number of good family homes. It is
believed that the Council’s quota for providing 1- or 2-bedroom apartments has already
been exceeded [Officer Note: there is no such quota. The Council must consider the
proposals as submitted on their planning merits and cannot prescribe preferred
alternative proposals as part of the development management process. The content
and type of development proposed is a matter for the developer who must address the
relevant Planning Policies. ]

() The strength of the existing foundations of Pinehurst House to support the additional
storeys is questioned [Officer Note: this is a matter for the Building Regulations and not
a matter for consideration in the determination of a planning application. The applicants
have, for information, submitted a Structural Engineers’ Report with the application that
concludes that the existing structure of Pinehurst House has more than sufficient
capacity to support the load of the additional storeys without modification].

Whilst raising specific objections as summarised above, a number of correspondents indicate
that they are not opposed to the principle of the proposed residential re-development of the
site. It is considered that the impact for Farnborough is potentially positive for retail trade, job
opportunities and regeneration. However, it is considered equally important to ensure that
negative impacts in the direct locality of the building are appropriately taken into account and
minimised. It is strongly believed that the present proposal should be reviewed and other forms

Page 68



of housing development for the site explored instead.
The occupier of No.17 Lion Road raises objection on the following specific additional grounds:-

(s) The proposed development does not appear to provide any increase in the Rushmoor
affordable house stock as per planning policy.

(t) The submitted Noise Impact Assessment states that the proposed site has industrial
premises at its western boundary and fails to identify that there are residential
properties west of the proposed development.

(u) The submitted Daylight and Sunlight Report needs to be checked for correctness. It has
two blocks of residential properties to the west of the site both tagged 9-17 Jupiter
Close on numerous drawings. However Lion Road has been omitted from the drawings.

The Farnborough Society comment that, although the site was originally occupied as offices
with the access designed to cope with the traffic associated with a large number of staff based
at the site, the access route should nevertheless be re-examined to ensure that it will be
sufficient to meet the demands of the proposed 113 residential units.

All three Empress Ward Councillors (Cllrs Lyon, Smith and Munro) have, whilst emphasising
that they are not opposed to the proposed flats per se, registered objection for the same
principal grounds as set out in the preceding summary. They requested that the Committee
undertake a Site Visit [which was undertaken on Saturday 20 October 2018] and that they be
allowed to address Members at the Committee meeting when the application is to be
considered. The following additional points are made:-

(a) The proposed development would have an adverse impact upon the street scene —
not just on Farnborough Road, but also on Kestrel Road and other roads in the
Farnborough Central Development;

(b) No account has been taken of the narrow corridor between the two developments
(The Convent and the proposed development) both from a noise and fire safety
perspectives. On this latter point, the fire safety of potentially evacuating so many
residents through such a small space should be taken into account [Officer Note: this
is a matter for the Building Regulations and not a matter on which the application can
be determined, however the gap between the two buildings would not be the only
route to be used for the evacuation of the property in the event of a fire : there would
be multiple evacuation points from a development of this scale.]

(c) The proposed development would encroach on green space which is well known to be
the habitat for a number of birds and other wildlife in an area already short of such
spaces;

(d) The economic justification for not providing affordable housing in the scheme
submitted by the applicants is incoherent — it is suggested that the developer has
overpaid for the site and is looking for the Council to absorb this margin through
accepting no affordable housing;

(e) The applicant makes unrealistically low assumptions on car ownership and usage on
the site. They also ignore the rising level of traffic associated with increasing home
deliveries in the modern world, visits by visitors, workmen etc.

Page 69



Policy and Determining Issues

The site is within the built up area of Farnborough and part of a Key Employment Site also
including the Council Offices and Meudon House. Farnborough Road close to the application
site is a ‘Green Corridor’.

The site is not located within or immediately adjoining a Conservation Area, nor a statutorily
Listed Building, nor a non-statutory heritage asset such as a Building of Local Importance.

Adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy (October 2011) Policies SS1 (Spatial Strategy), CP1
(Sustainable Development Principles), CP2 (Design and Heritage), CP3 (Renewable Energy
and Sustainable Construction), CP4 (Surface Water Flooding), CP5 (Meeting Housing Needs
and Housing Mix), CP6 (Affordable Housing), CP8 (Supporting Economic Development), CP10
(Infrastructure Provision), CP12 (Open Space, Sport and Recreation), CP13 (Thames Basin
Heaths Special Protection Area), CP15 (Biodiversity), CP16 (Reducing and Managing Travel
Demand), and CP17 (Investing in Transport) are relevant to the consideration of the current
proposals.

Whilst the Core Strategy has policies that replace specific Local Plan policies, a number of
Local Plan policies continue to be 'saved' and therefore remain in use for the time being until
they are replaced by future tranches of Local Development Framework documents. In this
respect, Local Plan Policies ENV5 (green corridors), ENV13 (trees), ENV16 (general
development criteria), ENV19 (landscaping), ENV41-44 (surface water run-off), OR4 & OR4.1
(public open space), TR10 (general highways criteria), and H14 (amenity space) are 'saved'
policies that remain relevant to the consideration of this application.

The New Rushmoor Local Plan 2014 to 2032 contains emerging policies that are relevant to
the consideration of the current application and has now reached an advanced stage of
preparation. Proposed main modifications to the Plan are, at the time of writing this report,
subject to public consultation following receipt of the Inspector’s provisional findings after the
Local Plan Inquiry held in May 2018. It is currently anticipated that the New Local Plan will be
formally adopted in early 2019. However, where there is now no reason for any changes to be
made to the policies and content of the Plan because no modifications are being
recommended and/or there is no difference in the policy approach currently taken with the
Core Strategy, the new Plan can be considered to carry some weight in the consideration of
planning applications.

The Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) on 'Housing Density and
Design' (May 2006), 'Planning Contributions - Transport’' 2008, new 'Car and Cycle Parking
Standards' (adopted November 2017), the Rushmoor Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area Interim Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy as updated November 2017; and
the advice contained in the new National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) and Planning
Practice Guidance are also relevant.

The main determining issues are considered to be:-

1. Principle of development;

2. The visual impact on the character and appearance of the area, including impact on
trees;

3. The impact on neighbours;

4, The living environment created,;

5. Impact on wildlife;

Page 70



Highway considerations;

Affordable housing;

Drainage issues;

Renewable energy and sustainability;
Access for people with disabilities; and
Public open space.

RPERONO®

= O

Commentary

1. Principle - The proposals seek to re-use a vacant commercial site. Government
legislation seeks to encourage and enable conversions of vacant offices into residential use.
Whilst the current proposals are not ‘permitted development’ in this respect because the
proposals involve the significant extension of the existing building, legislation clearly
indicates the general acceptability of proposals for the residential conversion of vacant
offices. The existing office use of the site has not been extinguished by the vacancy of the
building; and planning permission would not be required for resumption of office use and
occupation of the site; or, indeed, for residential conversion. These options remain as a
significant ‘fallback’ position.

The proposed development is seeking to make more efficient use of previously developed
land, which is a clear objective of the NPPF and local planning policy.

The application site is outside, but adjoining, the defined Farnborough Town Centre area.
The site currently forms part of the Meudon Avenue Key Employment Site allocation, as
designated under adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy SS1 (Spatial Strategy). However,
whilst Core Strategy Policy CP8 (Supporting Economic Development) seeks to resist the loss
of employment land and to promote development which would support and enhance the
function and operation of Rushmoor’s Key Employment Sites, the emerging draft Rushmoor
Local Plan de-allocates the Meudon Avenue site for employment use. The draft Rushmoor
Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for examination in February 2018 and
forms a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. The principle of
residential development of this site is therefore considered acceptable. The Planning Policy
Manager raises no objections to the proposals.

On the basis that the proposed development relies upon emerging policy the application has
been advertised as a departure from the current Development Plan on a precautionary basis.
The notification period in this respect expires on 7 November 2018.

Objections have been raised on the basis that the proposed density and height of
development exceeds that of existing residential development in the vicinity. However, whilst
some nearby residential development is in the form of two-storey houses, there are blocks of
flats of similar height. The fact that the proposed development would be a larger single block
and be of a density that is higher than the adjoining flats at The Convent is not considered to
result in a harmful impact upon the character and appearance of the area overall. There are
no policies in the Development Plan which prescribe the density or, indeed, height of
development.

It is considered that the density and height of the proposed development is acceptable in
principle and consistent with Government objectives and the Council’'s adopted and
emerging planning policies.

2. Visual Impact — Although, as noted by objectors, the application site is visible from a

Page 71



number of publicly accessible places on adjoining and nearby land, including from the
Farnborough Central Development, it does not command a prominent position within the
townscape. The site is obscured by the Convent building to the east and belts of mature
trees to the north, west and south. Although the proposed development would result in a
materially taller building, it would continue to benefit effectively from the same mature
boundary screening. There would be minimal and acceptable loss of existing trees from the
site. The proposed development is designed to make use of the existing building in modified
and extended form; and to reflect the prevailing modern design and external appearance of
adjoining and nearby residential buildings of comparable mass and height. The proposed
development gives the opportunity to provide re-invigorated and new landscape planting to
the site. It is considered that the overall visual impact of the development would be
sympathetic and would not harm the established visual character and appearance of the
area.

3. Impact on neighbours - The existing lawful use of the application site has the potential to
have a significant impact on adjoining and nearby neighbours. This is most notably the case
in respect of The Convent. The flat conversion of The Convent took place approximately five
years ago and consequently, whilst aware of the likelihood of future use or development,
residents there have not experienced Pinehurst House offices in full use. The lawful
commercial office use could be resumed, and the consequences of this in terms of noise
disturbance and activity, including car parking, traffic generation, lighting of external areas,
and operation of plant etc. are a material consideration in the determination of the current
application.

The significant degree of separation, intervening screening, and the design and orientation of
the proposed flats from neighbouring residential development to the south and west (Lynx
Court, Buccaneer Court and Bell Court, Lion Road and Jupiter Close) provides acceptable
relationships with all of these neighbours. It is also considered that there would not be any
material and harmful planning impact upon the Council Offices.

A Members’ Site Visit was undertaken in this case partly in the context of representations
from owners and residents of The Convent, who are the source of all but one of the
objections received. The Site Visit included inspections of Flat Nos.2, 3, 4, 10, 12 & 13 The
Convent, which represented examples of flats in the north and south halves of The Convent
building on different storeys. At the core of the objections raised by owners and occupiers of
The Convent is that they neither envisaged that proposals for Pinehurst House would involve
the addition of further storeys of accommodation; nor that the existing building-to-building
separation distance would be retained. They believe that the developer has paid inadequate
regard to the impact on their properties, and that the proposed development would have an
unacceptable impact upon them, primarily in terms of loss of day/sunlight, outlook and
privacy.

The Council must consider whether or not the impact of the proposed development as
submitted is materially harmful in planning terms to the extent that refusal of planning
permission would be justified. Since the rear elevation of The Convent faces west it does not
receive direct sunlight until after midday and receives most direct sunlight in the late
afternoon and evening. In this respect it is important to take into account the existing
relationship with Pinehurst House in terms of day/sunlighting, outlook and privacy. It is
notable that the majority of windows in the rear elevation of The Convent are fitted with
louvred Venetian blinds reflecting the proximity to the application building. The impact of the
proposed development upon neighbours at The Convent (whether considered to be positive,
neutral or negative) would be more significant in respect of some flats than for others.

Page 72



The southern half of the rear elevation of The Convent mainly has a facade-to-facade
separation of 6.7 or 7.6 metres at ground floor level. At the south end of The Convent there is
a further element of the building that is set back 13 metres from the nearest ground floor
facade of Pinehurst House. The central entrance and stairwell core of The Convent has a
separation of 4 metres from Pinehurst House [which corresponds to the position of the
former bridge link between the buildings] although this part of The Convent does not contain
habitable rooms. The northern half of The Convent building is further separated from the
facade of Pinehurst House. The minimum separation is approximately 28 metres between
building facades. The rear elevation of the Convent building contains a significant number of
windows to habitable rooms looking directly or obliquely towards Pinehurst House. Although
objections have suggested that Pinehurst House should never have been built so close to
the rear of The Convent, Pinehurst House was designed and built as an extension to that
building when it was in office use. The building to building separation was considered
acceptable when the conversion of The Convent was determined. The potential occupiers
were aware of the existence and proximity of Pinehurst House and the likelihood of future
development or use.

The proposal retains the existing building facades at ground level and the stepped-back first
floor adjoining the south half of The Convent building, but proposes the removal of the
substantial overhanging roof eaves that partially shade the gap between the buildings at
these levels. The proposed additional storeys of accommodation feature a progressive and
significant stepping back; and flat roofs designed to avoid impact on daylighting and aspect.
The Daylighting & Sunlighting Report submitted with the application states that, in the
developed condition, all windows in the rear elevation of The Convent building would retain
adequate daylight and sunlighting. The elevation of the proposed development facing the
rear elevation of the south half of The Convent is shown to be finished in red brick at ground
floor level and more light-reflective finishing materials for the storeys above, comprising buff
bricks and profiled composite and aluminium cladding panels.

Consideration has been given to privacy issues in the design of the east elevation of the
proposed development. This elevation features fewer and smaller windows, comprising a
mixture of obscurely-glazed and oriel designs to limit overlooking, and no balconies or
terraces. Privacy screening would also be provided to the ends of the nearest amenity
terrace balustrades facing north and south in the flank elevations of the proposed
development with the same aim. Those areas of roof that are not to be amenity terraces
would be ‘green’ roofs and not accessible for amenity purposes by residents. Planning
conditions can be used to ensure that these privacy features are provided and retained
thereafter.

The individual relationships between the proposed development and flats at The Convent are
considered in the following paragraphs:-

South half of The Convent (Flat Nos.4, 13, 6, 14, 9, 10 and 12).

Flat No.4 is a ground-floor 2-bedroom flat. It has three pairs of windows on the rear elevation
serving the two bedrooms and the lounge. The lounge also receives light from the front of the
building via the kitchen. The rear fagade of this flat is 7.6 metres from the existing east
elevation of Pinehurst house with a block paved vehicle driveway and some parking spaces
to the side between. The existing eaves and roof edge of Pinehurst house project a further
0.7 metres into the gap between the buildings with the roof edge approximately half way up
the windows.

Page 73



As a result of the proposed development the existing separation from the ground- and first-
floor levels of Pinehurst House would be unchanged, but the existing projecting roof eaves
would be removed. The continuous panoramic glazing of the existing building would be
replaced in this elevation by small obscurely glazed and/or directional windows. The most
direct relationships would be with proposed flats Nos.007 and 108 at ground and first floor
levels respectively. Although three additional storeys of building are proposed above these
existing storeys, the extent of the set-back of the new storeys would be such that only the
top halves of the elevations of the second- and third-floors (at this point containing flat
Nos.205 and 303) would be visible to a person standing close to the windows of Flat No.4, at
separation distances of 17 and 22 metres respectively. Obscurely-glazed privacy screens
would be provided to the sides of the side facing balconies of flat Nos.303 and 304. The fifth-
floor (at this point containing Flat No.401) would be set so far to the west that it would not be
visible above the storey below from the windows of Flat No.4. Persons standing on the
terrace area of Flat No.401 would not be able to see the windows of Flat No.4 due to the
intervening parapets of the storeys below. It is considered that there would be no material
and undue overlooking of windows from the new development; and no material diminution in
the extent of day/sunlighting as a result of the increased height of building. It is considered
that the impacts of the proposed development upon this neighbouring flat would be
acceptable in planning terms.

Flat No.13 is a ground-floor 2-bedroom flat which has its entrance door at the base of the
stair turret at the southern end of the building. It has two pairs of windows on the rear
elevation serving two bedrooms that are separated 6.7 metres from the ground floor east
elevation of Pinehurst House, beside those of Flat No.4. This flat has a polygonal lounge
area looking out over the gardens to the front of building which is unaffected by Pinehurst
House.

The impact of the proposed development upon this ground-floor flat would be similar to that
on Flat No.4. However, because Flat 13 is closer to the south-east corner of Pinehurst House
and has the east facing lounge area, it is less affected by the Pinehurst building. The most
direct relationships would be with proposed Flat Nos.008 and 108 in this respect at ground-
and first-floor levels respectively, where the directional bedroom windows of Flat Nos.008
(and 007 beyond) and No0s.108 (and 107 beyond) would provide only limited oblique views
towards the windows of Flat No.13. Although three additional storeys of building are
proposed above the existing storeys, as with Flat 4, the extent of the set-back of the new
storeys is such that only the top halves of the elevations of the second- and third-floors (at
this point most directly containing Flat Nos.206 and 304) would be visible to a person
standing at the windows of Flat No.13 at separation distances of 16 and 22 metres
respectively. Obscurely-glazed privacy screens are to be provided to the sides of the
sideways facing balconies of Flat Nos.206 and 304. The fifth-floor (at this point containing
Flat No.401) is set so far back that it is not considered that it would be visible above the
storey below from the windows of Flat No.13 and, as with Flat No.4, persons standing on the
terrace area of Flat No.401 would be unable to see the windows of Flat No.13. It is
considered that there would be no material and undue overlooking of the bedroom windows
from the new development; and no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a
result of the increased height of the building. It is considered that the impacts of the proposed
development upon this neighbouring flat would be acceptable in planning terms.

Flat No.6 is a first-floor 2-bedroom flat that has a similar layout and arrangement to Flat No.4
below and Flat No.9 above, with the main difference from these two adjoining flats being that
the three pairs of rear-facing windows are slightly longer. These windows are situated 10
metres from the first-floor east elevation of Pinehurst House, with the eaves of the main roof
projecting 0.7 metres closer to the windows of Flat No.6 and with the roof edge approximately

Page 74



level with the mid-point of the windows. The rear windows serving the bedrooms and lounge
of this flat overlook the main pitched roof of Pinehurst House which recedes to a distance of
approximately 15 metres.

The windows of this flat are located above the retained ground-floor facade of Pinehurst
House which would contain Flat No.007. This flat is also approximately a half-storey above
the first-floor level of Pinehurst House which would contain bedrooms of Flat Nos.107 and
108. Obscurely-glazed and/or directional windows in these units would ensure that there
would be no undue overlooking. A person standing directly at the windows of Flat No.6 would
be 15 metres from the facade of Flat No.205 at second-floor level where the only facing
window would be obscurely-glazed. The top half of the new third-floor level above (here
containing Flat No.303 with facing lounge, kitchen and bedroom windows) would be 21
metres distant. The sideways-facing balcony of Flat No.303 would have an obscurely glazed
privacy screen to the side. Only the upper part of the fifth-floor (containing Flat No.401) would
be visible from the windows of Flat No.6 and a person standing on the terrace outside Flat
No.401 would be some 26 metres distant, and the fifth-floor facade 28 metres distant. It is
considered that there would be no material and undue overlooking of windows from the new
development; and no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a result of the
increased height of building. It is considered that the impacts of the proposed development
upon this neighbouring flat would be acceptable in planning terms.

Flat No.14 is a first-floor 2-bedroom flat above Flat No.13 and has a similar layout including a
feature lounge area facing the front of The Convent building. The bedroom windows of this
unit are affected by proximity to Pinehurst House. At this level the separation distance from
Pinehurst House is approximately 9 metres with, like Flat No.6, the main roof edge of
Pinehurst House approximately level with the mid-point of the flat windows. The direct view
from these windows is largely of the roof slope of Pinehurst House.

It is considered that the impact of the proposed development upon this adjoining first-floor flat
would be an amalgam of the impacts arising for Flat Nos.13 below and No.6 adjoining. As
with Flat No.13, it is the bedrooms only of Flat No.14 that would be affected, since the lounge
of this unit is located to the front of The Convent building. Because this flat is closer to the
south-east corner of Pinehurst House, it is less affected in terms of day/sunlighting. Flat
No0s.008 and 108 at ground- and first-floor levels respectively would both be at lower level
such that the directional bedroom windows of Flat Nos.008 (and 007 beyond) and Nos.108
(and 107 beyond) would provide limited upward oblique views towards the windows of Flat
No.14. A person standing at the bedroom windows of Flat No.14 would be 15 metres from
the facade of Flat No.206 at second-floor level, where the only facing window would be
obscurely-glazed and a further window would be a directional oriel window. The top half of
the new third-floor level (here containing Flat No.304 with lounge window) would be 20
metres distant. The side-facing balcony of Flat N0.304 would have an obscurely-glazed
privacy screen. Only the top half of the fifth-floor (containing Flat No.401) would be visible
from the windows of Flat No.14 and a person standing on the terrace outside Flat No.401
would be 26 metres distant and the fifth-floor facade 28 metres distant. It is considered that
there would be no material and undue overlooking of the bedroom windows from the new
development; and no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a result of the
increased height of building. It is considered that the impacts of the proposed development
upon this neighbouring flat would be acceptable in planning terms.

Flat No.9 is a second-floor 2-bedroom flat with a similar layout to the flats below: Flat Nos.6

and 4. It has rear windows identical to Flat No.4 also serving the bedrooms and the lounge,
although there is no kitchen window providing extra light to the lounge from the front of the

Page 75



building. The top of the existing pitched roof of Pinehurst House is approximately level with
the mid-point of the rear windows of this flat at a separation of 15 metres.

It is considered that this neighbouring flat would not be materially affected by the proposals in
respect of the ground- and first-floor levels, since these are below. The proposed new
second-floor level (here containing Flat No.205 with a single obscurely-glazed window in the
facing elevation) would also be almost a storey lower and separated by 15 metres. The side-
facing terrace of Flat No.205 and balcony of Flat No.303 above would have obscurely-glazed
privacy screens to the side. A person standing directly behind the windows of Flat No.9 would
be slightly lower than, and separated 20 metres from, the facade of Flat N0.303 at proposed
third-floor level, which would contain facing lounge, kitchen and bedroom windows. A person
standing at the windows of Flat No.9 would see the top-half of the fifth-storey containing Flat
No.401 above the parapet roof edge of the storey below at a separation distance of 27
metres. A person standing on the terrace outside Flat No.401 would be some 24 metres
distant. It is considered that there would be no material and undue overlooking of windows
from the new development; and no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a
result of the increased height of building. It is considered that the impacts of the proposed
development upon this neighbouring flat would be acceptable in planning terms.

Flat No.12 is a third-floor 2-bedroom flat. It has three dormer windows in the rear roof slope
of The Convent serving the bedrooms and lounge. This flat is at a noticeably higher elevation
than the roof of Pinehurst House and looks down on the large expanse of the roof and roof
plant of this adjoining building.

It is considered that the windows of this neighbouring flat would be materially unaffected by
the proposed development at ground-, first- and second-floor levels, since these storeys are
considerably lower. The proposed third-floor (most directly containing Flat No0.303 with facing
lounge, kitchen and bedroom windows and a privacy-screened sideways-facing balcony)
would be 22 metres distant and still lower down. The proposed fifth-storey level containing
Flat No.401 is at an equivalent level and separated some 28 metres facade to facade, with a
person standing on the terrace area outside this unit being 25 metres distant. It is considered
that there would be no material and undue overlooking of windows from the new
development; and no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a result of the
increased height of building. It is considered that the impacts of the proposed development
upon this neighbouring flat would be acceptable in planning terms.

Flat No.10 is a two-storey 2-bedroom duplex flat located over the second- and third-floors of
The Convent building above Flat No.14. This flat has two pairs of long windows which are
shared between the two floors of the flat. At second-floor the windows serve the bedrooms,
whilst all four windows serve a lounge/kitchen living space at third-floor level above. The cill
of the bedroom windows is approximately level with the top of the adjoining pitched section
of the main roof of Pinehurst House at a distance of 14 metres, with the remainder of the roof
slope in view. The lounge windows are at a higher level that the roof of Pinehurst House
and, like the windows of Flat No.12, look down upon the expanse of the roof of the adjoining
building. This flat also has a study room at second-floor level at the top of the stair turret
above Flat No.14.

It is considered that the bedroom windows of this neighbouring flat would be materially
unaffected by the proposed development at ground- and first-floor levels, since these storeys
of Pinehurst House are considerably lower. Since the lounge windows of Flat No.10 are a
storey above, it is considered that these windows are also unaffected by the proposed
second-floor level, most directly containing Flat No.206 here. A person standing at the
bedroom windows of Flat No.10 would be separated 14.5 metres from, and approximately a

Page 76



half-storey height above, the facade of Flat No.206, which would contain an obscurely-glazed
window and a directional oriel window. The opposite fagcade of Flat N0.304 on the storey
above (containing a lounge window) would be slightly higher than the bedroom windows of
Flat No.10, with a separation distance of 19 metres. The safety rail and parapet roof edge of
the storey below would also be likely to provide some partial screening between the two flats.
The side-facing balconies of Flat Nos.205 and 304 above would have obscurely-glazed
privacy screens to the side. A person standing in the bedroom windows of Flat No.10 would
be able to see the top half of the fifth-floor storey containing Flat No.401, but at a separation
distance of 26 metres. A person standing on the terrace of Flat No.401 would be no less than
23 metres from the bedroom windows of Flat No.10.

The lounge windows of Flat No.10 would be at a higher level than Flat No.304 at the third-
floor level, with would have facing lounge window at a distance of 19 metres. The facade of
Flat No.401 at fourth-floor level (containing two corner lounge windows and a bedroom
window) would be higher and separated by a distance of 25.5 metres. A person standing on
the terrace outside Flat No0.401 would be no less than 23 metres distant. Whilst the lounge
windows in particular of Flat No.10 command wide views above and beyond the existing
Pinehurst House that would be affected by the proposed development, it is not however
considered that this would be to the extent that permission could be refused on this ground.

It is therefore considered that there would be no material and undue overlooking of windows
from the new development; and no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a
result of the increased height of building on this neighbouring flat. It is considered that the
impacts of the proposed development upon this neighbouring flat would be acceptable in
planning terms.

North half of The Convent (Flat Nos.3, 2, 5, 7, 8 and 11).

Flats in the north half of The Convent have a different relationship with Pinehurst House,
which is sited further from the rear elevation in this area. The closest separation being at the
east end of the north elevation adjoining the position of the former bridge. This existing
section of the north elevation has a projecting element with a gable roof at the main entrance
to the building, which is to be removed. The Pinehurst House parking spaces adjoining the
main entrance are to be removed and the area planted as a communal amenity area. Due to
the degree of separation from the directly facing east elevation of the proposed development
(containing Flat Nos.003 & 004, 103 & 104, 203 and 301), it is not considered that any
material or undue impact from this direction. Accordingly it is considered that the main
impacts upon flats in the north half of The Convent arise from the oblique impact of the
proposed additional storeys of building and the possibility of oblique overlooking as a result of
the provision of windows, amenity terraces and balconies in this elevation. As with the flats in
the south half of the Convent, the impacts are reduced at upper storey levels.

Flat No.3 is a ground-floor 2-bedroom flat. It has an internal layout and rear window
arrangement that mirrors Flat No.4. It has three pairs of windows on the rear elevation
serving two bedrooms and the lounge. The direct separation of these windows is some 29
metres. This flat has a closer relationship with a section of the north elevation of Pinehurst
House [containing the main entrance and gabled roof] which is right angles level with the
central staircase core of The Convent building.

The proposed development would result in the creation of amenity terrace for Flat Nos.007
and a balcony for Flat No.107 at ground and first-floor levels in the retained north elevation of
Pinehurst House. these would be provided with obscurely glazed privacy screens to the side.
The impact of the proposed additional storeys above is reduced due to the progressive

Page 77



stepping back of the storeys in west and south directions. The nearest corner of the terrace
of Flat No.205 (also provided with a privacy screen to the side) would be between 17 and 19
metres at an oblique angle. The roof and parapet of the storey below would also prevent
views of the windows of Flat No.3. The separation distance and viewing angle increases with
respect to the balcony for Flat No.303 on the third-floor. Windows in the east elevation of this
proposed unit are further separated again, with views of the windows of Flat No.3 also likely
to be blocked by the projecting central section of The Convent building containing the main
entrance and staircase. The nearest corner of the terrace balustrade of Flat No.401 is
approximately 26 metres distant. It is considered that there would be no material and undue
overlooking of windows of Flat No.3 from the new development; and no material diminution in
the extent of day/sunlighting as a result of the increased height of building. It is considered
that the impacts of the proposed development upon this neighbouring flat would be
acceptable in planning terms.

Flat No.5 is a first-floor 2-bedroom flat with an internal layout and rear window arrangement
that mirrors Flat No.6. It has a similar layout to Flat No.3 below and Flat No.8 above. It has a
relationship with Pinehurst House that is similar to that of Flat No.3 albeit located on the floor
above.

This flat would have a similar relationship with the proposed development and similar
separation distances and oblique viewing angles from the same proposed flats as for Flat 3.
It is considered that there would be no material and undue overlooking of windows of Flat
No.5 from the new development; and no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting
as a result of the increased height of building.

Flat No.2 is a two-storey 2-bedroom duplex flat located over the ground- and first-floors of
The Convent building below Flat No.7. It has an entrance at the base of the north stair turret
adjacent to the site vehicular access and the flat includes part of the staircase within the unit
itself. This flat has two pairs of windows on each floor, with all four windows at ground-floor
level serving the lounge. Due to a fall in ground levels adjoining this section of The Convent,
the ground floor is significantly above ground level when viewed from the exterior. The two
pairs of windows at first-floor level in this flat serve the bedrooms. All of the windows of this
flat in the rear elevation are 28 metres from the facing portion of Pinehurst House across an
intervening parking area and a proposed communal amenity area beyond.

A combination of significant separation distance and/or an oblique viewing angle means that
there would be no material and undue overlooking of Flat No.2. Furthermore, it is considered
that there would be no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a result of the
increased height of building.

Flat No.8 is a second-floor 2-bedroom flat with an internal layout and rear window
arrangement that mirrors Flat No.9. It has a similar layout to Flat Nos.5 and 3 below. As with
Flat Nos.3 and 5, this flat is located closest to the section of the north elevation of Pinehurst
House containing the main entrance, which is situated at right angles.

Given the separation distances and oblique relationship, it is considered that there would be
no material and undue overlooking of Flat No.8, and no material diminution in the extent of
day/sunlighting as a result of the increased height of building.

Flat No.7 is a two-storey 2-bedroom duplex flat located over the second and third floors
above Flat No.2 and mirrors the arrangement of Flat No.10 with the windows serving
bedrooms and a lounge. It has the same separation distances from Pinehurst House as Flat
No.2, only with a more elevated position.

Page 78



This neighbouring flat with windows in the rear elevation of the Convent building is the
furthest from the proposed development. It is considered that no material and undue
overlooking from the proposed development would arise. Furthermore, it is considered that
there would be no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a result of the
increased height of building.

Flat No.11 is a 2-bedroom third-floor flat that mirrors Flat No.12 and has three dormer
windows in the rear roof slope. It is above Flat No.8. As with Flat No.7, the windows of this
flat (serving the bedrooms and lounge) have an elevated view over the wider expanse of the
roof of Pinehurst House.

The elevated position and orientation of this flat in relation to Pinehurst House means that it
is also considered that no undue relationships with the proposed flats and amenity terraces
and balconies would arise with the proposed development. Furthermore, it is considered that
there would be no material diminution in the extent of day/sunlighting as a result of the
increased height of building.

It is appreciated that owners and occupiers of flats at The Convent are concerned by, and
object to, the impact of the proposed development which will inevitably change the aspect
and environment to which they are accustomed and which existed when they acquired their
flats.

An objective analysis of the impacts of the proposed development upon each individual flat
concludes that, whilst the result would be significant to varying degrees, the amenities and
living environment of The Convent flats would not be affected to the extent that it would be
reasonable to refuse planning permission for this reason.

The Council’'s Environmental Health Team recommend that a condition be imposed to
require submission of a Construction Method Statement to set out the measures to be
employed during the construction phase to minimise noise, vibration, dust and other
emissions as far as practicable to protect neighbouring amenity. Likewise the parking and
traffic generation impacts of the demolition, construction and fitting-out periods of the
development. Although planning applications cannot be refused on account of the likely
construction phase impacts, it is considered reasonable to require the submission of details
of construction management measures given the scale of the development and the clear
potential for this to give rise to nuisance and inconvenience to neighbours.

4. The living environment created -

All the proposed flats would provide accommodation meeting or exceeding the Government
minimum internal floorspace standards appropriate for their level of occupancy. They would
also be provided with balconies providing appropriate private usable amenity space in
accordance with the requirements of emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan Policy DE3. The
proposed flats would also be provided with shared communal amenity areas on site; and
some existing landscaped areas containing mature trees would also be retained on site. The
plans also show provision of a gymnasium facility within the development.

The Air Quality Report submitted with the application demonstrates to the satisfaction of the
Council’s Environmental Health Team that impacts of the operational phase of the proposed
development on local air quality will not be significant and be below the relevant UK air
guality objective levels. In terms of the construction phase of the development, it is noted that
some adverse impacts are identified and appropriate mitigation measures are recommended,

Page 79



which Environmental Health recommend be incorporated into Construction Method
Statement.

The submitted Noise Impact Report has assessed the existing noise environment in the
vicinity of the site. Whilst the Report does consider the existing noise from operations at
Farnborough Airport, it does not take into consideration the fact the airport has permission for
up to 50,000 business aviation movements per annum by 2019. This is a potential doubling
of movements over those currently experienced, representing a potential 3dB increase in
daytime noise levels that needs to be accounted for when determining the level of noise
mitigation required. Furthermore, whilst Environmental Health consider that it is possible to
specify adequate sound insulation measures to address this, detail is lacking about what the
insulation measures would or could be. Accordingly, it is recommended that a condition be
imposed requiring the submission of details concerning the type of glazing and ventilation to
be used for all habitable rooms to achieve the appropriate internal noise levels.

The internal layout of a development is a functional matter between a developer and his
client and is to some extent covered by the Building Regulations. It is a matter for
prospective purchasers/occupiers to decide whether they choose to live in the proposed
development. Nevertheless, it is considered that the living environment created would be
acceptable.

5. Impact on Wildlife - The European Court of Justice judgement in 'People Over Wind,
Peter Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta C-323/17' in April 2018 established the legal principle
that a full appropriate assessment (AA) must be carried out for all planning applications
involving a net gain in residential units in areas affected by the Thames Basin Heaths SPA,
and that this process cannot take into account any proposed measures to mitigate any likely
impact at the assessment stage. This process, culminating in the Council’s Appropriate
Assessment of the proposals, is overall described as Habitats Regulation Assessment
(HRA).

Undertaking the HRA process is the responsibility of the decision maker (in this case,
Rushmoor Borough Council) as the ‘Competent Authority’ for the purposes of the Habitats
Regulations. The following paragraphs comprise the Council’s HRA in this case:-

HRA Screening Assessment under Regulation 63(1)(a) of the Habitats Requlations.

The Thames Basin Heaths SPA is designated under the E.C Birds Directive for its lowland
heathland bird populations. The site supports important breeding bird populations, especially
Nightjar Caprimulgus europaeus and Woodlark Lullula arborea, both of which nest on the
ground, often at the woodland/heathland edge; and Dartford Warbler Sylvia undata, which
often nests in gorse Ulex sp. Scattered trees and scrub are used for roosting.

Heathland is prone to nitrogen deposition due to increases in Nitrogen Oxide. Calculations
undertaken for the Rushmoor Borough Council Local Plan found that there will be no in-
combination impacts on the habitats as a result of development in the Local Plan, including
an allowance for ‘windfall’ housing developments. However within the screening process it
will need to be ascertained whether development outside the Local Plan within 200m of the
SPA will increase vehicle movements to above 1000 extra trips/day or exceed the Minimum
Critical Load by over 1% either alone or in-combination with the Local Plan.

The bird populations and nests are very prone to recreational disturbance, with birds

vacating the nests if disturbed by members of the public. This leaves the young unprotected
and increases the risk of predation. Dogs not only disturb the adults, but can directly predate

Page 80



the young.

Visitor surveys have shown that the visitor catchment area for the Thames Basin Heath SPA
is 5km, with any proposals for residential development within this catchment contributing to
recreational pressure on the SPA. The research also evidenced that residential development
within 400m of the SPA would cause impacts alone due to cat predation of adult and young
birds.

The retained South East Plan Policy NRM6 and adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy 2011
Policy CP13 (Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area) and Thames Basin Heaths
Avoidance & Mitigation Strategy (2018)], state that residential development within 400m of
the SPA should be refused and development within 5km of the SPA should provide Strategic
Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) of 8ha/1000 additional population and contributions
to Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Measures (SAMM) dependant on the
number of bedrooms.

It is considered that there is sufficient information available with the planning application
provided by the applicants with which the Council can undertake the HRA process. In this
case the proposed development involves the creation of 113 net new residential flats close to
Farnborough Town Centre. As such, the proposed development is located within the 5km
zone of influence of the SPA but outside the 400 metre exclusion zone. The proposed
development is neither connected to, nor necessary to the management of, the Thames
Basin Heaths SPA. Furthermore, the proposed development would not result in a net
increase in traffic movements in excess of 1000 vehicular movements per day in proximity to
the SPA.

All new housing development within 5 km of any part of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA, of
which the current proposals would make a contribution, is considered to contribute towards
an impact on the integrity and nature conservation interests of the SPA. This is as a result of
increased recreation disturbance in combination with other housing development in the
vicinity of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA. Current and emerging future Development Plan
documents for the area set out the scale and distribution of new housebuilding in the area up
to 2032. A significant quantity of new housing development also results from ‘windfall’ sites,
i.e. sites that are not identified and allocated within Development Plans. There are, therefore,
clearly other plans or projects for new residential development that would, together with the
proposals the subject of the current planning application, have an ‘in-combination’ effect on
the SPA. On this basis it is clear that the proposals would be likely to lead to a significant
effect on European site (i.e. the Thames Basin Heaths SPA) integrity.

Appropriate Assessment under Requlation 63(1) of the Habitats Requlations.

If there are any potential significant impacts upon the Thames Basin Heaths SPA, the
applicant must suggest avoidance and/or mitigation measures to allow an Appropriate
Assessment to be made. The Applicant must also provide details that demonstrate any long
term management, maintenance and funding of any such solution.

The project the subject of the current planning application being assessed would result in a
net increase of dwellings within 5 km of a boundary of part of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA.
In line with Natural England guidance and adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy 2011 Policy
CP13 and Thames Basin Heaths Avoidance & Mitigation Strategy (2018), a permanent
significant effect on the SPA due to an increase in recreational disturbance as a result of the
proposed new development is likely. As such, in order to be lawfully permitted, the proposed
development will need to secure a package of avoidance and mitigation measures.

Page 81



Rushmoor Borough Council formally adopted the latest version of the Thames Basin Heaths
SPA Avoidance & Mitigation Strategy (AMS) in May 2018. The AMS provides a strategic
solution to ensure the requirements of the Habitats Regulations are met with regard to the in-
combination effects of increased recreational pressure on the Thames Basin Heaths SPA
arising from new residential development. This Strategy is a partnership approach to
addressing the issue that has been endorsed by Natural England.

The AMS comprises two elements. Firstly the maintenance of Suitable Alternative Natural
Greenspace (SANG) in order to divert additional recreational pressure away from the SPA,
and, secondly, the maintenance of a range of Strategic Access Management and Monitoring
Measures (SAMMS) to avoid displacing visitors from one part of the SPA to another and to
minimize the impact of visitors on the SPA. Natural England raises no objection to proposals
for new residential development in the form of Standing Advice provided that the mitigation
and avoidance measures are in accordance with the AMS.

In order to meet the requirements of Policy CP13 and the AMS applicants must:-

(&) secure an allocation of SPA mitigation capacity from either the Council's SANGS
schemes, or from another source acceptable to Natural England and to the Council;
and

(b)  secure the appropriate SANG and/or SAMM in perpetuity by making the requisite
financial contribution(s) by entering into a satisfactory s106 Planning Obligation that
requires the payment of the contribution(s) upon the first implementation of the
proposed development.

These requirements must be met to the satisfaction of Natural England and Rushmoor
Borough Council (the Competent Authority) before the point of decision of the planning
application.

In this case the applicants have provided written evidence that they have acquired SANGS
capacity at the Bramshot Farm SANG within Hart District sufficient for the 113 new dwelling
units proposed at a cost of £612,789.20. Furthermore, the applicants are also seeking to
secure a financial contribution of £52,315.00 towards SAMMS by way of a s106 planning
obligation submitted to Rushmoor BC requiring payment of this additional financial
contribution upon the implementation.

Conclusions of Appropriate Assessment.

On this basis, subject to the completion of a satisfactory s106 Planning Obligation in this
respect, it is considered that the applicants will be in a position to address the impact of their
proposed development on the Thames Basin Heaths SPA in perpetuity in compliance with
the requirements of Core Strategy Policy CP13 and the AMS.

According to the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report the application property
has negligible potential to host roosting bats and other protected wildlife species.
Nevertheless, it is recommended that any site clearance and demolition works at the
property are undertaken outside the bird nesting season (March to September inclusive); or
the building must be checked for nesting birds immediately prior to any works commencing —
and no works be undertaken if an occupied nest is found. Similarly, if any other protected
species such as bats are found. The submitted report recommends some practices to be
adopted for the site clearance and construction period in these respects. In the
circumstances, it is considered appropriate that a condition be imposed to require the

Page 82



developer to implement the recommendations of the submitted report, combined with an
informative to remind the applicant of the requirements of the Wildlife & Countryside Act with
respect to any protected wildlife species encountered on site.

6. Highways Considerations - The application is accompanied by a Transport Assessment
examining, as it must, the detailed highway implications of the proposed development
compared with the situation that would occur with the existing offices in operation, which is
the current lawful planning use of the application site.

Given the existing lawful office use of the site is served by 238 on-site parking spaces using
the existing Farnborough Road vehicular entrance, it is considered that the proposed
development, provided with 199 on-site parking spaces and using the same route with a
pattern of movement access and egress likely to be less concentrated in the morning and
evening rush-hours, would generate fewer traffic movements to and from the site.
Notwithstanding the concerns expressed by some objectors in this respect, the existing width
and geometry of the vehicular entrance is adequate to serve the proposed development,
including visits by refuse and delivery lorries.

The scheme proposes parking provision in full accordance with the Council’s adopted Parking
Standards in terms of both residents and visitors. 169 spaces should be allocated specifically
to residents (1 space for each 1-bedroom unit and 2 spaces for the 2 and 3-bedroom units).
The remainder of the spaces (30) are visitor spaces. Of the overall parking provision, there are
17 disabled parking bays, located centrally within the internal parking decks. There are also
some 13 motorcycle spaces and 169 bicycle spaces.

The proposed development has no effect on any of the existing parking spaces belonging to
The Convent.

Satisfactory cycle storage/parking and bin storage provision is shown to be provided on site in
various locations adjoining the parking areas.

A revised Framework Travel Plan and amended plans showing provision of cycleway links
were formally submitted to the Council on 18 October 2018 that resolve the remaining
concerns of Hampshire County Council Highways. Hampshire County Council Highways
have now confirmed that the scheme has now fully addressed their concerns in respect of the
highways considerations and that the proposals are considered acceptable in highway terms.

In this respect HCC Highways require: (1) the applicant to enter into a s106 Planning
Obligation to secure (a) a Transport Contribution of £49,343.90 towards cycle links from the
site to Farnborough town centre to be used for either provision of a cycle link adjacent to the
A325 Farnborough Road, or towards an alternative cycle route via the adjacent Meudon
House development and crossing Meudon Avenue; (b) the submission and implementation of
a full Travel Plan; (c) payment of Travel Plan approval (£1,500.00) and monitoring fees
(£15,000.00).; and (d) provision of a surety mechanism to ensure implementation of the
Travel Plan (a bond value of £41,750.00); and (2) imposition of a condition to require the
submission of a Construction Traffic Management Plan.

Subject to the necessary financial contributions and requirements being satisfactorily secured
with a s106 Planning Obligation it is considered that the proposals are acceptable in highway
terms and, as such, comply with the requirements of Core Strategy Policies CP10, CP16 and
CP17.

7. Affordable Housing —

Page 83



Core Strategy Policy CP6 requires provision of 35% affordable housing with developments of
15 or more net dwellings subject to viability. Emerging draft New Rushmoor Local Plan Policy
LN2 requires provision of 30% affordable housing with developments of non-town centre site
with 11 or more net dwellings, also subject to viability. Policy SP7 relating specifically to the
proposed allocation of the Meudon House and Pinehurst House sites for sustainable
residential development sets out an expectation for delivery of affordable housing in
accordance with Policy LN2. Providing an applicant is able to demonstrate (and the Council
independently verify) that the financial viability of the proposed scheme cannot support some
or all of the affordable housing requirement of Policy LN2, the scheme would remain
compliant with the policy. This approach is in accordance with Government Planning Policy &
Practice Guidance.

The applicants have stated that the proposed development is not financially viable if a
requirement to provide affordable housing is included. To address the requirements of
emerging Policy LN2, the application was supported by a Viability Assessment. This
submission has been assessed independently on behalf of the Council by DVS Property
Specialists, the commercial arm of the District Valuer's Office. The conclusion of this report is
that DVS concurs with the applicant’s Viability Assessment that the development cannot
support the provision of affordable housing on viability grounds even if the Council were to
waive the requirements for Transport and public open space contributions. Whilst objections
suggest that the applicants have paid too much for the site and that this is instrumental in
causing the lack of financial viability for provision of affordable housing, the District Valuer
considers the purchase price for the site by the applicants to be reasonable.

As any planning permission granted on this site could take some time to build once
implemented, DVS recommend that the development should be subject to a financial re-
assessment clause to be secured by the s106 Planning Obligation. This would ensure that
the applicant/developer does not benefit from any improvement in the market value of the
scheme that could justify provision of affordable housing or an equivalent financial
contribution in the event that completion of the proposed development were to be protracted.

Therefore, subject to this provision being secured with the s106 Planning Obligation, it is
considered that the proposed development is fully compliant with the requirements of Policy
CP6 and emerging Policy LN2. Furthermore, the Council’s position is protected to re-
examine project viability should it appear that economic conditions improve in the future
whilst the scheme remains unfinished. This would be up to the ceiling of the equivalent of the
full 30% provision (34 dwelling units) sought by emerging draft New Rushmoor Local Plan
Policy LN2.

8. Surface Water Drainage -

A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted with the application. The site is located on
land at lowest risk of flooding. The applicants indicate that a SUDS system would be
incorporated into the development to deal with surface water drainage on site. The Lead
Local Flood Authority (Hampshire County Council) consider that the submitted information is
acceptable in principle and forms a sound basis on which to design a detailed scheme.
Accordingly, subject to the imposition of a condition to require the submission of details in
this respect, it is considered that the requirements of Core Strategy Policy CP4 would be
met.

9. Sustainable Development and Renewable Energy -

Page 84



Following the Royal Assent of the Deregulation Bill 2015 (on 26 March 2015) the
Government's current policy position is that planning permissions should no longer be
granted requiring or subject to conditions requiring compliance with any technical housing
standards such as the Code for Sustainable Homes. This is other than for those areas (such
as Rushmoor) where Councils have existing policies referring to the attainment of such
standards. In the case of Rushmoor this means that we can still require energy performance
in accordance with Code Level 4 as set out in Policy CP3 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy.
Sustainability and Energy Statements were submitted with the application in this respect.
Such measures may be secured by way of condition and on this basis no objection is raised
to the proposal in terms of Policy CP3.

10. Access for People with Disabilities —

It is considered that there is no reason why development would be unable to provide
adequate access for people with disabilities, where necessary, in accordance with the
Building Regulations. In the circumstances it is considered that adequate facilities would be
provided for people with disabilities using the proposed development.

11. Public open space -

The Local Plan seeks to ensure that adequate public open space (POS) provision is made to
cater for future residents in connection with new residential developments. Core Strategy
Policy CP10 and saved Local Plan Policies OR4 and ORA4.1 allow provision to be made on
the site, or in appropriate circumstances, a contribution to be made towards upgrading
facilities nearby. The policy does not set a threshold of a particular number of dwellings or
size of site above which the provision is required. In this case, the scheme is able to provide
childrens’ play space on site sufficient to cover this element of the overall POS requirement,
in addition to some significant retention and new provision of landscape planting. These
communal areas of the scheme would be retained in the ownership of the developer, whom
would retain the responsibility for their maintenance. However a financial contribution is
required towards the off-site provision/enhancement of the amenity open space and sport
pitch elements. It is considered that planning conditions can be imposed to require the
retention, and submission of details of the proposed management, of the on-site play spaces
and landscaping.

This is a circumstance where a contribution [in this case £192,575.00 towards the off-site
provision of public open space comprising: Landscaping, park furniture, footpaths, fencing
and infrastructure at King George V Playing Fields, Farnborough (£100,524.15), Playground
refurbishments at King George V Playing Fields, Farnborough (£74,911.68), and Sports pitch
improvements at King George V Playing Fields, Farnborough (£17,139.18)] secured by way
of a planning obligation would be appropriate. Subject to the applicant satisfactorily
completing and submitting the s106 Agreement in this respect, the proposal is considered to
be acceptable within the terms of Core Strategy Policies CP10, CP11 and CP12 and saved
Local Plan Policy ORA4.

Conclusions -

The proposals are considered acceptable in principle, would have no material and harmful
impact upon the visual character and appearance of the area, give rise to less than
substantial harm to heritage assets, have no material and adverse impact on neighbours,
would provide an acceptable living environment and are acceptable in highway terms. On the
basis of the provision of a contribution towards the Bramshot Farm SPA mitigation scheme,
the proposals are considered to have no significant impact upon the nature conservation

Page 85



interest and objectives of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area. The proposals
are thereby considered acceptable having regard to Policies CP2, CP5, CP8, CP10, CP11,
CP12, CP13, CP15, CP16 and CP17 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy and saved Local Plan
Policies ENV17, ENV28, ENV35, TR10, OR4/OR4.1 and H14.

Full Recommendation
It is therefore recommended that:-
A. Subject to:

(a) no substantial objections being received in respect of the advertising the proposals as a
Departure from the Development Plan before the expiry of the notification period on 7
November 2018;

(b) the completion of a satisfactory Planning Obligation under Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 by 26 November 2018 to secure the following:-

1) £52,315.00 contribution towards the Bramshot Farm SPA strategic access
management measures (SAMMS).

2) £192,575.00 towards the off-site provision of public open space comprising:
Landscaping, park furniture, footpaths, fencing and infrastructure at King George V
Playing Fields, Farnborough (£100,524.15), Playground refurbishments at King
George V Playing Fields, Farnborough (£74,911.68), and Sports pitch improvements
at King George V Playing Fields, Farnborough (£17,139.18);

3) £49,343.90 Transport Contribution towards cycle links from the development site to
Farnborough town centre to be used for either provision of a cycle link adjacent to the
A325 Farnborough Road, or towards providing an alternative cycle route via the
adjacent Meudon House development and crossing Meudon Avenue;

4) the submission and implementation of a full Travel Plan;
5) £16,500 for the implementation, evaluation and monitoring of the full Travel Plan; and

6) provision of a surety mechanism to ensure implementation of the full Travel Plan (with
a bond value of £41,750.00)

7) Financial viability re-assessment clauses in the event that the implementation and
completion of the scheme is protracted beyond three-years from commencement and
market conditions improve the value of the scheme. With any affordable housing
financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision being up to the ceiling of the equivalent
value of the full 30% affordable housing provision (34 dwelling units) required by
emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan Policy LN2

the Head of Planning in consultation with the Chairman be authorised to GRANT planning
permission subject to the following conditions and informatives:-

However, in the event that a satisfactory s106 Agreement is not received by 26 November
2018 the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to REFUSE
planning permission on the grounds that the proposal does not make satisfactory provision
for a transport contribution in accordance with Council’s adopted ‘Transport Contributions’

Page 86



SPD and Core Strategy Policies CP10, CP16 and CP17; public open space in accordance
with Core Strategy Policies CP10, CP11 and CP12 and saved Local Plan Policy OR4; and a
financial contribution to mitigate the effect of the development on the Thames Basin Heaths
Special Protection Area in accordance with The Rushmoor Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area Interim Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy and Core Strategy Policies CP11
and CP13.

B. The Head of Planning be authorised to amend the deadline for the completion of the s106
Planning Obligation should the circumstances be considered appropriate.

1.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of one year
from the date of this permission.

Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to reflect
the objectives of the Council's Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy as amended November 2017 and to accord with
the resolution of Rushmoor's Cabinet on 17 June 2014 in respect of Planning Report
No PLN1420.

Unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the permission hereby
granted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings and
details — OSEL Architects Drawing Nos. E17-005/SITEX001 REV.A, -EXP001 REVB,
-EXP002 REV.B, -EXP003 REV.A, -EXP004 REV.A, -EXP005 REV.A, -EXP006
REV.A, -EXEO001, -EXE002, -EXSO001, -SITO01 REV.E, -PRP001 REV.B, -PRP002
REV.C, -PRP003 REV.G, -PRP004 REV.E, -PRP005 REV.E, -PRP006 REV.F, -
PRP0O07 REV.E, -PRP008 REV.F, -PRE001 REV.D, -PRE002 REV.D, -PRS001
REV.C, -PRS002 REV.B, -PRS003 REV.A, -DET001, -DET002, -PREOO3 REV.A,
OPEN SPACES OS 1495-17.1 & Motion Drawing No0.170807-02 Rev.A; And Planning
Statement, Design Statement, Transport Statement, Arboricultural Impact
Assessment, Public Consultation Statement, Flood Risk Analysis & Drainage Report,
Noise Report, Ecology Appraisal & Bat Survey, Air Quality Assessment,
Daylight/Sunlight Report, Structural Report, Energy & Sustainability Report, Motion
Revised Framework Travel Plan Rev.D.

Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the
permission granted.

Notwithstanding any indication of materials which may have been given in the
application, or in the absence of such information, construction of the following
elements of the development hereby approved [the external walls, roofing materials,
window frames/glazing, rainwater goods, and any new external hard-surfacing
materials] shall not start until a schedule and/or samples of the materials to be used in
them have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning
Authority. Those elements of the development shall be carried out using the materials
so approved and thereafter retained.

Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance. *
Construction or demolition work of any sort within the area covered by the application
shall only take place between the hours of 0800-1800 on Monday to Fridays and

0800-1300 on Saturdays. No work at all shall take place on Sundays and Bank or
Statutory Holidays.

Page 87



10.

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and to
prevent adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity.

Prior to occupation or use of the development hereby approved, screen and boundary
walls, fences, hedges or other means of enclosure shall be installed in accordance
with details to be first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed and retained in accordance with
the details so approved.

Reason - To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring property. *

The dwelling units hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the parking spaces,
bicycle storage and bin storage areas shown on the approved plans have been
constructed, surfaced and made available to occupiers of, and visitors to, the
development; in the case of parking spaces in accordance with a scheme of allocation
that has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Thereafter these facilities shall be kept available at all times for their intended
purposes and allocation as shown on the approved plans. Furthermore, the parking
spaces shall not be used at any time for the parking/storage of boats, caravans or
trailers.

Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the provision, allocation and
retention of adequate off-street car and bicycle parking, servicing, and bin storage
within the development. *

The dwelling units hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycleway
connection to the west boundary of the site as shown on the approved plans have
been completed and made available for use.

Reason — To ensure adequate pedestrian and cycleway connectivity of the proposed
development.

Provision shall be made for services to be placed underground. No overhead wire or
cables or other form of overhead servicing shall be placed over or used in the
development of the application site.

Reason - In the interests of visual amenity.

Prior to the first occupation of the flats hereby permitted, details for a communal
aerial/satellite dish/fibre-optic system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The new flats hereby permitted shall not be occupied
until the approved scheme has been installed and made operational.

Reason - In the interest of the visual amenity of the area by avoiding the unnecessary
proliferation of aerial/satellite dish installations on the building.

Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved a fully detailed landscape
and planting scheme (to include, where appropriate, both landscape planting and
ecological enhancement) shall be first submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Page 88



11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Reason - To ensure the development makes an adequate contribution to visual
amenity. *

All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall
be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation of the
building or the practical completion of the development hereby approved, whichever is
the sooner.

Reason -To ensure the development makes an adequate contribution to visual
amenity.

No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until a landscape
management plan detailing management responsibilities and maintenance schedules
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved.

Reason - To ensure the amenity value of the trees shrubs and landscaped areas is
maintained. *

No works shall start on site until existing trees and shrubs/hedges to be retained on
and adjoining the site have been adequately protected from damage during site
clearance and works in accordance with the details that are set out in the Open
Spaces Arborcultural Impact Assessment Report Revision A received October 2018
and tree retention and removal plans hereby approved with the application.
Furthermore, no materials or plant shall be stored and no buildings erected within
protective fencing to be erected at the margins of the root protection area of each
tree/shrub/hedge to be retained as appropriate.

Reason - To ensure that existing trees are adequately protected in the interests of the
visual amenities of the site and the locality in general.

With the exception of any trees specifically shown on the approved plans to be felled,
or as may be otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, no tree, or
hedge within the application site shall be lopped, topped, felled, destroyed or
damaged.

Reason - To preserve the amenity value of the tree(s) and shrubs.

No works consisting of foundations and services (pipes drains cables etc) shall start
until a construction method statement detailing how impact on the roots of trees
identified for retention will be avoided, has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out strictly in
accordance with the method statement so approved.

Reason - To ensure the amenity value of the trees shrubs and landscaped areas is
maintained .*

Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved details of all external
lighting to be installed within the site and/or on the exterior of the building hereby
permitted shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The
submitted details shall indicate the purpose/requirement for the lighting proposed and
specify the intensity, spread of illumination and means of controlling the spread of
illumination (where appropriate). The external lighting proposals as may subsequently

Page 89



17.

18.

19.

20.

be approved shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved details and
retained thereafter solely as such unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. With the exception of lighting identified and agreed as being
necessarily required solely for maintaining the security of the site/building during night-
time hours, no other external lighting shall be used/operated during night-time hours
(2300 to 0700 hours daily) unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason - In the interests of the amenities of nearby residential properties; and to
ensure that there is no inappropriate or unnecessary use of lighting at the site in the
interests of biodiversity.

Prior to the commencement of development (including any demolition) a Construction,
Environmental & Traffic Management Plan to be adopted for the duration of the
construction period shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The details required in this respect shall include:

(@) the provision to be made for the parking and turning on site of operatives and
construction vehicles during construction and fitting out works;

(b) the means and measures to be taken to control noise, dust, vibration, smoke
and other emissions arising from the implementation of the development;

(c) the arrangements to be made for the delivery of all building and other materials
to the site, including construction servicing/delivery routes;

(d)  the provision to be made for any storage of building and other materials on site;

(e)  measures to prevent mud from being deposited on the highway;

)] the programme for construction; and

(g) the protective hoarding/enclosure of the site.

Such measures as may subsequently be approved shall be retained at all times as
specified until all construction and fitting out works have been completed.

Reason - In the interests of the amenity, safety and convenience of adjoining and
nearby residential properties and the safety and convenience of highway users. *

No construction works pursuant to this permission shall take place until measures to
incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) into the new built development
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such
details as may be approved shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of
the new building and retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP4 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy. *

Prior to the first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, details of
measures to achieve the energy performance standards in accordance with Code
Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes or equivalent for each of the dwellings
hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Such details as may be approved shall be implemented in full prior to the
first occupation of the dwelling(s) to which they relate and retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP3 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy.

In the event that unforeseen ground conditions or materials which suggest potential or
actual contamination are revealed at any time during implementation of the approved

Page 90



21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

development it must be reported, in writing, immediately to the Local Planning
Authority. A competent person must undertake a risk assessment and assess the
level and extent of the problem and, where necessary, prepare a report identifying
remedial action which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority before the measures are implemented.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a
verification report must be prepared and is subject to approval in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the
interests of amenity and pollution prevention.

Site clearance and works to implement the permission hereby permitted shall be
undertaken in accordance with the recommendations of the Open Spaces Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal & Bat Survey Inspection Report dated October 2017 hereby
approved.

Reason - In the interests of protected wildlife.

No dwelling within the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of
the provision of Electric Car Charging Points within the development has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Electric Car
Charging Point installation so approved shall subsequently be installed and made
operational and available to occupiers of the development prior to the occupation of
the first dwelling unit within the development.

Reason — To reflect the objective of enabling a sustainable development.

The gymnasium to be provided within the development hereby permitted shall be used
solely for purposes ancillary and incidental to the residential occupation of the
development hereby approved.

Reason — In the interests of the amenity of occupiers of the proposed development
and adjoining properties.

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until measures to protect
occupiers of the proposed building external noise have been implemented in
accordance with a scheme to include, for example, acoustic double-glazing and
ventilation which has been first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the development. *

Other than the identified amenity terraces and balconies shown on the approved plans
allocated to specific dwelling units, the roof areas of the development hereby permitted
shall not, at any time, be used as balcony, sitting-out, or amenity areas.

Reason - To preserve the privacy and amenities of neighbouring property.
Notwithstanding any indication which may have been given in the application, or in the

absence of such information, the development hereby approved shall not be occupied
until full details of the scheme for the provision of obscure glazing of windows, terrace

Page 91



27.

balustrades and privacy screens within the development have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Those means and measures so
approved shall subsequently be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the
dwelling units to which they relate and retained thereafter at all times.

Reason — In the interests of the amenity and privacy of adjoin residential properties.

Prior to the first occupation of the development the communal amenity space shall be
provided, made available for use and thereafter retained for its designated purpose.

Reason - To meet the recreational needs of future residents.
Informatives

INFORMATIVE - REASONS FOR APPROVAL- The Council has granted permission
because:-

The proposals are considered acceptable in principle, would have no material and
harmful impact upon the visual character and appearance of the area, give rise to less
than substantial harm to heritage assets, have no material and adverse impact on
neighbours, would provide an acceptable living environment and are acceptable in
highway terms. On the basis of the provision of a contribution towards the Bramshot
Farm SPA mitigation scheme, the proposals are considered to have no significant
impact upon the nature conservation interest and objectives of the Thames Basin
Heaths Special Protection Area. The proposals are thereby considered acceptable
having regard to Policies CP2, CP5, CP8, CP10, CP11, CP12, CP13, CP15, CP16
and CP17 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy and saved Local Plan Policies ENV17,
ENV28, ENV35, TR10, OR4/OR4.1 and H14.

It is therefore considered that subject to compliance with the attached conditions, and
taking into account all other material planning considerations, including the provisions
of the development plan, the proposal would be acceptable. This also includes a
consideration of whether the decision to grant permission is compatible with the
Human Rights Act 1998.

INFORMATIVE - This permission is subject to a planning obligation under Section 106
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

INFORMATIVE - Your attention is specifically drawn to the conditions marked *.
These condition(s) require the submission of details, information, drawings etc. to the
Local Planning Authority BEFORE a certain stage is reached in the development.
Failure to meet these requirements is in contravention of the terms of the permission
and the Council may take enforcement action to secure compliance. As of April 2008
submissions seeking to submit details pursuant to conditions or requests for
confirmation that conditions have been complied with must be accompanied by the
appropriate fee.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is recommended to achieve maximum energy

efficiency and reduction of Carbon Dioxide emissions by:

a) ensuring the design and materials to be used in the construction of the building
are consistent with these aims; and

b) using renewable energy sources for the production of electricity and heat using
efficient and technologically advanced equipment.

Page 92



10

11

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised to contact the Recycling and Waste

Management section at Rushmoor Borough Council on 01252 398164 with regard to

providing bins for refuse and recycling. The bins should be:

1) provided prior to the occupation of the properties;

2) compatible with the Council's collection vehicles, colour scheme and
specifications;

3) appropriate for the number of occupants they serve;

4) fit into the development's bin storage facilities.

INFORMATIVE - Measures should be taken to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the
site during construction works being deposited on the public highway throughout the
construction period.

INFORMATIVE - No materials produced as a result of site preparation, clearance, or
development should be burnt on site. Please contact the Council's Environmental
Health Team for advice.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised that during the construction phase of the
development measures should be employed to contain and minimise dust emissions,
to prevent their escape from the development site onto adjoining properties. For
further information, please contact the Council's Environmental Health Team.

INFORMATIVE - It is a legal requirement to notify Thames Water of any proposed
connection to a public sewer. In many parts of its sewerage area, Thames Water
provides separate public sewers for foul water and surface water. Within these areas
a dwelling should have separate connections: a) to the public foul sewer to carry
waste from toilets, sinks and washing machines, etc, and b) to public surface water
sewer for rainwater from roofs and surface drains. Mis-connections can have serious
effects: i) If a foul sewage outlet is connected to a public surface water sewer this may
result in pollution of a watercourse. ii) If a surface water outlet is connected to a public
foul sewer, when a separate surface water system or soakaway exists, this may cause
overloading of the public foul sewer at times of heavy rain. This can lead to sewer
flooding of properties within the locality. In both instances it is an offence to make the
wrong connection. Thames Water can help identify the location of the nearest
appropriate public sewer and can be contacted on 0845 850 2777.

INFORMATIVE - The planning permission hereby granted does not authorise the
applicant, or his agents, to construct a new/altered access to, or other work within, the
public highway. A separate consent for works within the highway must first be
obtained from the highway authority who may be contacted at the following address:-
Hampshire County Council Highways Sub Unit, M3 Motorway Compound, Hook,
Hampshire, RG27 9AA.

INFORMATIVE - Future occupiers of the development should be made aware that
aircraft approaching and departing TAG Farnborough Airport could be seen, and
(dependent on weather conditions and ambient noise from other sources) heard from
the application site.

Page 93



12

13

14

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is requested to bring the conditions attached to this
permission to the attention of all contractors working or delivering to the site, in
particular any relating to the permitted hours of construction and demolition; and
where practicable to have these conditions on display at the site entrance(s) for the
duration of the works.

INFORMATIVE - In the UK all species of bats are protected under Schedule 5 of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and under Schedule 2 of the
conservation (Natural Habitats & c) Regulations 2004. The grant of planning
permission does not supersede the requirements of this legislation and any
unauthorised works would constitute an offence. If bats or signs of bats are
encountered at any point during development then all works must stop immediately
and you should contact Natural England.

INFORMATIVE - The Local Planning Authority's commitment to working with the
applicants in a positive and proactive way is demonstrated by its offer of pre-
application discussion to all, and assistance in the validation and determination of
applications through the provision of clear guidance regarding necessary supporting
information or amendments both before and after submission, in line with the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Page 94



Page 95



00Z: L
)G O S EREIDULPE I

L s oo KL A e T sded Jeo sjamon Bunsixg
L180izZ  @eq WL ‘ODIOIHO
L180/2Z  @eq 0¥ NMvHa

WO ozik 3OS
a 100dX3/500-213
">mx azo.._zs.n

wied 122 Jomo Bunsia
ONIMYYHD

QL7 SLNIWLSIANI LSHNHINIA
AN3ND

ANINAO13AIA3Y LSHNHIANIA ] [} !
1103rodd

Sjuey|nsu0d juawdojanap

=5 u TE AN

i | L

wed e

W99 V'I'D

74
W6¥8C VIO

i
H
1
£
l 2> T 1»
) !
ﬁ /_\

/ 1
i
(=
i V=
7 my; ///,//\M ﬂ ﬁ
7V =)\
\.W = ) ;_(?\ " \\\, )/,:,\\
N Y &>

©
(o)
Y 2= il = — ()
~ & W <~ T = )
= — i
uossiwang Buweld 218010 8 = \\\, /ﬁ g ,;_/ %
wewdopreq uBiseq 28062 W \;:; / W = ) i
uopdioseg  e)eg  ON - = —u WL

50 440N SNECNIINND 5O SONI YO JOKS ENDAYI 038
315 KOSNOSNWG 1V A4 LS SOLOVALNOD SHL



ONHYIE G4 N NS NOL YISO O SN0 i NO 480 50AU4e09 0

ORI O T BERIODULPE 103

VEZL G0 L VL 0T RL S N1 KU e N0 6

1180z @ WL ODIOTHO
L1802z @ea o NMvia

e 00Z: 1 3108

v €00dX3/500-213
‘A3 ‘ON ONIMVHA

ued Jooy punoig seddn Bunsig
ONIMYYA

QLT SLNIWLSIANI LSHNHINID
AN3ITO

AN3NJOT3AIAIY LSUNHINID
:103ro¥d

Sjuey|nsu0d juawdojanap
$199314918 -

ZWoy8e V1O
ZW6¥8Z 'V'3'O

wewdojersq ubiseq L1 '80'6Z v
uonduosaqg aj)eg ON

‘NSO S HLWOMS 0136 38 OLSIDSIING O
QN ey

40 YO SHONANNCO HO SONTIVHO dONS SNV 24038
S O SNOSNEO T1Y ASBSA LSO SOLOVILNOD SHL

00z : 4
ue|d 100}j punouo saddn Bunsix3

1o

I<

O

Nﬁuﬂhﬂuﬂ 20
"j’l’]
s T —
) e ——
F——\ .
O
B [ = NG
Al As, s P A P P,
M o o o o o o o
Y Tl
] | | L -
INANN
OO 514 1o
o o
ol {af

s Lo wnaa o wae Lo w0 | o
e’ e — 57 08

w7 gt ey ws - wz—wo

<l

NN

Page 97



BRI GO EREODULDE (603

1862
VE2L (S LT HEELZO L M NI WP W2 AP0 o

L18010 Sk WL aDIOTHO
L18010 @R W NMvua
e 00ZiL 3OS

2003X3/500-213

A3y ON ONIMYHA

uoneAd3 1S9M PUE YOS Bunsix3
ONIMYHA

Q17 SLNIWLSIANI LSHNHINIA
“AN3IND

AINIWHO0T13AIATY LSHUNHINIA
103rodd

sjuej|nsuod juawdojanap

pur %..:W.QMQ

uopdioseq el ON

“ENAYIO S HLNOW GTVES 36 OLSIOSIENG Ol
40 SO SNONIWNO0 HO SONTIVET SONS SHDAVIN 0558
315 NOSNOBINING T1Y AJ3A LI MOLOVLNOD SHL

00z: 1
uoneAs|3 3sam Bunsixg

o (1T TEL [T

00z 1
uoneaal3 ynos Bunsixg

[

Page 98



NI L MO A L CRY SNEIB0 BN OBL0Y) L0 4050
BB e M T D BRDULEE TS

220 1 PELLGED L B4 e e P 0]
80z =ea gu OBIDIHD
Lgorzz =|eq W NMvHO

W@ 0021 i30S
v 900dX3/500-L13
‘A3 ‘ON ONIMYE A

ueld jooy Bunsia
ONIMVH

QLT SLNIWLSIANI LSHNHINI
AN3ND

ANIWOTIAIAIY LSUNHINIA
193rodd

siuej|nsu0a juawdojansp
s e

wawdosreq ublssq L8062 v
uolyduosag 8)legq  ON

RO SIL WO O1YCS 38 OL SHOISIE

I NEVIND BO SN VO CONS ARV
10 SHOMEN SV T1¥ AS2A LS ML )

e

lo

00z}
ue|d jooy Bunsixg

Page 99



REV:
B

Date 22/08/17
Date  22/08/17
m

@At

THE CONTRACTOR MUST VERIFY ALL DMENSONS ON STE

1:200

Proposed Lower car park

260ty Place Londn WIU SPR T 0207204 2447 Fa 207224

E17-005/PRP001

DRAWING:
DRAWING No:
DRAWN: RC
CHECKED: TM
Emait adn@ossiarcn Wear

SCALE:

.5%13 i g
Bi: : :
g8 5 g
i PLays i b n
v =t E
e EOORDOEE ® R it
Bee 5% V[ ¢
0o Vol I
g Qff
o w
O [
=
b N
- iz“'z?!
2
£ © 3
!E! ° P P
HH
\\}
\\H,’/,.
\\\\H i =
i =
) R I
,/J:- §
” : t\;’%‘\ ; I 8 )
—yi= i~ ‘ l
1\ N2 u‘\\\\\ \\\\ N
/‘m
\\\Q‘H

( \i«\\L’C;‘ﬁ/// 2\

S q

= : —

= T >
X 172 g o

Page 100

Proposed Lower car park

1:200



002 * b
T eonnemrsomis v . o o yaed tes seddn pesodoid

[T
180022 @ nL ODIFHO
2muzz eka 0¥ NMv¥Q

e 00ZiL  iE90S

2 200d4d/500-213

A3 ON ONIMVHA

ed g0 Jeddn pesedold
ONIMYEA

017 SLNINLSIANI LSHNHINID
ANIND

ANINHOTIAIATY LSHNHANIA
103royd

S1UBIINSUCY JUBWIA0|3A3P

70 :

&

V77777772

siun [eo] x g 3

SHun wooupsg Z X € H

W€ (|enuspisay) V'I'D
2U6¥8Z VIO wls

..._I._ d

— q

/O]
12 H B0oe o _L,ﬂ

L
|#)

f

PLais bl

EOOEDOEm ®

2104 €0 PRIEP JoR3)

ddesidojasuodsad  2L0LLL D
uossiugng Bueld 216010 @
wewidojensg ubissq 4180’62 v

vopduoseg  ojea  oN T

DNAVHOSIL O GI1Y06 36 OL SHOISHEWG O
"Gl ARy

400N ONFONGWNGO SO SONPAVED SOKS DNV O
56 NG SROBNING T1Y ASB3A ST 50 DVELNCO L

Page 101



MO B NO MAGHS NOLYANOLN ONY ENOB 30 B4LNO 84800 LOMAG00 & 00z L

T eos Ao s BAPIODULES 10D ue|d 100}} punous) saddn pasodoid

TCELOB S e LG L s v e B0
L1802z @ieQ WL GDOIHO

L1807z @ieQ o NMVia —_—
o 0021 ELEH

\ T S| [ F
9 £00d¥d/500-L13 - — )y

EEN) ON ONIMVSA

ueld Jo0y punog seddn pesodold
ONIMVYA

QLTSLNIWLSIANI LSUNHINID

AN3ND
LNIWdOTIAIA3Y LSHUNHINIA H _. - «H-Lm =
103royd = — = =
e vaz s Lo
Siue3nsu0d Juawdojansp o « @ @ o || o o ”
saydIe

St

SjUN [eJ0L X 0€

sjun wooipeg € X}
SHUM Wooipag Z X 0l
shun wooipag | X /|

SHun opNIS X 2

ZWBSET V'O

ZWS0SZ VIO

NIROS
ALSIAOM

SDINYIS

WA

TIOUIVLS

EOOEDO0DEDR?

oianis

800114 OlSuINGY  BLS0TZ O
wopeonddy

Bumueld JojsuoiIseY  BL'SO'LL El

sinofej o) suoisey 815020 3

SjuswpuaWY JaUuNg  L0L0Z @ 2 \

11°04 €0 PaJep JaNo| > D) w0

dde-aid oy esuodsay  JLOLLL ) @ = - - ] Sm m“«%
uossiwang Buiueld 216010 @ TN = = ="
wowdoersq uBIR  2L806Z N

uonduassqg @jed 'ON |

oM 0308 3801

1% Ay
0 MHOM ONHGIWNGO HO SONINVEO dONS SNV 0335
S5 NOSNOSNSNG 1Y A4 &34 15T BOLOVRLNGO FH1

Page 102



NI 4L MO MAGHE NOLLYRHOAN CNY SN 30 BANO SA910 10MA00 0
BT ND LSO . oA L EBODULEE 163

1567
CEL O Lyt YT OO L 5 WP soeid AP0 07

1180/ o WL ‘GIIOIHO
L1802z @ N NMvEa

W@ 002:k i30S

3 ¥00d4d/S00-213
UEN) ON ONIMVHA

ueld 100y} 15}, pasodosd
ONIMYHA

QL7 SLNINLSIANI LSHNHINIA

ANIWOTIAIAZY LSUNHINIA
103royd

AN3ND

siuel|nsu0d juawdojanap
$1993iye

SHUN [BJOL X 62

syun woolipag Z x 0l
Sjun woolpag | x 9|
Sjun oIpNIS X €

WGl VIO

ZW2gsee v'I'o

NIIUDS
ALSIAOW

SDIAYIS

WA

TIODUNLS

d5 8E

dv 8z

deaz

at

o1anis

BEOOEDOED 9

uogeayddy
BuLIUEld 10 SUOISINEY
SuawpUBWY JaLng
7104 €0 PRjep JaNa|
dde-aid 0} esuodsay

uoissiuiang Buiuueld
wewdojAsq uBIsaq

uonduosaq

8LS0'LL
210102

24011
218040
118062

sjeg

3
a

o]
a
v

‘oN

DIV SIHL OIS G31V0S 36 OLSNOISIWG O

G Aoy

40 YHOM ONSIG KOO HO SONPAVHO OKS SISV 40538
31 NOSNOSNSIG T1Y Ad 3 LS SOLOVLNGO L

00Z: L
ue|d 0o} }s| pasodoid

Wy g wo

111308
CATEE

Page 103



NG S NO MAGHG NOLLYAN O VY ENOE 30 BHLNO 54800 LHOMA0 O 00Z : L

T cosrebemra e o s omoD LGS H3 ue|d Joojy puz pasodoid

567
VCLLOTS LT YEZL 020 L B VA P ki 0 O

1180127 @eQ WL OIHOIHO

L8017z eka W NMvEa

Wo 00214 ELLR

3 §00d4d/S00-213

FE] ON ONIMVA
ueld sooy puz pasodoid

ONIMVHA

QLT SLNIWLSIANI LSUNHINIA
AN3ND

ANIWOTIAIATY LSUNHINIA
103roYd

SjuB}|ASU0 juawdojarap
§30931U21%

SjuN [ejoL X 92

SHUN WooIpag Z X L1
SN woolpag | X gl
sHun opNIS X 2

ZW0s8L VIO

ZW/86l VIO

NITDS.
ALSIA0W

SRS

WAD

TUODUNVLS

ds 9

dv 8z

dE 8T

olanis

EOOEDOmE ?

uoneoyddy
Bunueld Jojsuoisiey  8L'SO'LL
SjuswpuawWy Jayung ooz
LL'0L €0 Pajep Jape| e L
dde-auid 0) esucdsay L0LLL
uossiwgng Bulweld 21 '60'L0
wawdojanaq ubsaq L8062
uonduosaq a)eg ON

IO SHLNO YOS 38 OL OGN O

Gy

0 XHOM ONNGIWNCO HO SONAVHO JOKS SNV 058
S NO SNOSN WG 1 AL&3A LS/W HOLOVELNGO L

ouw

Li13v0s
T H IS

Wy uzwo

<mo

Page 104



N4 MO MAGHE NOLLYNON Y ENOE30 BAANO BLE0 L0MAT0D O
e

JTSTLI W TyrE——-

weezoms
L1/80¢ =eq WL ‘G3IATIHD
i@z g W NMvEa
e 0€:L  JTvOS
El 900d44d/S00-213
ON ONINYET

ATy

Ueld 100y pig pesodosy
ONIMYIO

QLTSLNIWLSIANI LSHNHINIA
AN3ND

ANINCOTIAIATY LSHNHINID
103r0Yd

sjuejnsuos juswdojanap

SHun [eloL X L

S)iun woopag Z X g1
sjiun wooipag | X

dWEQEL V1O

ZM0gYL W3O

18205
ausacon (5

SIS
WAS
JHOOUNVLS
d5 8
dv 8z
dear
ar

olanis

mOEO0OO

voneoyddy
BuluEld Joj SUOISIAGY
8L v0'Z) Bunsaw
BuiuLeld Buimojjo)
$30B1J3) 0} SUCHEPOW
SusLpUBWY Jatpn.
L1°0L 60 PaIep JaR9|
dde-aid 0} ssucdsey
uoissiwang Buiuueld
wawdojaraq ubisaq
uoljduosaq

aSILAC

8LSOLL

8LYOEL
210108

2oLt
2160'L0
218062

ajeq

w

00Z: 1
ue|d lool pag pasodoid

L L3O
0z T EIT08

El
A =
W JuT o

g

W/ / fim

Page 105



NIAYMC B4l N MACHE NCLLYHNO I ENY G0 L NO 1610 SN0
A UB G A TR 1 ERODULEE 18043

T

1nsoiEz

18z

QLTSINIWLSIANI LSUNHINIA
AN3ND

LNIWOTIAIATY LSUNHINI
103roud

L00d¥d/s00-213

ueld 100y yip pesadosg

siuelnsu09 wawdojasap

WL GTHOIHD
M NMYEa

00ziL  FWOS

ON DNIMYYA

ONIMYNA

RECHTEIT

SHuUn [BJ0L X §

00Z: 1
ue|d oo}y Yy pasodoid

SHUN wooipag € X |
N woolpag Z X G
SHun wooipeg | X g

WZl9 YO

WBL9 VIO

NIRDS
AIS300K

/

SDIMIS

HAD

THOOHIVLS
ds8E
dvaz

deaz

EOOEOODE ®

olanis

uogesyddy
Buuueld oy suolsiey  BLS0LE 3
8L v0gL Bupaw
BuluUE|d Buimalioy
8LvOEL a \J
N wn b e e el e s
e T N A

$308118) O} SUONEIIPOIN
wr

21°0L°0 Palep Jana|

ddesigojesuodsay A 0LHL O

uorssuang Bulueld  2160'L0 @ _
v >\

wewdojaasg UGB 21L'80'62

uoljduosaqg ajeq

wos 9oL SN0

Page 106



YO BIERIDERIO N GO P EBEODULEE 1S

CEL0 S L YL GO L R I P S0 AP 0
1180122 @ WL ODIOTHO
L1801z e N NMVNa

] 00ZiL  FIVOS

El 800d4d/S00-213

A3 ‘ON ONIMVA
ueld Jooy pasodold

ONIMYEA

QLT SLNINLSIANI LSUNHINI
AN3ND

ANINHOTIAIAIY LSHNHINIA
1103royd

Siugj|nsuod juawdojanap

\n 7,

ayis jo Aiepunoq
wasam ssoe
*ul uernsapad enuaiod (2)

Jusuneas
Aiepunoq pasueyoug @

Aemyed apho
Buiuolpe apnoul o} 8IS 8104’60 4
uoneayddy
Bumueid oy suoisiiey  8L'G0'LL 3
8L10TL
Bugesw soowysny
Buwolio) pappe
$8jou Il pue Aepunog 8L YOSl
210} €0 Pajep Jona|
dde-id o) asuodsey  LLOL'LE
uoissiwgng Bulueld  21'80°L0
wewdojersq ubiseq 118062
uonduosaqg 9jegd ON

ONAVAO SIHLINONS G105 368 OL SHOISIENG O
Ik ARY

40 XUOM SNIAGINNCO 4O SONINVHO OIS SNV MO8
35 KOSNOSNG T1¥ A4 43N LS BOLOVHLNGO 3L

<m0 o

]

[
)

p

00Z: 1
ue|d Jooy pasodoid

A soon0

Page 107



WD TR W O BERIODULEE TS

CELOT S e L O L 5 A W S0 AP0 0E
LuB0isz @ea WL ADHAOIHO
LLB0iSZ @EQ N NMvda

WO  00zih  FIVOS
a 20034d/S00-213
FEN] ‘ON ONIMVHA

UoNEAS|T 1S9 PUE UINOS Pesodold
ONIMYEA

QL7 SINIWLSIANI LSHNHINIA
“AN3ND

LN3IWJOTIAIA3Y LSUNHINIA
+103rodd

siuey|nsuod juawdojanap

HOND W A0 BURI0 PUURD-D, S PIARIS AXO 20
1P 1300560 LA RGIOY

60 2y FOAU2A M LOAXNIUCD U] PISN 3PRASTIE] 0] 210I0 JND3YD S Ul YH

100 PUR SMOPUM POZEIB HGNOP PaLLURL) WNLILINYE A3ID X.¢P ‘PNR03 J9PMOT NS Od
apensnieq €303 Jeq Jey ‘Aa1 Xep Paieod opmad RIsaod

/
(anpow wAwgsh Xoidde) BUPPEp WKL [DRRA

MOPUM O
3305 Adenud BuZed pISG0

9D 1UI0f IO [N LINOU-5PIG 04 PGO)

wopeoyddy
Bumueld joj swoisey  8LSOLE  Q
2101 €0 palep Jeal
ddewidojosuodsey  JLOLLL D
uossiuang Buiueld 246000 8
wowdojreq uBIeq 248062

uonduoseg  8jeq ON

002 - L
uoijeAd|3 3sap pasodoid

00z b

uoneAa|3 yinog pasodoid

Page 108



02 BICOND LRI M COM 2RO BULE 03

2867
VELOMIS LRt 2L 0T L B 1 UEPLOT 0ok AP0 OZ

Lusoisz eea WL aDIOIHO
Zuoisz @ea N NMvEa

WO 0ziL FIv0S

a 10034d/500-213
EEY ON ONIMVSA
“ONIMVHA

QLT SLNINLSIANI LSHNHINIA

BUE pis}

LNIWHOTINIATY LSUNHINI

1103royd

siuensu0d juawdolasap

pue zu:_w.QM.Q

Q30 DR

1R19p 120060 501 RGI0)
12350 W10f WALIAOW (8303 LANOW-5PG 011 RQ0)
OPUN(0 Ut PRSN IPRISNEQ X01.q AAC ANDHD S PUR YH

S100p PUR SMOPUW PAZRld 21GNOP PaLRl WNUKLINR A6 Yiep ‘Patead Jopwod JBISaK0d

PRISINEQ [N 10 101 420 EPPIN60D WO RISINOY

!
(RANPOU WALQSY XOG0R) DUPP> WINUKUN@ [ARA

EEPEPEIPREE R

uoneayddy
Buwiueld 10j Swosiey
2104 €0 Pajep Jala|
dde-aid 0) asuodsay
uoissiuqng Buiuuely
wawdojeraq ubiseq
uonduosag

8LSOLE a
L0V 2
418040 k]
ne06c v
e)led  ON

ONUVAO SIHL WO GTIVOS 36 OL SNOISIGING O

Gk A

40 YHOM SNNIINOO HO SO YEAO dONS SNV 30538
345 NOSNOSNIWG T1 A% R3A S SOLOVMLNCO L

002 - L
uoneAs|3 yHoN pasodoud

Page 109

ooz}
uoneas|3 jse3 pasodoid

o
u




R DERIO M ToA ERIODULTE e
567 -
2L O LT YEZLOZORL B 11 PLOT 0501 K0 0

00z : | 00k 1
L1om01 seq WL QIHOIHO A3y ueld Jooy 9-9 uol}08g pasodold
Luovor ska oM ‘Nmwvda

WO paimpuISy 308
_—
v €00S¥d/500-213 *‘
A3y oN ONIMVIA ﬁ

Bupting 1aAU0D 40 Jea o) dySuonE(RY Ilg |
HH '9-9 '+ suogoes pesodoig
“ONIMVEa

5 |
QLT SLNIWLSIANI LSHNHINIA il N ///
AAN3NO { NN
N

bvgmo.ﬂ\ﬂﬁth@a:mz_“bm_dzm | // ///%/////,//// /// \
nihnnunm

R —— ) iy

PRI SN 100G UM AR R
UMOUS Se BUPING 1USAU0D C) SMOPUA
£

00b -V ﬂ 00 * )
H-H uopoag 4-4 uondag pasodoid

0w

-
%16 _,l

e s s s an s

\ waoum paro

PEBEL

88881

Page 110

uonedyddy
Buuueld ojswiseY  8LSOLL Y =
uonduosaqg 8jegd ON

IAC SIHLROW GVGS 38 0L SNOSIENG Cl
40 YHOM ONCIGIWCO O SN VO dONS ENIXWN 038
'S5 NOSNOSNWG T1W A 83A LS BOLOVELNGO L




Development Management Committee Item 8

7th November 2018

Report No.PLN1829
Section C

The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the
date of preparation, which is more than two weeks in advance of the Committee meeting.
Because of these time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comment. Any changes or necessary
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

Case Officer
Application No.
Date Valid

Expiry date of
consultations

Proposal

Address
Ward
Applicant
Agent

Recommendation

David Stevens
18/00481/FULPP
23rd August 2018

3rd October 2018

Retention of 6 retail units on the ground floor and conversion of the
upper floors and a two-storey extension range to the rear into a total
of 7 flats (comprising 4 X 1-bedroom and 3 X 2-bedroom units) at
182-192 Victoria Road; conversion of existing warehouse building
into 4 X 1-bedroom flats on upper floors and provision of a parking
and bin-store area on the ground floor with vehicular access
opened up to Union Terrace at the Old Warehouse; demolition of
the single-storey garage block adjoining the OIld Warehouse
backing onto Union Terrace and erection of a new-build 4-storey
extension attached to the side of the Old Warehouse building to
provide a further 3 X 2-bedroom flats, one each on the upper floors
(14 flats in total); and provision of parking spaces, bin stores and
landscape planting in Star Yard

Upper Union Terrace And 182 To 192 Victoria Road Aldershot
Wellington

Jepsam Properties Limited

Mr Chanto Foo

Grant

Description & Relevant History

The application site is of an irregular shape, measures 0.1 hectares and is located in a
corner position at the junction of Victoria Road with Cross Street. The application site is an
assembly of three separate adjoining properties:-

(a) Old Star Offices building (Nos.182-192 Victoria Road) : this is an extended three-
storey building containing six commercial units on the ground floor fronting Victoria
Road, including “Woodys” Café/Takeaway on the corner; together with “Johney
Gurkhas” restaurant, a barber shop and three other shop units. The upper floors were
previously offices occupied by the Star Newspaper; and there is also further
vacant/surplus accommodation over two-storeys to the rear.

Page 111



(b) 3 Cross Street :a small single-storey building last used as a takeaway hot food outlet
located to the rear of building (a) above, from which it is separated by a narrow private
driveway and some parking spaces leading from Cross Street to ‘Star Yard’, a private
courtyard, to the west. To the north of ‘Star Yard’ is...

(c) The Old Warehouse : this is a three-storey former commercial building previously
understood to have been in mixed B8 (storage and distribution) and B1(a) (Office)
use. The building is current vacant and stripped-out following compliance with an
Enforcement Notice upheld at appeal in September 2016 relating to the unauthorised
conversion and use of the building as multiple bedsitting units. Between the side of the
Old Warehouse and the rear of No.3 Cross Street are a number of lock-up garages,
some with doors opening into ‘Star Yard’ and others into Upper Union Terrace to the
rear.

‘Star Yard’ has an existing vehicular entrance from Victoria Road between No0s.188-192 and
the vacant offices at ‘Willow House’ No.23 Grosvenor Road. Although ‘Star Yard’ can
accommodate a small amount of parking, this is severely constrained by the need to
maintain access to adjoining properties using the Yard, and also to provide for servicing of
the existing commercial uses.

The application site is surrounded largely by commercial buildings. To the west ‘Star Yard’
abuts ‘Willow House’ No.23 Grosvenor Road, a vacant office building at the corner of
Grosvenor Road and Victoria Road. To the rear of ‘Willow House’ and as a continuation of
‘Star Yard’ is a small lightwell area that is also to the rear of residential flats at Katherine
Court and Whitley Court. To the north the site adjoins the south side of Upper Union Terrace,
with properties fronting Union Street (N0s.5-15 odd inclusive). There is a small Council pay
and display car park at the corner of Upper Union Terrace and Cross Street adjoining the
north-east corner of the application site, together with a electricity sub-station immediately to
the rear of No.3 Cross Street on land that lies outside the site. Cross Street bounds the
application site to the east, with the Wellington Centre multi-storey car park on the opposite
side of the road. The ramped access road to the Wellington Centre service area is opposite
No.3 Cross Street. To the south of the application site on the opposite side of Victoria Road
is mixed commercial frontage with residential and commercial uses over.

The proposals the subject of the application have been subject to a number of amendments
since the application was originally submitted seeking to address consultee comments and
also objections raised by the owners of ‘Willow House’. The proposals are as follows:-

A. Old Star Offices building (N0s.182-192 Victoria Road) : retention of 6 retail units on the
ground floor and conversion of the upper floors and a two-storey extension range to the rear
into a total of 7 flats (comprising 4 X 1-bedroom and 3 X 2-bedroom units);

B. Old Warehouse Building : Residential conversion involving the provision of 5 parking
spaces and a cycle-store area on the ground floor with vehicular access from Upper Union
Terrace, together with the creation of 4 X 1-bedroom flats on the existing upper floors. The
proposals would involve some alterations to the exterior of the building, most notably to
create the parking spaces at ground floor level, which involves the formation of a structural
opening spanning almost the entire width of the ground floor elevations facing ‘Star Yard’ and
Upper Union Terrace. These openings are shown to be brick finished and to have shallow-
arched brick string courses. The applicants have confirmed that the structural elements (such
as steel beams) needed to construct the openings would be covered. All upper-floor windows
are shown to be fitted with decorative metal railings that could accommodate window basket

Page 112



planters;

C. Adjoining lock-up garages : Demolition of the garages and erection of a 4-storey
extension to the Old Warehouse building to provide a further 3 X 2-bedroom flats, one on
each of the upper floors. The ground floor space of the proposed extension is shown to be
open to both the front (into ‘Star Yard’) and rear (into Upper Union Terrace) to provide 8
parking spaces : 4 spaces facing each way. The elevations of the proposed extension would
match those of the Old Warehouse itself, including the fitment of decorative metal railings.
The east end elevation of the proposed extension is shown to incorporate inset balconies;
and,

D. No.3 Cross Street : Demolition of the existing A5 takeaway premises at 3 Cross Street to
provide a bin store area and a further pair of parking spaces;

In addition to some parking spaces to be provided within ‘Star Yard’, a total of 19 on-site
parking spaces are shown to be provided with the proposed development. Of these, 14
spaces are shown to be allocated to the proposed flats (1 space per unit), 4 spaces to the
existing shops fronting Victoria Road in the ‘Star Office’ building; and the single remaining
parking space as a visitor space.

The parking areas at the Old Warehouse and its proposed extension are shown to be
enclosed with decorative railings. In the case of those spaces in the ground floor area of the
Old Warehouse, the railings fence off the bin and cycle store areas from the parking spaces,
with the bin and cycle store area reached from ‘Star Yard’ to the front of the building only.
The pedestrian door into the flats within the Old Warehouse is solely from Upper Union
Terrace. In the case of the proposed extension to the Old Warehouse, four parking spaces
are shown to be provided entered from Upper Union Terrace, and four spaces semi-
recessed under the extension projecting into ‘Star Yard’. A railing would be provided between
these rows of parking spaces to prevent vehicles gaining access to and from ‘Star Yard’ via
the parking area. Pedestrian access to the flats within the proposed extension would be via a
staircase into the corner of ‘Star Yard’ at the east end of the new building.

The proposed scheme shows space to the side of ‘Star Yard’ to enable a vehicular entrance
route to be provided to the adjoining vacant office premises at ‘Willow House'.

The application is accompanied by a Design, Access & Heritage Statement, a Bat Survey
Report, a Surface Water Strategy Report, a protected Species Walkover Survey Report and
a Desk Study/Preliminary Risk Assessment Site Investigation Report.

The applicants have completed a s106 Planning Obligation to secure financial contributions
in respect of SPA mitigation and avoidance and public open space as required by adopted
Development Plan policies.

Consultee Responses

HCC Highways Development No highway objections subject to conditions. No Transport

Planning Contribution is required because the traffic generation of the
proposed development is not considered likely to be
significantly greater than that of the existing lawful uses.

Operations Manager More information required.
(Domestic Bin Collection)

Page 113



Environmental Health No objections subject to conditions and informatives.

Parks Development Officer Identifies projects to which a Public Open Space contribution
would be appropriate.

Conservation Team No objection in principle, subject to the removal of railings to
the windows and the use of punctuated or recessed
balconies instead for better design.

Natural England No objection subject to the necessary SPA financial
contribution being secured with a s106 Planning Obligation.

Thames Water No objection provided the developer follows the sequential
approach to the disposal of surface water.

Hampshire & I.0.W. Wildlife No comments received during the consultation period,
Trust thereby presumed to have no objections.

Lead Local Flood Authorities More information/clarification required concerning the
surface water drainage flow rates.

Hampshire Fire & Rescue No objections and provides generic advice concerning fire

Service precautions and requirements.

Crime Prevention Design No objections, but makes a number of observations about

Advisor the design of the proposed scheme from a crime prevention
perspective for the applicants’ information and attention as
necessary.

Neighbours notified

In addition to posting a site notice and press advertisement, 124 individual letters of
notification were sent to properties in Victoria Road, Grosvenor Road (including Whitley
Court), Union Street, Upper Union Street, Union Terrace, Frederick Street and the Wellington
Centre, including all properties adjoining the application site.

Neighbour comments

Consultants on behalf of the Objection : The planning application includes a site plan that
owners of the adjoining shows a number of parking spaces and landscaping strips
property at Willow House, 23 being created within the Star Yard area. However these
Grosvenor Road proposals are not legally implementable, because the
owners of Willow House benefit from a right of access and
egress over the whole of the Star Yard area to enable them
to gain access to their adjoining property. All of the
obstructions, including parking bays and landscaping strips,
need to be removed from the plans, which will mean that the
application proposal should include far fewer parking bays
and no landscaping.
[Officer Note: These objections were passed on to the
applicants for their attention and have resulted in the
submission of amended plans for the scheme that retain a
route of access to Willow House across Star Yard, together

Page 114



with a revised parking layout for the current proposed
development.]

Aldershot Civic Society Objection : The proposals are incompatible with the access
required for the adjacent Willow House property, the owners
of which have applied for planning permission (application
ref.18/00251/FULPP). The main problem area being that of
an unrealistic shared vehicular access through the yard
space that needs to be utilised by both sites. Also the
proposed parking layout looks unworkable in such a
confined area, especially where double ranked. We agree
that the site does need redeveloping, but with more thought
to the local conditions.

[Officer Note: The planning application in respect of Willow
House was considered by Committee in July 2018 and
planning permission was refused.]

Policy and determining issues

The site is located within the town centre area of Aldershot and directly adjacent, but outside,
the boundary of the Aldershot West Conservation Area. Adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy
(November 2011) Policies CP1 (Sustainable Development Principles), CP2 (Design and
Heritage), CP3 (Renewable Energy and Sustainable Construction), CP4 (Surface Water
Flooding), CP5 (Meeting Housing Needs and Housing Mix), CP8 (Supporting Economic
Development); CP10 (Infrastructure Provision), CP11 (Green Infrastructure Network), CP12
(Open Space, Sport and Recreation), CP13 (Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area),
CP15 (Biodiversity), CP16 (Reducing and Managing Travel Demand), and CP17 (Investing in
Transport) are relevant to the consideration of the current proposals.

A number of older Local Plan policies continue to be ‘saved’ and remain in use for the time
being until they are replaced by future tranches of Local Development Framework
documents. In this respect, Local Plan Policies ENV17 (general development criteria),
ENV35 (development adjoining Conservation Areas), TR10 (highways considerations),
OR4/0ORA4.1 (public open space) and H14 (amenity space) are relevant.

Also relevant are the Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs)
"Housing Density and Design" and "Sustainable Design and Construction” both adopted in
April 2006; "Transport Contributions' adopted in April 2008; and “Parking Standards” adopted
in 2017. Since these documents were subject to extensive public consultation and
consequent amendment before being adopted by the Council, some significant weight can
be attached to the requirements of these documents. The advice contained in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) is also
relevant.

The New Rushmoor Local Plan 2014 to 2032 contains emerging policies that are relevant to
the consideration of the current application. It has now reached an advanced stage of
preparation. Proposed main modifications to the Plan are, at the time of writing this report,
subject to public consultation following receipt of the Inspector’s provisional findings after the
Local Plan Inquiry held in May 2018. It is currently anticipated that the New Local Plan will be
formally adopted in early 2019. However, where there is now no reason for any changes to
be made to the policies and content of the Plan because no modifications are being
recommended and/or there is no difference in the policy approach currently taken with the
Core Strategy, the new Plan can now be considered to carry some weight in the

Page 115



consideration of planning applications. Where this is the case, this will be noted in the
following Commentary section of this Report.

Core Strategy Policy CP6 requires, subject to viability, provision of 35% affordable housing
with developments of 15 or more net dwellings. However, since the scheme proposes 14
additional units, the requirements of this policy do not apply in this case. In this context, the
key determining issues are considered to be:

. The Principle of the proposals;

. Design and Visual Impact;

. Impact on Neighbours;

. The Living Environment Provided;

. Highways Considerations;

. Impact on Wildlife;

. Drainage Issues;

. Renewable Energy and Sustainability; and
. Public Open Space.

OCO~NOOUIDEWNE

Commentary
1. Principle -

The proposals seek to re-use a vacant and unused commercial property in Aldershot Town
Centre area. The proposed development is therefore clearly seeking to make more efficient
use of previously developed land, which, within reason, continues to be a clear objective of
both Government planning guidance and local planning policy. This approach is also
acknowledged in the Council’s Supplementary Planning Document "Housing Density and
Design" published in April 2006.

Since the site has the potential to contain some contaminated ground as a result of its long-
standing commercial uses, and the proposed residential use is one that would be vulnerable
to contact with contamination in undeveloped areas (such as within landscape planting
areas) the applicants have undertaken an initial site investigation which concludes that the
site has a moderate to low risk in terms of potential ground contamination. The Council’s
Contaminated Land Officer is satisfied with the approach and conclusions of this work, which
identifies the scope for further investigation. No objection is raised subject to the imposition
of the usual planning conditions to require the further site investigation work to be undertaken
and for any remedial works to be implemented and verified as appropriate.

Core Strategy Policy CP8 seeks the retention of B-Class uses except where it can be
demonstrated that there is no demand for the site. In this case the property has been unused
for a significant period of time and Core Strategy Policy SP3 does support the development
of good quality housing that would contribute to the vitality of the town centre. In the
circumstances, it is considered that the proposals are acceptable in principle (subject to all
usual development control issues being satisfactorily resolved in detail) since the proposals
are clearly in line with Government objectives and the Council’s own adopted planning
policies.

2. Visual Impact -
The site is not within a Conservation Area, although the north boundary of the application site

with Upper Union Terrace forms part of the boundary of the Aldershot West Conservation
Area. The application site does not adjoin any Listed Buildings. The vicinity has a mixed

Page 116



densely urbanised character typical of a town centre, with a variety of land uses and
buildings of different types, ages, conventional external materials and extensions and
alterations.

It is necessary to consider the visual impact of the proposed development harm over and
above any harm already considered to be caused by the existing buildings and site. The
application property has a poor appearance and gives Aldershot a poor image. The site also
has an existing unrestricted commercial use, which, if used to its full potential, would be likely
to impact negatively, and potentially significantly, upon the visual character and amenity of
the locality. It is therefore considered that there are potential advantages to the character and
appearance of the area that arise from the proposed re-development, which would involve
the significant refurbishment and cosmetic improvement of the application buildings and the
change of use away from commercial use.

The principal changes to the visual appearance of the site other than the general
improvements to the external appearance and use of existing buildings, are the demolition of
existing buildings (No.3 Cross Street and the adjoining lock-up garages), the proposed
extension to the side of the Old Warehouse, and the opening-up of the ground floor rear
elevation of the Old Warehouse building into Upper Union Terrace. It is considered that the
proposed demolition would remove structures in a poor state and appearance which make
no positive contribution to the character and appearance of the area. The proposed
extension is designed to match the external appearance of the Old Warehouse. Whilst Upper
Union Terrace is within the Aldershot West Conservation Area, the service road to the rear of
other properties is not a portion of the Conservation Area that is readily visible to the public. It
is not a readily visible location within the Conservation Area and does not make a significant
contribution to the visual character and appearance of the area. Overall, it is considered that
the proposals would result in a significant cosmetic improvement to the appearance of the
application site.

3. Impact on neighbours -

The operation of the existing lawful and unrestricted commercial uses at the site has the
potential to have substantially more impact on neighbours than is currently the case. The
removal of the existing unrestricted commercial uses would result in a significant general
improvement in the amenities of adjoining and nearby residential properties. The physical
presence of the existing Old Warehouse building, which is both tall, bulky and utilitarian in
appearance, clearly also has an existing impact upon neighbours.

The application site has residential neighbours primarily to the west and north sides at
Katherine Court, Whitley Court and above some of the ground floor commercial properties on
Union Street. There are also residential properties on the upper floors of buildings on the
opposite side of Victoria Road. Whilst the proposals would result in the creation of residential
dwelling units at upper floor levels in buildings that have not previously been in authorised
residential use, it is considered that the design of the proposals, in combination with the
degree of separation and the orientation of the buildings, provides acceptable relationships
with all its residential neighbours. It is not considered that there would be any material and
undue impacts upon non-residential neighbouring property. No representations have been
received from any neighbours to the proposed development with the exception of the rights
of access issue raised by owners of ‘Willow House’.

The application proposals have been amended as a result of the receipt of the objections

raised by the owners of ‘Willow House’. This objection is simply addressed by showing a
vehicular access route through ‘Star Yard'.

Page 117



It is considered that the proposed development would have an acceptable impact upon
neighbours.

4. The living environment created -

All the proposed flats would provide accommodation meeting the Government minimum
internal floorspace standards appropriate for their level of occupancy. Whilst the proposals
are unable to provide on-site amenity space, this is not unusual with town centre residential
property. The internal layout of a development is a functional matter between a developer
and his client and is to some extent covered by the Building Regulations. It is a matter for
prospective purchasers/occupiers to decide whether they choose to live in the proposed
development. Nevertheless, it is considered that the living environment created would be
acceptable.

5. Highways considerations -

Despite the extent and floorspace of the existing commercial property at the application site,
limited on-site parking is available, which is restricted solely to ‘Star Yard’ and to the side of
the access road alongside No0.3 Cross Street. The submitted existing plans indicate that
perhaps 10 spaces are available on-site, however this does not take account of the rights of
way for ‘Willow House’ that would compromise the ability to provide all of this parking. As a
result, it is considered that there is the clear potential for overspill on-street parking problems
to arise were unrestricted commercial use of the property to resume, which could happen
without the need for planning permission. Given that the area has existing on-street parking
congestion problems (because many properties have no on-site parking) it is clearly
preferable that this ‘fall-back position’ is discouraged. It is considered that the proposal offers
the opportunity to remove existing uses that have the clear potential to generate significant
problems for occupiers/users of property in the vicinity in highways terms.

By contrast, the proposed development makes provision for on-site parking at a level and
arrangement (as amended by plans received 7 September 2018) that the Highway Authority
(Hampshire County Council) considers to be acceptable. One on-site parking space is
provided for each of the proposed flats, plus a visitor space, and four spaces allocated for the
retained commercial units fronting Victoria Road. In this respect the proposals accord with
the Council’'s adopted parking standards. The additional on-site parking spaces are achieved
by creating space at ground floor level within the Old Warehouse and the proposed
extension, most of which would have access into Upper Union Terrace.

The proposals would continue to use the existing vehicular access to Victoria Road and, as
such, there would be no loss of existing on-street parking spaces outside the application
property. The proposed access from new parking spaces into Upper Union Street would not
result in the loss of street parking since the margin of the application site abutting this service
road is subject to double-yellow parking restrictions. The proposed access from Upper Union
Terrace is considered to be acceptable.

Arrangements for cycle parking and the storage and collection of refuse and recycling for the
premises are identified with the application. In this respect the Operations Manager
(Domestic Bin Collection) advises that the bin storage areas are too small for the number of
bins that they need to accommodate. However it is considered that there is space within the
layout of the proposed development for this to be remedied and, as such, imposition of a
suitably worded condition is considered appropriate to deal with this matter.

Page 118



No Transport Contribution can be justified in this case given that the proposed development
is considered likely to generate less traffic than would arise from the resumption of the
commercial uses.

It is considered that the proposals are acceptable in highways terms.
6. Impact on Wildlife -

Following the receipt of information from the applicants, the Council has undertaken an
Appropriate Assessment of the proposals under Regulation 63(1) of the Habitats
Regulations. This has concluded that the proposals would, in combination with other plans
and projects, be likely to have a significant effect on the integrity of the Thames Basin Heaths
SPA. However, having reached this conclusion, in order to be lawfully permitted, the
proposed development it has then been necessary for the applicant to secure a package of
avoidance and mitigation measures.

In this respect, the Rushmoor Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Interim
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy comprises two elements. Firstly the maintenance of
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) at Rowhill Copse in order to divert
additional recreational pressure away from the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection
Area (TBHSPA) and secondly the maintenance of a range of Strategic Access Management
and Monitoring Measures to avoid displacing visitors from one part of the TBHSPA to
another and to minimize the impact of visitors on the TBHSPA. The proposal meets the
criteria against which requests to allocate capacity at the Rowhill Copse SANG will be
considered.

In accordance with the strategy, the applicant has provided a financial contribution of
£64,328.00 to provide and maintain the SANG at Rowhill Copse and in respect of SAMMSs by
way of a s106 planning obligation. Natural England raises no objection to proposals for new
residential development in the form of Standing Advice provided that it is in accordance with
the above strategy. The necessary s106 Undertaking has been completed in this respect.
The proposal is therefore considered to have an acceptable impact on the Thames Basin
Heaths Special Protection Area and to comply with the requirements of Core Strategy
Policies CP11 and CP13.

According to the submitted Preliminary Bat Survey Report the application property has
negligible potential to host roosting bats. Nevertheless, it is recommended that any works at
the property are undertaken outside the bird nesting season (March to September inclusive)
or the building must be checked for nesting birds immediately prior to any works
commencing — and no works be undertaken if an occupied nest is found. Much of the pigeon
debris was cleared from the building prior to the commencement of this year’s bird nesting
season. In the circumstances, it is considered appropriate that an informative be used to
remind the applicant of the requirements of the Wildlife & Countryside Act with respect to any
protected wildlife species encountered on site.

7. Sustainable Development and Renewable Energy -
Policy CP3 requires applicants proposing new dwellings to demonstrate how they have
incorporated sustainable construction standards and techniques into the development to

achieve, subject to viability, at least Code Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes.

Following the Royal Assent of the Deregulation Bill 2015 (on 26 March 2015) the
Government's current policy position is that planning permissions should no longer be

Page 119



granted requiring or subject to conditions requiring compliance with any technical housing
standards such as the Code for Sustainable Homes. This is other than for those areas (such
as Rushmoor) where Councils have existing policies referring to the attainment of such
standards. In the case of Rushmoor this means that we can still require energy performance
in accordance with Code Level 4 as set out in Policy CP3 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy.

Nevertheless, since the proposals are largely for the change of use of existing buildings, it is
not considered that the requirements of this policy are applicable and, indeed, could only be
sought in respect of the new-build flats created within the proposed extension in any event.
The application does not address this matter, although such measures may be secured by
way of a planning condition.

8. Surface Water Drainage -

The site is identified as being land at the lowest risk of flooding. Notwithstanding the
requirements of Core Strategy Policy CP4, it is considered that the proposal would not
worsen the existing situation with regard to surface water drainage from this site given that
the site is already developed with 100% site coverage, mainly by the existing buildings.
Nevertheless, whilst, the proposals offer limited scope to change or improve this situation,
the applicants indicate that some SUDS measures are to be incorporated into the proposed
development that would marginally improve the situation. Accordingly, it is considered that,
subject to the usual condition, the proposals are acceptable having regard to Policy CP4.

9. Public open space -

The Local Plan seeks to ensure that adequate open space provision is made to cater for
future residents in connection with new residential developments. Core Strategy Policy CP10
and saved Local Plan Policies OR4 and OR4.1 allow provision to be made on the site, or in
appropriate circumstances, a contribution to be made towards upgrading facilities nearby.
The policy does not set a threshold of a particular number of dwellings or size of site above
which the provision is required. The site is not big enough to accommodate anything other
than the development proposed and any associated landscape planting.

This is a circumstance where a contribution (in this case £23,600.00 towards the off-site
provision of the POS comprising landscaping and infrastructure improvements at Princes
Gardens, Aldershot (£12,319.20); playground surfacing refurbishments at Municipal
Gardens, Aldershot (£9,180.40); and ball court refurbishments at Municipal Gardens,
Aldershot (£2,100.40) secured by way of a planning obligation is appropriate. The applicant
has completed and submitted a satisfactory s106 Agreement in this respect. As such, the
proposal is considered to be acceptable within the terms of Core Strategy Policies CP10,
CP11 and CP12 and saved Local Plan Policy ORA4.

Conclusions

The proposals are considered acceptable in principle, would have no material and harmful
impact upon the visual character and appearance of the area and the adjoining Aldershot
West Conservation Area, have no material and adverse impact on neighbours, would provide
an acceptable living environment and are acceptable in highway terms. On the basis of the
provision of a contribution towards the Rowhill Copse SPA mitigation scheme, the proposals
are considered to have no significant impact upon the nature conservation interest and
objectives of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area. The proposals are thereby
considered acceptable having regard to Policies CP2, CP5, CP8, CP10, CP11, CP12, CP13,

Page 120



CP15, CP16 and CP17 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy and saved Local Plan Policies
ENV17, ENV35, TR10, OR4/OR4.1 and H14.

Full Recommendation

It is recommended that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions
and informatives:-

1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of one year
from the date of this permission.

Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to reflect
the objectives of the Council's Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
Avoidance and Mitigation Strategy as amended July 2014 and to accord with the
resolution of Rushmoor's Cabinet on 17 June 2014 in respect of Planning Report no
PLN1420.

The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the following
approved drawings - C T Foo Associates Drawing Nos. 1/30 REV.D, 2/30 REV.D,
3/30, 4/30, 5/30, 6/30, 7/30, 8/30, 9/30 REV.A, 10/30 REV.A, 11/30 REV.A,
12/30 REV.A, 13/30 REV.A, 14/30 REV.B, 15/30 REV.A, 16/30, 17/30, 18/30
REV.B, 19/30 REV.B, 20/30 REV.D, 21/30 REV.D, 22/30 REV.D, 23/30 REV.D,
24/30 REV.C, 25/30 REV.B, 26/30 REV.B, 27/30 REV.B, 28/30 REV.A, 29/30
REV.A, 30/30, & 31/31; and Design, Access & Heritage Statement; Protected Species
Walkover Survey; Bat Survey Report; Surface Water Strategy Report; and Site
Investigation Report.

Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the
permission granted.

Notwithstanding any indication of materials which may have been given in the
application, or in the absence of such information, construction of the following
elements of the development hereby approved [the external walls, roofing materials,
window frames/glazing, decorative window and balcony balustrade railings, rainwater
goods, and any new external hard-surfacing materials] shall not start until a schedule
and/or samples of the materials to be used in them have been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Those elements of the
development shall be carried out using the materials so approved and thereafter
retained.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory external appearance to the development. *

Prior to occupation or use of the development hereby approved, screen and boundary
walls, fences, hedges or other means of enclosure shall be installed in accordance
with details to be first submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed and retained in accordance with
the details so approved.

Reason - To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring property. *

The dwelling units hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the parking spaces,

Page 121



bicycle storage and bin storage areas shown on the approved plans have been
constructed, surfaced and made available to occupiers of, and visitors to, the
development; in the case of parking spaces in accordance with the scheme of
allocation indicated on the approved plans. Thereafter these facilities shall be kept
available at all times for their intended purposes and allocation as shown on the
approved plans. Furthermore, the parking spaces shall not be used at any time for the
parking/storage of boats, caravans or trailers.

Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the provision, allocation and
retention of adequate off-street car and bicycle parking, servicing, and bin storage
within the development. *

Provision shall be made for services to be placed underground. No overhead wire or
cables or other form of overhead servicing shall be placed over or used in the
development of the application site.

Reason - In the interests of visual amenity.

Construction or demolition work of any sort within the area covered by the application
shall only take place between the hours of 0800-1800 on Monday to Fridays and
0800-1300 on Saturdays. No work at all shall take place on Sundays and Bank or
Statutory Holidays.

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and to
prevent adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity.

Prior to the first occupation of the flats hereby permitted, details for a communal
aerial/satellite dish/fibre-optic system shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The new flats hereby permitted shall not be occupied
until the approved scheme has been installed and made operational.

Reason - In the interest of the visual amenity of the area by avoiding the unnecessary
proliferation of aerial/satellite dish installations on the building.

Prior to the commencement of development (including any demolition) a Construction
Management Plan to be adopted for the duration of the construction period shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details
required in this respect shall include:

(@) the provision to be made for the parking and turning on site of operatives and
construction vehicles during construction and fitting out works;

(b) the means and measures to be taken to control noise, dust, vibration, smoke
and other emissions arising from the implementation of the development;

(©) the arrangements to be made for the delivery of all building and other materials
to the site, including construction servicing/delivery routes;

(d) the provision to be made for any storage of building and other materials on site;

(e)  measures to prevent mud from being deposited on the highway;

)] the programme for construction; and

(g) the protective hoarding/enclosure of the site.

Such measures as may subsequently be approved shall be retained at all times as
specified until all construction and fitting out works have been completed.

Page 122



10

11

12

Reason - In the interests of the amenity, safety and convenience of adjoining and
nearby residential properties and the safety and convenience of highway users. *

Site clearance and works to implement the permission hereby permitted shall be
undertaken in accordance with the recommendations of the AEWC Ltd. Protected
Species Walkover Survey and Bat Survey Reports dated 14 June 2018 hereby
approved.

Reason - In the interests of protected wildlife.

No construction works pursuant to this permission, including the excavation and
installation/construction of foundations for the new building hereby approved, shall
commence until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority: -

I. a desk top study carried out by a competent person documenting all previous
and existing uses of the site and adjoining land, and potential for
contamination, with information on the environmental setting including known
geology and hydrogeology. This report should contain a conceptual model,
identifying potential contaminant pollutant linkages.

il. if identified as necessary; a site investigation report documenting the extent,
scale and nature of contamination, ground conditions of the site and
incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk
top study.

iii. if identified as necessary; a detailed scheme for remedial works and measures
shall be undertaken to avoid risk from contaminants/or gas identified by the site
investigation when the site is developed and proposals for future maintenance
and monitoring, along with verification methodology. Such scheme to include
nomination of a competent person to oversee and implement the works.

Where step iii) above is implemented, following completion of the measures identified
in the approved remediation scheme a verification report that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the
interests of amenity and pollution prevention.*

In the event that unforeseen ground conditions or materials which suggest potential or
actual contamination are revealed at any time during implementation of the approved
development it must be reported, in writing, immediately to the Local Planning
Authority. A competent person must undertake a risk assessment and assess the
level and extent of the problem and, where necessary, prepare a report identifying
remedial action which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority before the measures are implemented. Following completion of
measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification report must be
prepared and is subject to approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the
interests of amenity and pollution prevention.

Page 123



13

14

15

16

Prior to the installation of drainage, details of measures to incorporate Sustainable
Drainage Systems (SUDS) into the new built development in accordance with the
proposals and recommendations outlined in the Innervision Design Surface Water
Strategy Report dated May 2018 hereby approved shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details as may be approved shall be
implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the new-build dwelling units hereby
permitted and retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP4 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy. *

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a bat box shall be
installed integrated into the new development in accordance with details which have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Furthermore, any scheme of external lighting to be installed shall be bat friendly. The
installations in this respect shall subsequently be retained thereafter.

Reason - To ensure biodiversity gain in line with emerging Policy NE4 of the New
Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032). *

Prior to the first occupation of any of the new-build dwellings hereby permitted, details
of measures to achieve the energy performance standards in accordance with Code
Level 4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes or equivalent for each of these dwellings
hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Such details as may be approved shall be implemented in full prior to the
first occupation of the dwelling(s) to which they relate and retained in perpetuity.

Reason - To reflect the objectives of Policy CP3 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy. *

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until measures to protect the
dwellings from internal and external noise (as appropriate) have been implemented in
accordance with a scheme to include, for example, acoustic double-glazing and
ventilation and acoustic insulation which has been first submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect the amenity of the occupiers of the development. *

INFORMATIVES

INFORMATIVE - REASONS FOR APPROVAL- The Council has granted permission
because:-

The proposals are considered acceptable in principle, would have no material and
harmful impact upon the visual character and appearance of the area and the
adjoining Aldershot West Conservation Area, have no material and adverse impact on
neighbours, would provide an acceptable living environment and are acceptable in
highway terms. On the basis of the provision of a contribution towards the Rowhill
Copse SPA mitigation scheme, the proposals are considered to have no significant
impact upon the nature conservation interest and objectives of the Thames Basin

Page 124



Heaths Special Protection Area. The proposals are thereby considered acceptable
having regard to Policies CP2, CP5, CP8, CP10, CP11, CP12, CP13, CP15, CP16
and CP17 of the Rushmoor Core Strategy and saved Local Plan Policies ENV17,
ENV35, TR10, OR4/OR4.1 and H14.

It is therefore considered that subject to compliance with the attached conditions, and
taking into account all other material planning considerations, including the provisions
of the development plan, the proposal would be acceptable. This also includes a
consideration of whether the decision to grant permission is compatible with the
Human Rights Act 1998.

INFORMATIVE - This permission is subject to a planning obligation under Section 106
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

INFORMATIVE - Your attention is specifically drawn to the conditions marked *.
These condition(s) require the submission of details, information, drawings etc. to the
Local Planning Authority BEFORE a certain stage is reached in the development.
Failure to meet these requirements is in contravention of the terms of the permission
and the Council may take enforcement action to secure compliance. As of April 2008
submissions seeking to submit details pursuant to conditions or requests for
confirmation that conditions have been complied with must be accompanied by the
appropriate fee.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is recommended to achieve maximum energy

efficiency and reduction of Carbon Dioxide emissions by:

a) ensuring the design and materials to be used in the construction of the building
are consistent with these aims; and

b) using renewable energy sources for the production of electricity and heat using
efficient and technologically advanced equipment.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised to contact the Recycling and Waste

Management section at Rushmoor Borough Council on 01252 398164 with regard to

providing bins for refuse and recycling. The bins should be:

1) provided prior to the occupation of the properties;

2) compatible with the Council's collection vehicles, colour scheme and
specifications;

3) appropriate for the number of occupants they serve;

4) fit into the development's bin storage facilities.

INFORMATIVE - Measures should be taken to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the
site during construction works being deposited on the public highway throughout the
construction period.

INFORMATIVE - No materials produced as a result of site preparation, clearance, or
development should be burnt on site. Please contact the Council's Environmental
Health Team for advice.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised that during the construction phase of the
development measures should be employed to contain and minimise dust emissions,
to prevent their escape from the development site onto adjoining properties. For
further information, please contact the Council's Environmental Health Team.

INFORMATIVE - It is a legal requirement to notify Thames Water of any proposed

Page 125



10

11

12

connection to a public sewer. In many parts of its sewerage area, Thames Water
provides separate public sewers for foul water and surface water. Within these areas
a dwelling should have separate connections: a) to the public foul sewer to carry
waste from toilets, sinks and washing machines, etc, and b) to public surface water
sewer for rainwater from roofs and surface drains. Mis-connections can have serious
effects: i) If a foul sewage outlet is connected to a public surface water sewer this
may result in pollution of a watercourse. i) If a surface water outlet is connected to a
public foul sewer, when a separate surface water system or soakaway exists, this may
cause overloading of the public foul sewer at times of heavy rain. This can lead to
sewer flooding of properties within the locality. In both instances it is an offence to
make the wrong connection. Thames Water can help identify the location of the
nearest appropriate public sewer and can be contacted on 0845 850 2777.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is requested to bring the conditions attached to this
permission to the attention of all contractors working or delivering to the site, in
particular any relating to the permitted hours of construction and demolition; and
where practicable to have these conditions on display at the site entrance(s) for the
duration of the works.

INFORMATIVE - In the UK all species of bats are protected under Schedule 5 of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and under Schedule 2 of the
conservation (Natural Habitats & c¢) Regulations 2004. The grant of planning
permission does not supersede the requirements of this legislation and any
unauthorised works would constitute an offence. If bats or signs of bats are
encountered at any point during development then all works must stop immediately
and you should contact Natural England.

INFORMATIVE - The Local Planning Authority's commitment to working with the
applicants in a positive and proactive way is demonstrated by its offer of pre-
application discussion to all, and assistance in the validation and determination of
applications through the provision of clear guidance regarding necessary supporting
information or amendments both before and after submission, in line with the National
Planning Policy Framework.

Page 126



Government Offices

100.0m

v
—

© Crown Copyright Rights Reserved. Rushmoor Borough Gouncil 100024264 2018

Page 127



. NS 8L0Z-60-S0 1B 21xe 84y 4O [EA0@l B ALDD ‘alc)s exig/sulg |pseBau sjuswpuawe soun a
a uoisiAsy 08/ .joquinu Bumesg 08S1  equnu gop HYTINLVAVNY HIN tjuang NS 8L02-80-91 papuawe adeaspue/Bunied pue Jopiog oul pay os| O
. . NS 8102-80-90 papuawe asnouaiem pig 10j 210N uondiasag g
SNOLLYIND3Y ONIATINE ONV ONINNY1d 504 3OS 38 OL ATNO
NS  :Agqumeg 8L0Z-90-2Z  :oeg 0SZH:1 8 00CT:L @ EVajeas — 3LIS NO 03%03HO 38 OL SNOISNIWIQ T1¥ v 19 g Buippng 12 sje|- awos 10) uoeso|je Bupped ses 10; sebueyd Ecﬁ_ B
' E i oy . oo !_fn.awn o] N -10-1 INg ma ue asnoyaiem 2 e]) 0] S52008 uasmiaq uoljeledo:!
G PRI I 1 UGS pUE (16 100,050 oot ¢} e € 1t SBBESEE P Ao e . RN D = ooty | oy
1 ! | = 1s)
B7Z 1o BulysijowEp pue ( Woopag suo X ¢ Wo0IPag-om] X £ S1e|) L Ol SO0 JO UOISIBAUO) :poalod i |—| V
o Bl

ueld

00¢:| ueld a)s

AVOy VIHO1DIA

nmﬁ FEQBWLIOY Busn 5ang sop

S8 2) SYory ey |

uoneoso pue a)g pasodoid

PEOY BLOJIA
181181 1

\

\
B _Emn,h_um. 6L = e300

wiswidojanan
aimny
; 101 55900y

/
e ]

l}
1
I

L,

-
-

~ -

~

~
X w..;o@%\l\\\\\

|
!

i

i

7

Qo_ummc_mm_*‘_ S
=y

ooax ﬁw‘mc\n\\hﬂmﬂi\mtc

: ;
O E— TR
R NE . =
V2
I 02 T
® :
F 1S ang 13
3 |
iz e
t >

(1001 1) sseB x

(100g+ 10011) 8pkass gx
(I092+1001 1) @801 2 X

{sdoys )

sdoys 1o eIojs ulg

(109¢) sseib L.x
(1001 1) apokoa. Zx
(1001 L) asnjai | x

EEE D

PEOH ENOISIA

Z61-281 10} 210)5 Ul pue Buj

1109€) ssejf |x
8)3A081 (1001 1) X
8snal (1001L) | ¥
el e+v]
uojsualxe
g 10} 91015 Uld

/s \xmﬂ\co_w(w_xw (€ =~

. N \mm|_\w_\._.mn\

APErUL (1 L st
¥ x sdoygz~

X GV
10IA-251-281 (L

=T

el

a

L

(svi1g 01)
syoey
a1g PAUNOW [[BAN

pue jsui Je Sjeyl} / Ojul Sa010

0Scl:| Ueld 8IS

Erzz000L al

8107 Wtindog umosg (o}

anies
s

'Sje|} Wo0Ipag-auo
 apiaaid 0] 8SNOYBIBAN JO UOISIBAUDD -
@oeua] uolun Jaddn -esnoyaiepp PO 941D

‘abelo)s ajoAa pue uiq ‘Buryied

pa]eIDCSSE UM S)el) 8a1U) JO Juswdojeas( -
(soewa) uolun Jaddn) sabelses pue

(yo815 85040 ¢£) doys ezzld Jo uopows( -
@oeuia] uolun 1addn pue jeeng ssoun gt g

abelols ajoAd

pue uig ‘Bupyied pajeoosse yym (Wooipag-auo
X ‘WooIpag-om} £x) J0o|} puUoIas

WO} UOISIaAUQY) -

peoy BUOPIIA Z6L-28L ' W

Page 128



uolsiney

0e/9L waquinu Bumelg

08S1

NS :Aq umesq

8102-90-¢¢ :aeq

lagquinu qop

HYTINLYAVNY HN

B | o]

ZrL LLND ‘aaysduwey Joysiaply ‘PEOY BUOIDIA Z61-281 JB(1B]) LIO0IPS] 8UO X b) S1E|j

0011 @ EVsyeag

SNOLLYINDIH ONIATING ANY ONINNY I ¥O4 037%0S 38 0L AING
31|S NO G3¥)3HD 38 OL SNOISNIWIA TTv

7 0JUl BSNOLBIBAA P[0 JO UOISIBALIOD PUE (1B} WooIpaq oM X ¢) Sje|) € ojul sabeleg pue doyg
©ZZ1d Bulysijowap pue ( WooIpaq auo X ¢ ‘WO0IPAC-OM] X £) SIB|} 2 OJUl S301IJ0 JO UOISISAUD :asioigd

sweynsuoy ubiseq
SVUDIY PRISIELD

: | [ ]

kg

aeq

uorsIAgY | ey

pecy el

(avod VIMOLOIA)

NOILVA3T3 HLNOS d3S0d0dd

=

I0J0IA 261-28) pesodoid

Page 129



D SworstAOY §- ii 80- Loquunu gor §<>§

B ]
NS %qumeig 8102-00-2Z  wawa 004} B E¥opeag kit ﬁsns%violo»!“ilqllo;d& NG| GIOC0050 | P s v ¥ s e S 65w oy o ot povow w6
214 N0 DMNSOWIH YOURREY ‘SR0Y CLOBIA Z65 -2 0L WO0Deq 0UO X 1) S == e NS | @10z909: POSURID 1NOMB] DODSPUT VU | W
rous pue (wy O X ) 5105 € 0ot solesrD puv dous - ..Igaa“— L ueg uopsay | ey
R27, BS10E0P DUB { WOOIDIT DU0 X 3 WOOIDOF-ON X §) S50 2 Ol SIOHO 10 UORIMUOD 0eiond | o imimes = —_— Ir
-
peoy m:o~0_> 261281 pasodolid Sy §¢ SZ &1 S0 ¥ ©
W, 00 WO
WOI We W w wg ug 'y 4 i 0
(wvay)
NOILVA3T13 HLYON 03S0d0¥d
|00 | IR
TS
NN, _r:{ﬂ. _:::J: CICLPrrLTTrrr s L Y 4L1J u:l:...._ B JBEREEEES”
LLITI] 11 LTI
L ij,,rc%,& Fi ey
- T CLLLIILTLTTTIIITT, LLL
. Renpes ...r..:.. s i
TSR LT
‘afies0ys opko

pue e 'Bupped PEIEOSSE UM
{WOOPIG=BUD PX "WOOIPAG=OM)
£X} 200 PUOIDS PUR {8 1€ S0y
4 O SO W) UOJEIBAUOYD) -

PUOY TUOIIA 26128 1 Y

Page 130




0e/6lL

g “uoISIABY uequnu Bulmeig 0851 equnugop

HYTINLYAYNY HN

Zualp

NS  :iqumesq 91029022  =meq 00121 @ EVegjeas

SNOILY INDE ONIDTINE ONY DNINNY 15 B04 031938 98 0L ATHD

uolslhay | joy

5115 ND 03%03H) 38 0L SNOISKAWIO T¥ NS | BL0z-60<0 0B S0EaspuUE] FUE JEIS 1063 91, 0 [EAGUIa1 PapoE 21015 SUld
11 LIS "aysdien JoUsISply ‘BECY BUOIIA Z6L-28L JIE(1B] Wooipsg suo X ¢ sig) T s aiog uljseg NS | gL0Z-00L papusiue nofe| aedospusyBupped | v
 OJUL BSNOYSIEA PIO JO UDISIBALOS PUE (18]} Wooupsg om X €) sie|) £ oy saBeien pue doyg i - L i el fa a1eq
72| BUIS|OWSP PUE [ W0GIPS] BUC X § 'LIDCIPAO-OM] X £} SIB|L / OJU] SSAJ0 |0 UDJSIBAUDD) palold \.S.i..m.kmm.m

L

pEOY Bl

I v
0PI 261-28) pasodoid

(paep deys )

wg Wy

we

[ e o

SZ Gl G0 oY @
ERLges)

~abeiols ajoho

pue ulg ‘Bupped pejelaosse ylim
(Wooipag-suo X ‘WO0IPag-0m)
£X) JOOY puo2as pue isl|} 1e siey
/ OJUl S80I WioJj uolksiBAuo)) -
peOY EHOOIA 26L-28L § V

Page 131



v tuolsiAay og/el uaqunu Bupmesg 085l zequnu gqop HYTINLYAYNY YA HRUTE &)
- SNOILYINOIY ONIOTING ANY BNINNYTD MO 4 039S 38 01 ANO
NS  zq umeig 8102-90-2¢  teeq 004} ® EViapeng 3LIS NO Q3D3HI 36 OL SNOISNIWIA TV
ZrL LLND ‘alusduwieH ousiaply 'PeoY BLOWIA Z6L-Z8L Je(1B)) WOOIPaq BUO X §) Sie|) 3 I. spueynsuag ubjsag NS 810Z-60-€0 [pappe 015 saiig g 3Bueyd adedspus] lels 1x@ a1l o [erowa ‘pappe aias sulgl W
SRRY PRISHEUD :
 OJul @sNoyaJeAA PO JO UOISIRAUCD pue (1]} woopag om) X €) siej) ¢ ol sebelen pue doys Ag |jeq uolsiasy 2y
ezz14 Buiysiowap pue ( WooJpag aue X  "WOo0IPag-oMm} X £) SIEjj / OJul SO0 JO UCISISAUCD 303fold ’ ) : |—| U
peoy BLOIIA Z61-28| 1e 100|d puno.s) pasodoid
h H
e L o bt 7
sjun felasewiwo) Buisn olignd 1o}

(savjig 2) soey axid

|
41

—

— % T % 2

8l
981

c6l- 8l

/IdOLIIN

8

8

L

1e|4-pegac

-abeloys appho
pue uiq ‘Buped pajeposse yim
(Wo0oIpag-suo X ‘LWOOIPIG-0M)
£X) JoO} puodas pue Jsily Je siej
/ O}U| SBOLJO WO UOJSIBALOY -

peoy elO)IIA Z6L-28L : V

Page 132



9 uo|s|ASY 0E/FL  zaquinu Bumesg 085Sl uagunu qop HYTINLYAVYNY HIN BTETE
- SMOILYINSEY SRIOTINE 0Ny DRINNYId M0 03T70S 58 0L ATHD

NS  :Aqumeig 81029022 :eeg 004+ @ €V gpeag 1S NO GZHO3HD 38 0L SNOISNIID T NS | 8L0760%0 TROLPIN & R J00D X8 811 J0 UBGo|da; § 19 1@ 613 o Bhows: | 9

Z0L LLNS ‘aysdwey ‘joysiaply ‘peoy BLOJIA Z6L-Z81 E(18)) Wwooupag auo X t) SIe) ! sy nsueg uljseg NS 8L02-L0-02 pascwal uasg sio0op jjxa Bupspe Z W
 CIUl BSNOUALEAL PIO 10 UOISIZALOD pUE (1)) Woopag om X £) siell £ oiul sofeses pue doys v Ty ll ki e Ag ajeq uojsjay | ‘Jay

221 GuIys oWap PUE { Wopag auo X ¢ WoIpag-oml X ) se|l / clul Sa0lo Jo Uoisiaaued noafold - i_u...ﬁ...._ﬂ ’ — v_
& s aiins
peoy eLOIA Z61-28 e 100]4 1l pasodoid F
o — — 000, JTV0S
wgL  wg Wy W/ Wy wg 4 Y 4 L 0

|

a/ m.ﬁ_._

1N

D]

-

uayaNy

wbs €9 4n 7
1v714 033-0ML

—— e . . —— |

714 02801

-abelo)s apho
pue ulg ‘Bupyied pajelposse ypm
(WooIpag-auo X ‘WOIPaG-OM)
£X) Jc U028 pue S| e siely
/ OJUl SBoL0 LWOJ) UCISIBAUDD) -

peoy eHoldA Z61-281 TV

Page 133




v

tuolsirey 0€/St  siaquinu Bumesg 085l  ziaquinu gop

HVYTINLYAYNY HIN

Sl

NS  :Aqumeig 8L02-90-22  :ejeq 00L:L @ EVopeog

SNOILYIN93H ONIOTING ONY ONINNY I HO4 037v0S 38 OL ATNO

31/ NO 03XD3HO 38 OL SNOISNIWID TV

201 LLNS ‘siysdwey Joysiaply ‘peoy BLOIIA Z61-281 TJB(1E)} WooIpaq 8uo X ) sie))
O] 9SNOYRJEAA PIO JO UOISISAUCS PUE (JB|) WooIpag om) X ¢ siel) £ ojul sebieses) pue doys
©zz14 BuIys|owap pue ( WooIpaq auo X ¢ 'W00Ipag-oMm] X €) SIE| / 0JUl S30IJI0 JO UOISIBAUCD oafoid

%II

sueynsucy ujssg
seuaIY pISMEND

NS

8L0Z-60-£0

MOURIM B £ JOOP 1|X@ aJl) JO JusLIaR|dal B JIBIS 1|Xa BIl) JO [BAOWSI

Aa

ajeq

uolsinay

Buulay Buinf

ueyouy | f{ )
Y
o

:cﬁog_omm_

~ T

woolpag

= \_ \yjeg

wooipag

NG muﬂ L)

\ﬁ 4

T 2l0]s

210]s

LN <
Lt
<
wbs z0g uwbs |05
1814-pog. 1el-pag [
—"—|—"—
pue uig ‘Bupped

(wooIpag-auo X ‘W
£X) JOOl pUODBS puE JSIY Je Siey
/ OJUl S8O1J0 WOJ} UOISIBAUOY) -

PEOY BHOIIA Z61-Z81 T V

Page 134




L suoisiney 0g/92 iaquinu Bummelg 08Sl  zequnu qop HYTINLYAVNY YN FRUIET o}
- - SNOILYINOIY ONITIING ONY DNINNYTd ¥O4 OF YOS 38 0L ATNO
NS  =£q umesg 8102-90-2¢ 1aleq 05Z1:L B 002 @ EVigleag JLIS NO Q3%DIHD 38 OL SNOISNIWIA TV NS 8102-80-90 PopUBLLE 8SNOLBIEM PO 10} 810N Uohduosaq E]
Zr1L LLND ‘ailysdwen “oysiap|y 'PEOY BLOPIA Z6L-Z8L Je(1e|) LO0IPaq 8Uo X ) S1B|) I. sumnsuoo ublseq NS 8102-2002 pling Ma[N pUE asnoLalem p|O 1B ||} 0] SSad0. Usamiaq uolieledag Y
7 OJUl BSNOYAIEA) PIO JO UDISIBAUCD PUE (JE|} WOOIPag oM} X €) Siej) € ojul sabeieg pue doyg B i Ll Ag ajeq uolsiAsY | ‘Joy
©ezzld4 Bulys|owap pue ( WooJpag auo X ¢ 'Wo0Ipag-oM} X €) SIEl / 0JUl SPOLIO JO UISIaAUDD asiold |—| U
St gG¢ g¢ <l <0 Y ®

j— m—— S S S S— — — — i OIS h T
wplL  ws wg W/ wg  ug 14 e Z L o]

(yinog) uoneas| Jeay pasodoid

‘..._

e . ,r.:l.:tl.,t._\,

44

44

144

-abelo)s ajoA2 pue u|g ‘Buped

PojE|0SSE LM Siel 9auy) Jo Juawdolaas( -
(eoeua] uojun Jeddn) sebeles pue

(ye811s ss0uD) ¢) doys ezzld 1o uopljowsq -
aoela] uojun Jaddn puejeang ssoln gt g

*S]E}} LUOOIPag-auo
+ 9pInoid 0} 9SNOYSIBAN 1O UOISIBAUCD -
aoe.1a] uojup saddp =asnoyaiep ploO AYL:D

Page 135



g HILTE RGN o0e/se uaquinu Bumelg 08Sl  :equnu qop HYTINLYAVNY HA UL k]
- - SNOLLYINB3N SNIATINE ANV ONINNY T4 H04 03Tw0S S8 0L AINO
NS  :hqumeiq 8102-90-22  1eeq |0SCI-L B 0021 2} EVkeeag 3LIS NO AIWDIHD 38 OL SNOISNIWIA TTV NS | 8102-80-90 PopULLE 8SNOYaIEm |0 10) 910N Uonduasaq g
ZrL 1LND ‘suysdwey Joysiap|y ‘pECY BUOIIA ZEL-Z8L JIE(JB|} WOOIPS] BUO X 1) SIE|}
f OJUI BSNOYBIEAA P[0 JO UOISIBALOD PUB (JB|) WiooIpag om) X §) Siej ¢ ojul sebeies) pue doys

B7Z14 Bulysijowap pue ( WooIpaq auo X 4 ‘WO0IPAC-0M] X £) SIE|} J OJUl S3014J0 JO UOISIAAUOD :3oaloid

o

= sweynsuon ublseq
SPALUDIY PRISLEYD
s zszia g 4
20 pL s

NS 81L0Z-40-02 p|INg MBN PUB 8Snoyalem p|O 1B JB|) O] 558908 uaamiaq uojeiedag Y

I—I U kg aleg

uoIsiAsY | ey

pling MaN *® asnoyalep) PIO pasodol

(yHopN) uoneas|3 juol4 pasodoid

WL ws wg  w/ wg  wg 14

14

144 A=

- o
144 144
144
||||||||| AN

44

144 e T BiE s maaee
= N

44

jEE}

'S)e|) WOooIpag-auo
t 8pinoid 0) BSNOYBIEAA JO UO|SIBAUOD -

aseua) uojun saddn -asnoyasepy PIO SYL:D

abeuoys ajoho pue ulq ‘Gupied

PoJejoosSE Y)m Sief 831y} Jo Juawdojeas( -
(eoeMI9] UOUN Jaddn) sebeles pue

(198118 ssoun ¢) doyg ezziq Jo uoplowa( -
2oeM3] uojun Jaddn pue jpang ssoin gt g

Page 136



a fuolsiray 0€/L2 iaquinu Bumelq 085l usqunuqor HVTINLYAYNYHN R UE &)
. - SNOILYIND3Y ONIOTING ANV ONINNYd HOJ 037%0S 38 0L AIND
NS :fqumeig 8L0Z-90ZZ  topeq |052)} B 007"} @ EViopeog 3LS NO OBIDIHO I8 0L SNOIGNIAITY NS | 8102-8090 PaPUBILE GSTOUGIEM PIO 10] SI0N UoNduosea | @
ZrL LLND ‘auysdwey ‘Joysispy 'PeOY BUOPIA Z6L-Z8L JE(JE)) WOOIPaq 8uo X t) sk} l. seynsuos ubjseq NS 81022002 PliNg maN pue asnoyalem p|Q Je Je|) 0} Ssadde usamiaq uoles A4
SPaYYaIY paIsIEyD .
 OJul BSNOUBIEAA PIO JO UOISIBAUCD PUE (1|} WODIPaq OM] X €) S1e|) £ ojul sebeies) pue doyg Ag aeq 1oy
87214 BulysioWwap PUE ( WOOIPaE SUO X  ‘WIO0IPSG-OM] X £) SIE|) / OJUl 300 JO UCISIBAUSD Noelold 1 — >

pliNg MeN 3 @SNoUBJE PIO pesodol

St G¢ G2 gL G0 Y @
_HIHIHIHIHJHIHIHJHIHJ ERLer
wol we g w/ wg WG 4 e 4 l 4]
(1sap\\) uonena|g aplg pasodoud (y1se3) uoneas|3 spig pasodoid
s. M 9JuE
- 144 i
REE aEE
AN e e e [ e et | B s == .
REE i
134 aEE
A = == AN
144 REE
134 A E [
144 744

abelo)s 8|oA2 pue u|g ‘Buped

PaJe|o0SSE UM Sjej. 9aJy) Jo Jualudojaas( -
(8oeW8]) uolun Jaddn) sebeies pue

(y@ans ssoun ¢) doys ezzid jo uopows( -
aoeua)] uojun 1addn pue jeallg ssoln et g

*S]ej WooJpad-auo
 9planoid 0} 8SNOYBIBAA 4O UOISIBALOD -
asewna] uojun saddn =asnoyaiepy PlO @YL:9

Page 137




a tuolsiney 0e/02 uaquinu Bugmelg 085l  uequnuqor HYTINLVAVYNY HIN UL B NS 8L02-60€0 531015 Djlg Aq SAI0JS SUIg BUDE|da) BUIAOWaI SIUSLWPUSLIE 10Ul

NS 8L0Z-80-9L papualue \nofe| Bupyed
- - SNOILY D3 ONITTINE ONY SNINNYTd MO 03 1WOS 38 0L ATNO
NS g umesg 8102-90-¢¢ sejeg 05Z1:1 8 002'L @ EViojeog 31IS NG 03303HD 38 OL SNOISNINIA TV B NS 81.02-80-90 popuaLIE asnoyaIem p|O J0j o10N uondLiosaq

AT

201 LLNS ‘anysdwey Joysieply ‘peoy EUOIIA 261281 JIE(1el LWooIpag SUo X ¢) Sje| EDTE

B |<|m|o|O)

P OJUl @SNOYSIBAN PIO JO UOISISAUOD pue (JB|) WooIpag om X €) siely ¢ oju| sebeses) pue doys

- [ NS | 8102-20-0Z | Plng maN pue ssnoyalem p|Q IE 8|} 0} SS800E Usamiaq uoljeledsg
19 .. eIy PaISELD fa a1EQ uoisingy |
ezz4 Suiysiiowap pue ( WooIpag 2ue X { ‘WO0IPag-0M} X £) S1ejj / OJUl SSOIJ0 JO UOISIAU0D 103joid N

ue|ld J00|4 punolis) pesodoid

////
—
~
B 5009
100 R | ALDD |
#2421 (001 4) Z* I |
Py e syl I00L L X _J 246 [mep (O e umm\x__umumwuz [ED _

NN

ALJD .
g [ Wi

Aluo ssbooe

sousgeluEw

7 _u, 9] 7
3
. A
1 Relct |
] s
= 8 <
- 3 i 7 5 8
- - . z
- ~ N o] B
- h 7 \ - >
EN GRON 752 X 752 TN an GRON 752 X PS5 FYON SOE % 08 an & 810N GOE X 08 dn 79 810N GOE X GOE €

abeloys 9|92 pue u|q ‘Buped

Pajejoosse Yjm siep a4y Jo juawdojeaa( -
(eoeuia) uon Jeddn) sebesen) pue

(yoang ssoun ¢) doyg ezzi4 o uoplowaq -
9oeua] uojun Jaddn pue jeang ssoin gt g

*SJe|} WooIpag-suo
¥ @plaoid 0} 9SNOYAIEAA JO LOISIDAUDD =
aoeasa) uojun s2ddn -esnoyaiep PIO YLD

Page 138




A uosiney 0E/L2  uaquinu Bupeig 085} uaquinu gor HYTINLYAVNY N 1weld [ NS | 81026060 366 1600 18 a0 S BUBUAl SuswpuewE S| O
NS__| BL02-80-90 PAPUBUIE BSNOYBIBM PIO J0) 910N Uonduasaa | O
- - SNOLLYIND3IY ONIATING ANY SNINNYd ¥O4 Q3 TVYIS 38 OL AN
NS g umeig 810Z-90-2Z  :epeq [052}:} B 002} @ EViopeng 3115 O i03H0 38 0L SNOISNAWIO 1Y NS | 8L02-L0-0Z | PUN MaN PUE SSNOUAIEM PIO 1E 121 O] S5300E Usamiaq Uojeiedas | &
ZrL LLND ‘ailysdweH “1oysieply 'PeOY BLOWIA Z61-28L DE(1e]) LU00IPag auo X ) siel} swmnewog uBlsag NS |810€'90'9¢ pepaLod [egeT | Y
 OJu| BSNOYSIBAA PIO JO UOISISAUGD pue (1)) Wooipag om) X ¢) spe|) € oju| sabeseg pue doysg ll it Rt Ag ajeq uojsjaey | "2y
ez2]4 Bulys|owap pue ( WooIpag auo X 4 ‘WO0JPaG-0M] X g) SIB|) / 0JU] S0 JO UBISISAUCD 3oaloid
S 6 ST Sl SO0 ¢
up ug ug iy, wg  wg + C A 0 -
ue|d Joo|d 1si14 pesodold
I 1 L 1 I 1 L 1
e
HLvE
L a3g
SNINIG N
NIHILIA i JONIAT “ﬁ, \-r.
== e
- =i
/ iy wbs 5
Lt .x EMH_ nﬁmm o>x31 —Na _W% 1v14 a38-3n0 /
23 PON £0Z X €02 an ey —_—
Wc m [e) [¢) [*] [*)
= @ . U wbs 15 ./
HLve 1¥14 0398-9N0 \
ONINIO /
ONIAI \

m | 038 NIHDLIA 7

2 N

]

*Sjep WOo0.Ipag-auo

 pjaoid 0} @SNOYAJBA JO UOISIOAUCD -
aoewa] uolun Jsaddn -esnoyasepp PIO @YL:D

abelo)s 91242 pue uig ‘Bupped

PaJeINoSSE YJm sjey aauy) jo juawdojaaaq -
(eoews) uolun Jeddn) sebeles pue

(yoans ssoun ¢) doys ezzld jo uopjjoweq -
aoeua] uojun Jaddn pue j}9ans ssoI) € ¢

Page 139



a uolsiney 0g/ze zlequinu Bumesg 08Sl  =equnu qop HYTINLVYAVNY HN SR [T RS 8102-60-€0 5100} 18ddn J& 5a10}S By BUIAGLIA] SJUBLIPUBLIE 10U
NS | 802 80-50 DOPUBUIE GSMOLBIBM PG 10} G10N UoRdm5sad | D
- - SNOILYINDIY ONIOTING ONY ONINNYTd MO 037¥0S 38 OL ATNO
NS :qumeig 8L0Z-00ZZ :oieq |05CH} B 002} @ E¥opeos 3415 NO HI03HO 38 0L SNOISNING TV 7 NS | 8102-20-0z | PG MGN PUE SSNOHEIem PO € T2] Of SS6008 Ussmieq Uojeedss | ©
2ZPL LLNO ‘eljusdwier JousIaply ‘PEOY BUOIOIA Z61-281 JIE(I.]) WO0IPSq BUO X b) Siel) e sweyratog izeg f 81029092 peaod [8qe |V
 OJUl @SNOYBJIEAA PO JO UCISIBAUCT PUE (JB|) Woolpag om] X £) sje|) g ol sebeses pue doys oy .I e 8jeg uolsirsy oy
©e7z|4 BUIYSI(OWap PUB { WO0IPa] BUD X ¢ ‘WO0IPAT-OM] X €) SJE|} £ OJUl SSIU0 JO UOISIOALOD Hjoeloid e — >

plIng MapN ¥ asnoyalep) PO _umwoaoi

ONINIO
JONIAT

7 1v14035-0ML
9¥OoN €02 X €02

-

ue|d J00|4 puodag pasodoid

Al
I
1
Hiva | »oma
aNINIa A
NFHOLIM k.uz,_.;,j U=\.:| 7
4 _
L, > |
- Hm_
// wbs §°EG -
NG W \ ¥4 038-3N0 \
—_
1]
9 €02 % 202 IovHOlS i \m whs gg /
- I JUARJ-EEE mzm )
I N
\ : / .,_
ONINIG
o ONIAIT
g | aza zmzo_._v_
g - |
_ i} \.
2 = =l ==l = ==

*Sje|} Woolpag-auo
¥ apoid 0] 9SNOYSIEAN JO UOISIBAUOD -
@oella] uojun Jaddn -esnoyaJiepp PIO 2YL:D

abeJojs apAs pue ulg ‘Bupued

PaJeInosse UM siel aally) jo juawdojeaa( -
(eoeWB] UOIUN Jaddn) sebeies) pue

(19118 ssou) ¢) doys ezzlg Jo uopljowaq -
aoe.9] uolun Jeddn pue Jeeng ssoiD et g

Page 140



a olslaay 0g/ET uaquinu bumelq 0851 sBquinu qor HYTINLYAVNY HN ERUL] ] NS 2L0Z-60-C0 5J00]} Joddn 1e $810jS 8yl BUIAOLLB) SJUBLIPUSLLE JOULWY a
NS | BL0z-80-90 papuUaLUE 9snoyaJem pjO J0j 210N uoRdiosad | 0
- - SNOILYIN 3 ONIATING ANY ONINNYTd B0 037W0S 38 0L ATNG

NS :Aq umeig 8102-90-¢¢ g 0szl:k 8 002k @ EViopeag 3LIS NC 03%33HO 38 OL SNOISN3WIa 1TV ° NS 2102-10-02 pling MapN pue asnoyalem p|O Je JB|} 0} SS8008 Usamiaq uojjesedas d

201 LLND ‘auysdweH Joysiaply 'PeoY BUOIIIA Z6L-281 JE(IB) WOoIpag 8uo X ) S| o T ap ll Juminsue ubang NS [B8102'90°92 P8j08ll0d [BqeT ] v
 0]U] @SNOYBIEAL PO JO UOISIBAUOD PUE (JB[} Wooipeg om] X ¢) sje|) ¢ ojul sebeien pue doysg S TS Ag ajeq uolsiaay 19y

Bzz|d Buiysiowap pue ( WooIPag BUO X § 'WO0IPAG-0M] X €) SIB|} / 01Ul SIILO JO UDISISAUSD Hoefold L4 81% 25200 s |—| U
U015t ool

pling MaN % mm:0;9m>> PIO ummoQoE

(no3ap
s tsoubus
[eanyonys op)

woag 8835

ue|d Jooj4 pay] pesodoid

C:®

NIHDLIA

saojnes

ais

™

wbs /g9
" 1v12 g3g-omL
80N €0Z X €0

mrmb €02 X €02

038

T
EHIIII311T

e te]

TITLTTTD

'sjel) WooIpag-auo

 aplaoud 0} @SNOYSJIBAN JO UOISIBALOD) -
aoeae] uojun Jeddn -esnoyaiepy PO eYL:D

abeuo)s a|24Ao pue ulg ‘Bupped

pajejoosse Uijm sjep aaiy} jo juawwdojaaaq -

(eoeuia) uoun Jaddn) sabeses pue

(19818 ssou) g) doys ezzld jo uopiowa( -
aseua] uojun saddn pue Jeang ssoud g g

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Development Management Committee Item 9
7th November 2018 Report No.PLN1829
Section C

The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at
the date of preparation, which is more than two weeks in advance of the Committee
meeting. Because of these time constraints some reports may have been prepared in
advance of the final date given for responses or neighbour comment. Any changes or
necessary updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting.

Case Officer Keith Holland
Application No. 18/00657/FULPP
Date valid 6 September 2018
Expiry date of 1 October 2018

consultations

Proposal Construction of a new hangar for maintenance, repair and
overhaul of aircraft and ancillary offices with associated
works including aircraft apron, connection to taxiway,
vehicle parking, new access roads and an amended
access connecting to Trenchard Way, security fencing,
gatehouse, drainage, remediation works and lighting
together with associated landscaping.

Address Farnborough Airport, Farnborough Road, Farnborough
Ward St.Mark’s

Applicant Gulfstream Aerospace, Ltd.

Agent Quod (James Guthrie)

Recommendation GRANT

Introduction

This report considers the application for full planning permission for the construction
of a new hangar for the maintenance, repair and overhaul (MRO) of aircraft and
ancillary offices with associated works including aircraft apron, connection to
taxiway, vehicle parking, new access roads and an amended access connecting to
Trenchard Way, security fencing, gatehouse, drainage, remediation works and
lighting together with associated landscaping on land at Farnborough Airport.

Full details of all these aspects have been submitted for consideration with this
proposal, with the exception of the location, layout, design and appearance of the
gatehouse. Any information shown concerning the gatehouse in this submission is
indicative only. Details of the gatehouse will be submitted pursuant to a planning
condition on any approval, and it is envisaged that this will presented by TAG

Page 143



Farnborough Airport, as those responsible for the security of the Airport, at a
subsequent date.

The proposed MRO facility would be operated by Gulfstream Aerospace, Ltd., the
world leader in designing, manufacturing, marketing and servicing business jet
aircraft. Whilst the company’s headquarters is in Savannah, Georgia, USA, it
operates facilities on four continents and employs over 15,000 people worldwide.

Gulfstream currently has more than 225 aircraft based in Europe, and at present
operates its MRO facility at Luton Airport. However, the company has the need for
more modern facilities and greater capacity for its European service centre network,
and Luton Airport is moving towards a more commercial focussed operation, rather
than business aviation.

Farnborough Airport is exclusively dedicated to business aviation, offers amenities
that complement the Gulfstream brand, and has the potential to accommodate the
size of development required. Following an extensive site selection process by
Gulfstream, working with UK Trade and Investment, which reviewed 10 locations,
TAG Farnborough Airport was selected, subject to planning permission, following
detailed discussions with Hampshire County Council and Rushmoor Borough
Council.

DESCRIPTION
The Site and Surroundings

The application site covers some 8.9 hectares in the north-east corner of the Airport,
and includes the site of an existing hangar known as “A” shed. Immediately west of
the site and within the airport boundary, is the Airport Fire Station. To the south lie
aprons, taxiways and the main runway for the Airport. East of the site is its junction
with Trenchard Way, which will form the development’s principal access point, whilst
north of this access link is a vacant site (known as Plot E), which has an extant
planning permission for office development. It is owned by TAG and forms part of
Farnborough Business Park. Plot E is bounded to the north by Fowler Avenue.

The application site is not within or near a Conservation Area, but is close to a
number of Listed, and Locally Listed, Buildings recognising their importance as
aviation heritage assets. The impact of the proposed development upon these
assets is assessed later in the report. A small part of the site (in the southwest
corner) is covered by a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation designation
(SINC).

History

The wider airport site has a long established history as part of the former Defence
Evaluation and Research Agency (DERA) and its forebears. In October 2000, outline
planning permission was granted for the erection of new buildings and associated
structures, installation of aerodrome and ancillary infrastructure works, formation of
new vehicular access, and use of the aerodrome for business aviation and related
uses. This was subject to a number of restrictions, including the total number of
business aviation movements per year, and a limit on flying at weekends and on

Page 144



Bank Holidays.

In March 2008, permission was granted on appeal to increase the number of
movements at weekends and on Bank Holidays from 2,500 to 5,000 per annum. In
February 2011, planning permission was granted on appeal to increase the total
number of business aviation movements at the Airport from 28,000 per year to a
maximum of 50,000 per year, and this remains the primary planning permission
governing the business aviation operation at the Airport.

Until recently, this particular site subject to the application, lay partly within the
Airport operational boundary and partly within Farnborough Business Park (part of
Plot E), which has planning permission for offices. In July 2018, permission was
granted for a change of use from business (Use Class B1) to Airport use, such that
all the land within the current application boundary now benefits from the Airport use.
This in turn gives certain permitted development rights, such as allowing the erection
of fencing, hard surfacing and access roads for operational use. These are the
enabling works that have been taking place on the site during the autumn of 2018,
such as realigning the airport perimeter road around the edge of the application site.

Finally, in August 2018, the Council determined that prior approval was not required
for the demolition of “A” Shed, the existing hangar on site constructed in black
profiled steel sheeting.

The Proposal

It is proposed to erect a new hangar comprising 21,357 sg.m. floorspace together
with 796 sq.m. of external plant. The rectangular hangar would be used for the
maintenance, repair and overhaul (MRO) of Gulfstream business aircraft, and
measure some 234m. in length, 68.5 m. wide, with an arched roof rising to a
maximum of 17.7m. high. Its clear span form is designed to minimise any
interruptions or obstructions internally to maximise the flexibility of the hangar to
accommodate aircraft. The drawings indicate that the hangar could accommodate up
to 13 x Gulfstream G650 aircraft (the largest in their current fleet). The operations to
be carried out in the hangar include scheduled maintenance and checks, visual
inspections, major and minor repairs, and component replacement. The services
offered by the facility would be prescribed routine front line maintenance and
required repairs to maintain fleet operability. Aircraft that visit the facility normally
would be those passing through Farnborough Airport as part of their normal
scheduled routine.

As well as the MRO area, the building would also accommodate support services,
such as storage of parts, workshops, staff welfare, plant rooms and ancillary offices.
These would be arranged along the back (north) and side (east) of the hangar. The
majority of plant spaces are within the building envelope to reduce degradation and
minimise opportunities for bird roosting or nesting. Immediately to the west, attached
to the hangar and shielded by a screen wall, would be an external plant area
containing two sprinkler tanks and a pump house required for the hangar fire
suppression system.

The hangar would be located to the north-west of the site, parallel to Fowler Avenue

and Templer Avenue, the main distribution road in the Business Park. The south
elevation of the building (facing the airport) would contain three bays, each made up

Page 145



of four individual sliding doors that would open onto a large new apron. This in turn
feeds on to a taxiway to the main runway. The east end of the south elevation would
comprise a glazed element serving the ancillary offices.

The majority of the east elevation of the hangar would be full height glazing over
three storeys with brise soleil. The north (rear) elevation would be predominantly
grey profiled metal cladding with ground floor glazing to light a rear corridor running
the full length of the ancillary offices in this part of the building. The west elevation
would be exclusively grey profiled metal cladding, as would the screen wall around
the external plant on this side of the building.

In keeping with the character of the wider Airport, the landscaping is proposed to be
kept simple with turf and low growing ground cover shrubs around and within the car
parking area and access road. Two new sections of security fence would be installed
to protect the “airside” apron. The new fence would match the existing Airport
security fence, which is a silver grey wire mesh, featuring a toe and finger proof
mesh aperture.

Between the north and east elevations of the new building and the airport perimeter
road, a total of 320 car parking spaces would be provided, including 18 suitable for
people with disabilities and 16 spaces for electric vehicles (3 of which would have
charging points). In addition, there would be 62 bicycle spaces and 14 motorcycle
spaces. The car park would be landscaped with turf and low growing ground cover
shrubs, similar to much of the rest of airport for operational reasons. Hard
landscaping in the form of feature paving would be used to access and service the
building.

The principal vehicular access would be via the existing “crash gate” access from
Trenchard Way, which would be retained and modified. This lies some 150 metres
south of the junction of Trenchard Way and Fowler Avenue. The entrance would
then feed onto the airport perimeter road to link to the site. For security purposes,
access would be controlled by barriers and a gatehouse to limit access to the airport.
Whilst the precise location of the gatehouse has yet to be determined, the barrier will
be set back a minimum of 35 metres from the junction, allowing up to 6 vehicles to
gueue back to Trenchard Way.

It is intended that the gatehouse would be similar in design to those already serving
the airport at Ively Gate and Meadow Gate. However, the precise design, location
and layout of the gatehouse is to be determined at a later date and this can be
controlled by condition.

Deliveries of parts to the MRO hangar are expected to be no more than 10-15 per
day using Transit and Luton vans, usually outside peak hours, with a single HGV
visiting the site about once a month, when larger parts are needed. Service vehicles
would enter the site from the Airport side, utilising the Ively Gate entrance and
entering the service yard by the access to the north of the Fire Station. Recycling
and waste servicing would be undertaken by TAG’s existing contractor allowing
combined journeys and minimising the number of movements on the road network.

The proposed development is expected to accommodate some 260 employees on

opening, rising to approximately 500 employees within 5 years, made up of 350
engineers and 150 office staff. The MRO hangar would operate 24 hours a day, 365

Page 146



days a year, as they do at their current facility at Luton, with 12 hour shift patterns, 4
days on and 4 days off.

It is anticipated that once fully operational, the facility would handle 2,500 aircraft
visits per year (potentially 5,000 movements in and out). A good number of these
would be passing through Farnborough Airport on their normal routine. This number
of flights can easily be accommodated within the current annual restriction on the
number of business aviation movements (50,000 per year by 2019). The
maintenance and servicing activity would be limited overnight (weekdays 22.00 and
07.00, and 20.00 and 08.00 at weekends and Bank Holidays) in line with existing
conditions on other maintenance facilities at Farnborough Airport. All overnight
operations would be limited to work within the hangar behind closed doors, and the
towing of aircraft on the apron as they are realigned for the next day’s activities.

Business aviation flying at the Airport is currently restricted to 07.00-22.00 hours on
weekdays, and 08.00-20.00 hours on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays. There
are no proposals in this application to change the times.

It is anticipated that there would be a series of illuminated signs associated with the
new facility and these will be subject to a separate application for advertisement
consent.

Back in July 2018, the applicant formally requested an opinion from Rushmoor
Borough Council as to whether the proposed development would require an
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). Having regard to the appropriate 2017
regulations, in August 2018 it was determined by Rushmoor that no EIA would be
required to accompany the application. Despite this, the submitted application is
accompanied by a considerable amount of supporting information including:

Planning Statement Air Quality Assessment

Design and Access Statement Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy
Transport Statement Ground Investigation Reports

Draft Workplace Travel Plan Built Heritage Statement

Ecological Appraisal Archaeological Assessment

Reptile Survey External Lighting Strategy

Noise Impact Assessment Energy and Sustainability Statement

Information to support a
Habitats Regulation Assessment

CONSULTEE RESPONSES

RBC Planning Policy team On balance, whilst the proposal represents a
departure from the development plan, the material
considerations are deemed to be overriding, and
no policy objection is raised.

RBC Conservation team No objection
RBC Ecologist No objection subject to a condition ensuring that
the loss of a part of an area of acid grassland

(within the SINC) to the new apron is adequately
mitigated.

Page 147



RBC Employment and Skills

RBC Head of Environmental
Health

HCC Highways Development
Planning

HCC Economic Development

HCC Planning

HCC County Archaeologist

Enterprise M3 LEP

Environment Agency

Thames Water

Flood and Water Management
HCC

Natural England

Historic England

TAG

Page 148

Offers support for the application which commits
to engage with local colleges and employment
schemes, and to ensure that local people benefit
from the opportunities created by the construction
and the future operation of the development.

No objection with regard to air quality issues since
the aviation movements associated with this
proposal are within the current permitted levels.
No objection on noise grounds subject to a
condition requiring a noise management plan

No objection subject to planning conditions to
secure a satisfactory Workplace Travel Plan and
fees, a Construction Traffic Management Plan,
adequate access arrangements and a setback of
the gatehouse from Trenchard Way to allow for
gueuing traffic.

Delighted to support the application for this
purpose built facility.

No response

In the light of the lack of archaeological potential
and the impacts created by modern development,
would not wish to raise any archaeological issues
in this instance.

No response

No objections subject to planning conditions
requiring a remediation strategy.

No response

Further information received, no objection.
considers that the proposed development will not
have significant adverse impacts on designated
sites and has no objection.

do not wish to offer any comments but suggest we
seek the views of our specialist conservation and

archaeology advisers.

Raise no objection and see no reason why an
approval should not be granted.



National Air Traffic Safeguarding The proposed development does not conflict with
our safeguarding criteria. NATS has no
safeguarding objection to the proposal.

Health and Safety Executive HSC Planning Advice has confirmed that it does
not have an interest in the development

Civil Aviation Authority No response

Airports Policy Division The proposal is consistent with the general
Department for Transport thrust of Public Safety Zone policy.

Hampshire Fire & Rescue Advises that the development should be in

accordance with Approved Document B5 of the
Building Regulations and Section 12 of the
Hampshire Act 1983. Standard advisory
comments are made in relation to access for high
reach appliances, fire protection, testing of fire
safety systems, water supplies and the use of
timber framed buildings.

Scottish & Southern Energy No response
Southern Gas Network No response
Farnborough International Ltd. No response

Farnborough Air Sciences Trust No response

Neighbours notified
All occupants of Farnborough Business Park and The Gloster PH.

In June 2018, agents for the applicant presented the proposed development to the
Farnborough Airport Consultative Committee, and members of the FACC have also
recently been sent a brochure explaining the proposal, as have Members of
Rushmoor Borough Council.

The application has been formally advertised as a departure from the current
development plan, and this matter is addressed in the following section on Policy
issues

Neighbours comments

Initially, the owners of Farnborough Business Park lodged a holding objection to the
application relating to the potential noise impacts on workers in the business park
and the lack of acoustic information or mitigation. However, following the submission
of further information by the applicant, the objection has been withdrawn. The
occupiers of the business park are specifically mentioned in the proposed condition
requiring a Noise Management Plan to ensure adequate protection.

Page 149



Policy

National policy background

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, July 2018) sets out that the
purpose of the planning system is to contribute to sustainable development. To
achieve this, the planning system has three overarching objectives — economic,
social and environmental — that are interdependent and need to be pursued in
mutually supportive ways.

With regard to the economic objective (paragraph 8), this seeks, “to help build a
strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the
right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth,
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the
provision of infrastructure.”

Paragraph 80 states that, “Planning policies and decisions should help create
conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight
should be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking
into account both local business needs and wider opportunities for development.”

Paragraph 104 notes that planning policies should, “f) recognise the importance of
maintaining a national network of general aviation airfields, and their need to adapt
and change over time — taking into account their economic value in serving business,
leisure, training and emergency service needs, and the Government’s General
Aviation Strategy.”

Enterprise M3 Local Economic Partnership (M3 LEP)

The Enterprise M3 LEP Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) (March 2014) maps the key
economic assets of the LEP area, of which TAG Farnborough is considered to be
one. The SEP also confirms that the LEP area has world-class sectors in ICT and
digital media, pharmaceuticals, aerospace and defence and professional and
business services. These four sectors are identified as priority sectors by the LEP.

Farnborough is identified as one of four growth towns in the LEP area (the others are
Basingstoke, Guildford and Woking). The SEP states that these towns deliver one
third of the jobs and GVA of the Enterprise M3 area, and this will continue to
increase: Ensuring their success is fundamental to the success of the whole area
and the UK economy as a whole.

Local policy background

Planning Policy Context

The development plan as it relates to this proposal currently comprises the
Rushmoor Core Strategy, 2011, and the saved policies in the Rushmoor Local Plan
Review (2000). In addition, given that the Rushmoor Local Plan, Draft Submission,
June 2017, is proceeding through its Examination, and hast just been subject to
Major Modifications consultation (which closed on 19™ October 2018), significant
weight can be afforded to this document in respect of the future planning policy in
relation to the site the subject of the proposal.

Page 150



Rushmoor Core Strategy (CS)

The CS vision notes that Farnborough Airport will continue to be a business aviation
facility of the highest quality, and Objective E of the Core Strategy seeks to
encourage the continuation of business aviation flying at Farnborough Airport.

The site adjoins the Airport, and although it is within the ownership of TAG, does not
fall wholly within the defined Airport operational boundary in the adopted
development plan. Part is designated as a Key Employment Site in the Core
Strategy, and Policy SS1 (the Spatial Strategy) and Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy
are therefore applicable in determining the acceptability of the principle of the
proposal.

A small part of the site (in the southwest corner), where an extended apron is
proposed, is covered by a Site of Importance for Nature Conservation designation
(SINC). Policy CP15 applies.

Rushmoor Local Plan Review (RLPR)
Saved Policy FA3 applies regarding the redevelopment of the “main factory site” for
employment use.

Draft Submission Rushmoor Local Plan, June 2017

Policy SP4 - Farnborough Airport

Within the defined Farnborough Airport Planning Policy Boundary (APPB),
development is restricted to that supporting business aviation and associated Airport
related uses. On the Policies Map accompanying the Draft Submission Local Plan,
part of the site the subject of the proposal falls outside, but directly adjoining, the
proposed Airport Planning Policy Boundary (within which Policy SP4 would apply).

Policy PC1 — Economic Growth and Investment

Policy PC1 sets out an approach that seeks to enable growth and retention of
existing businesses within the Borough through the protection and regeneration of
Strategic Employment Sites for B-class uses, and support for the delivery of
infrastructure to contribute to the improvement of skills and education. The policies
in the draft Local Plan seek to protect the majority of these sites to ensure a portfolio
of employment sites and premises to meet future needs.

Local Plan Main Modifications Consultation September 2018

Consultation on Main Modifications to the emerging Local Plan closed on 19"
October 2018. With regard to proposed Modifications relevant to this proposal, Main
Modification 135 proposes to modify the Airport Planning Policy Boundary (APPB)
designation (associated with Policy SP4) to include land on the south side of
Templar Avenue and Fowler Avenue, with commensurate modifications to
Farnborough Business Park boundary (Policy PC4) and the associated Strategic
Employment Site boundary (Policy PC2) to remove this land.

The rationale for this change reflects the grant of planning permission (subject to
conditions) for the change of use of land from business (Use Class B1) to Airport
operational land, as determined wunder planning application reference
18/00454/FULPP, which was considered by the Counci’s Development
Management Committee on 18" July 2018. This change of use was sought in order

Page 151


https://www.rushmoor.gov.uk/localplanexamination

to form part of a suitable site to accommodate a proposed future redevelopment to
provide a new maintenance facility, repair and operations centre for the aircraft
manufacturer, Gulfstream.

The effect of the grant of this planning permission is that preparatory infrastructure
works, such as the realignment of the internal distributor road, can come forward as
permitted development, and in fact, such works are under way. The consequence of
the grant of planning permission is that the land subject to the current application
now benefits from a planning consent to function as Airport operational land. The
opportunity to update the Policies Map to reflect this change of use has therefore
been taken as part of the Major Modifications process for the emerging Local Plan.
The effect of this mapping amendment is that Policy SP4 applies to the land,
bringing with it a presumption in favour of development relating to that supporting
business aviation and associated Airport related uses.

Determining Issues
The key determining issues in this planning application are:

1) The principle of the development

2) Design and appearance

3) Public Safety Zone

4) Highway, access and parking considerations
5) Noise Impact

6) Economic Development and Employment
7) Landscape and Visual Impacts

8) Biodiversity and Ecology

9) Drainage, flood risk and Surface Water
10) Energy and Sustainability issues

11) Air Quality

12) Heritage

13) Construction

14) Ground Contamination and Remediation

Commentary
1. Principle of the development

The adopted planning policy framework identifies part of the land the subject of the
proposal as a Key Employment Site. Whilst the site does not wholly fall within the
boundary of the Airport for the purpose of applying Policy SP6 of the Core Strategy,
the land has a close physical relationship with the existing Airport activities, being
within TAG’s operational boundary, and wholly under the control of TAG in terms of
land ownership.

The Key Employment Site designation is reflected in the Draft Submission Local
Plan, through the identification of the site as a Strategic Employment Site, falling
under the Farnborough Business Park policy designation. The emerging Local Plan
is currently under Examination, and the Hearing Sessions took place in May 2018.
Consultation on Main Modifications to the Plan ended on 19™ October 2018, with the
receipt of the Inspector’s Report expected later in 2018.

Page 152



As noted above, planning permission was granted in July 2018 for a change of use
of the land the subject of the proposal from business (Use Class B1) to Airport
operational land. This consent is reflected in the current modification consultation on
the requisite amendment to the Policies Map. Whilst the Plan is yet to be adopted,
due to its advanced stage of preparation, the policies therein are gaining significant
weight in terms of being a material consideration in the determination of planning
applications.

In seeking consent for the construction of the hangar, this builds on the principle of
the existing consent for the use of land for aviation related use, and would enable the
delivery of complementary aviation facilities on the TAG Farnborough Airport site.
The current proposal will accommodate increased demand for aircraft storage and
on-site aircraft servicing and maintenance to support the business aviation function
of the site, and would enable the delivery of aviation related uses on land already
within the Airport’s ownership. The air traffic movements associated with the
proposal would be accommodated well within the existing annual movement limit
number, and would not result in any demonstrable change in demand in terms of
permitted air traffic movements.

In the adopted development plan (Core Strategy), the land is partly designated as a
KES, to which Policy CP8 applies. This directs major B-class employment
development to locations such as Farnborough Business Park. However, weighing
strongly in favour of the proposal are the economic benefits of the Airport to the local
and regional economy (as demonstrated in the 2009 study of the Economic Impact
of Business Aviation at Farnborough Airport), further recognised in the Enterprise M3
LEP’s Strategic Economic Plan. Significant weight can therefore be afforded to the
economic benefits of the use of the site for an aircraft Maintenance, Repair and
Overhaul (MRO) facility, reflecting the grant of planning permission 18/00454/FULPP
in July 2018 for the use of the land for aviation related use, and the resultant main
modification to reflect this in the APPB designation.

Moreover, the policy framework does support the introduction of new non B-class
uses on Key Employment Sites where they would support, or not be detrimental to,
the function and operation of the site. Where possible, non B-class uses should
generate employment themselves. The grant of this application would result in the
delivery of an aircraft maintenance operation, bringing with it around 500 direct jobs,
as well as more indirect employment to the local area through associated supply
chains. The types of activity to be undertaken in the MRO are storage and
maintenance activities, which in themselves replicate the types of activity that would
be accommodated in traditional B-class premises in any event.

Whilst some of the land the subject of the proposal is part of Plot E of the business
park, the effect of planning permission 18/00454/FULPP has changed the use of this
land to part of the Airport’'s operational area. However, a significant proportion of
Plot E remains, with the potential for the delivery of some B-class employment use
along the Fowler Avenue frontage. Moreover, the introduction of the MRO facility in
this location will bring with it the capacity for a multiplier effect in terms of the
significant economic benefits arising from the presence of Europe’s premier business
aviation airport in Farnborough. These benefits would outweigh notably the minimal
impact on the supply of land for traditional B-class uses in this location.

Business aviation movements associated with the proposed MRO hangar can easily

Page 153



be accommodated within the current restrictions on flying at Farnborough Airport.

Policy Conclusions

The proposed change of use from B-class use to Airport use represents a departure
from the development plan. The issue to be determined is whether overriding
material considerations exist that warrant this departure, such that the proposal is
considered to be acceptable in land use planning terms. Whilst technically the
proposal does not reflect the policy in the adopted development plan, the advanced
stage in the preparation of the Rushmoor Local Plan, including the proposed
mapping modification, and the grant of consent for the use of the land for Airport
related uses, weigh heavily in favour of the proposal.

Moreover, significant economic benefits would arise from its grant in terms of direct,
indirect and induced economic benefits, not only in terms of direct employment, but
also in the supply chain. The NPPF attaches great weight to a strong economy as
one of the overarching objectives of sustainable development, and requires local
authorities to take into account both local businesses and wider opportunities for
development. The economic significance of the Airport, and the associated
aerospace industry, to the economic health of not only Rushmoor, but the wider
Enterprise M3 LEP area, and in turn, the national economy, is recognised in the
LEP’s Strategic Economic Plan. All these factors add significant weight to the
economic benefits of the delivery of this MRO facility, and these are to be weighed in
the balance against the loss of a small part of a KES from the supply of land for
traditional B-class uses. On balance, whilst the proposal represents a departure
from the development plan, the material considerations are deemed to be overriding,
and no policy objection is raised.

2. Design and Appearance

The design of the new hangar with its simple, clean, modern lines reflects the
approach taken on many of the other airport buildings. Whilst by its very nature, the
building is large, it sits well within the vast openness of the airport to the south and
similarly relates well to modern buildings on the neighbouring Farnborough Business
Park to the north.

The limited palette of materials proposed for the external surfaces of the building
comprising profiled metal cladding, pressed and painted steel gutter fascias and
flashings, aluminium louvres and brise soleil, and an aluminium standing seam
arched roof helps create a high quality design that respects and compliments the
character and appearance of the area.

3. Public Safety Zone

The gatehouse to serve the new development and an initial section of the principal
vehicular access road would be sited within the existing Public Safety Zone. It is
noted that the design and location of the gatehouse for the facility in the current
planning application is indicative, and is to be subject to later determination through
the submission of details pursuant to a planning condition. The supporting
information that accompanies the application suggests that there will be a limited

Page 154



amount of activity at the gatehouse, restricted to only one member of staff (or maybe
two at shift change), and it therefore concludes that its location in the PSZ is not
considered to be an issue. Whilst the precise location of the gatehouse is not to be
determined as part of this planning application, careful consideration will need to be
given to this issue in finalising the details of the gatehouse, and the wording of
conditions to restrict its use. Government advice on development within Public
Safety Zones is given in the DfT Circular 01/2010, Control of Development in Airport
Public Safety Zones.

Paragraph 1 of the Circular notes that, “The basic policy objective governing the
restriction on development near civil airports is that there should be no increase in
the number of people living, working or congregating in Public Safety Zones and
that, over time, the number should be reduced as circumstances allow.”

Paragraph 11 notes the circumstances where development may be permissible
within Public Safety Zones, as exceptions to the general presumption. Relevant to
the proposed gatehouse, criterion (vi) refers to, “development of a kind likely to
introduce very few or no people on to a site on a regular basis. Examples might
include unmanned structures, engineering operations, buildings housing plant or
machinery, agricultural buildings and operations, buildings and structures in
domestic curtilage incidental to dwellinghouse use, and buildings for storage
purposes ancillary to existing industrial development;”

Paragraph 5.35 of the of the planning statement that supports the application notes
that, “The principal vehicular access to the proposed MRO Hangar will be via the
existing ‘crash gate’ access from Trenchard Way, which will be retained and
modified. For security purposes, the access will be controlled by barriers with a
manned gatehouse to limit access to the airfield, with the barrier set back a minimum
of 35 metres...from Trenchard Way. This will allow up to c. 6 vehicles to be queued
at the barrier before the major arm of the junction is impacted upon. Whilst this is
unlikely to happen, the 35m gives sufficient queue length to be assured that vehicles
will not block Trenchard Way. The gatehouse will be designed and manned similar
to the existing gatehouses at Ively Road and Meadow Gate Avenue, and will be
managed by TAG.”

To be quite clear on this issue, and as suggested by the Circular where clarity is
needed, the proposed development has been referred to the Airports Policy Division
(now Aviation Strategy and Consumers Division) at the Department for Transport.
They confirm that the proposal is consistent with the general thrust of PSZ policy,
and do not raise any objection. A series of planning conditions are proposed to be
applied to clarify the location and design of the gatehouse.

4. Highways, Access and Parking

Sustainable Transport Accessibility

Hampshire County Council (HCC) as the highway authority have commented that
connections to the site by cycle and by foot are of a good standard and are
considered acceptable. Whilst the closest bus stops to the site on the business park
are some 600m. away and are only served by a shuttle service, HCC notes that
there are bus stops on the A325 and at Boundary Road served by a good level of
public service. They consider the site to be accessible by sustainable modes.

Page 155



Highway Safety

HCC, as highway authority, has undertaken an independent assessment of
accidents in the vicinity of the site, and concluded that given the forecast traffic
generation and distribution, they do not believe that accident patterns will be
exacerbated by the proposal.

Access Arrangements

Staff access to the development, which will form the majority of the trips, would be
taken by modifying an existing gated access point from Trenchard Way, which is a
private road and not a public highway. Nevertheless, HCC have made some detailed
comments with regard to visibility splays, which the applicants have accepted.

HCC acknowledge that there would be a set back of the gatehouse from the junction
to allow stacking capacity for queuing vehicles waiting to access the site, and
suggest that the set back is secured through a planning condition. An additional
condition is required to ensure a satisfactory form of access.

Parking and Internal Layout

HCC have reviewed the proposals against the Council’s adopted Car Parking
Standards. Since the proposed use does not easily fall within a set use class
(regarded as sui generis), there is no directly attributable standard. A comparison
with Class B1 (b) and (c) use (research & development and light industrial) indicates
that for this level of floorspace a maximum of 478 spaces would be required.

The proposed number of parking spaces is 320. However, despite the significant
difference, HCC believes that the Transport Statement accompanying the application
presents information to justify this number would be acceptable. The operation would
be run on shift patterns which demonstrate that the peak staff level on site at any
one time would be 300, and this for only short periods when shifts change.
Furthermore, they consider this to be a worst case scenario, as it assumes every
member of staff will drive a private vehicle, and does not account for sickness or
annual leave. In this regard, HCC as the highway authority do not raise an objection
to the proposed level of parking.

HCC have made some suggested minor amendments with regard to the car park
layout but are generally content with the approach, and the applicants have
confirmed that it will be designed in accordance with the Council’s adopted Car
Parking SPD.

Trip Generation and Development Impact

HCC comments that with regard to trip generation to and from the site, it is forecast
that due to the working times and shift patterns, staff will arrive before the AM peak
and leave either before or after the PM peak hour. However, it is noted that shift
patterns may change such that the site could generate substantially more trips
during peak hours.

As a result, HCC requested a “sensitivity test” of traffic impact be prepared assuming
that staff may travel in peak hours, and this has been submitted and considered.
This models the impact on Meadow Gate Roundabout (junction of Elles Road /
Templer Avenue / Meadow Gate Avenue / Arrow Road on the A327). Whilst there
would be increased traffic on the junction under this scenario, HCC conclude that
given the proposed development will operate on a shift basis and is unlikely to

Page 156



generate the level of peak hour trips put forward in the sensitivity test, and given that
Templar Avenue is a private road, the highway authority do not consider that any
mitigation is required at this junction.

Travel Plan

A draft Workplace Travel Plan was submitted with the application, which HCC have
commented upon and made some suggested amendments to be accommodated in
the final version. The final Travel Plan can be secured through a planning condition.

Highways Conclusion

HCC, as the highway authority, raise no objection to the proposal from a highways
and transportation perspective, subject to planning conditions to secure delivery of a
Workplace Travel Plan, the submission of Construction Traffic Management Plan,
satisfactory visibility splays and an adequate setback of the entry barrier from the
access point.

5. Noise Impact

The originally submitted planning application was accompanied by a Noise Impact
Assessment (NIA) (document reference: 18-0494.02 issue 1), conducted in
accordance with the NPPF guidance. It utilises a noise survey at the existing
Gulfstream operation at Luton to establish source levels for operations that would
form part of the new development and a second survey at the proposed site.
Subsequent analysis allows the determination of the noise environment for the
proposed development, and compares the results with adopted criteria.

Rushmoor’s Environmental Health team have carefully considered the information
submitted and have sought further clarification on a number of issues, which led to
further submissions of the NIA and a separate Noise Statement. Further information
had been sought with respect to operations in the Hangar and on the apron,
particularly the use of ground power units (GPUs) and auxiliary power units (APUS),
and with regard to the possible impact of operational noise on the existing offices at
Farnborough Business Park.

Environmental Health comment that:

“The resubmitted Noise Impact Assessment (Doc Ref: 18-0494-02 issue 3) has
assessed noise from operations at the proposed facility. It has measured the noisiest
activities that currently take place at the existing Gulfstream site at Luton Airport,
assessed the existing noise environment around the application site, and then
considered what the likely impact would be if these noisy activities took place during
the quietest day and night-time periods. The assessment has taken place at the
nearest noise sensitive receptors on Farnborough Road and Pinehurst Avenue. The
report therefore considers a worse-case noise scenario with no mitigation measures
in place.

The noisiest activities likely to take place on site would be the use of ground power
units (GPUs), auxiliary power units (APUs) and the ground running of aircraft for
testing purposes.

The existing Section 106 Legal Agreement (covering the whole business aviation

operation at Farnborough Airport) prohibits the running of APUs between 22:30 and
06::30. It further stipulates that engine ground running/testing is to be avoided as far

Page 157



as reasonably practical and can only take place between 08:00 and 20:00 Monday to
Friday. Ground runs can only take place on Saturday, Sunday and Bank Holidays
between 09:00 and 20:00 but only if there is an essential operational or safety
reason. In addition, whilst the proposed facility will operate 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week, Gulfstream have committed to ensuring that any maintenance and servicing
activity between 20:00 and 07:00 on weekdays and 20:00 and 08:00 on weekends
and Bank Holidays will not generate noise likely to impact on nearby sensitive uses.
This is in line with the Council’s emerging Local Plan policy. As a result, the noisiest
activities identified will not take place during the night. During this period, the bulk of
work will be contained within the Hanger and only electrical power units will be in
use. The Noise Impact Assessment confirms that there would be no impact from
night-time activities (between the hours of 22:00 to 07:00), and Environmental Health
can accept this conclusion.

With regards daytime noise (07:00 — 22:00 hours), without any mitigation in place,
the noise levels at the nearest residential premises on Farnborough Road could be
considered intrusive in outside amenity space. This conclusion needs to be
considered within the context of the application site being an operational airport and
there already being periods of significant noise during the airport’s operational hours.
The level of noise identified within the report will be less noticeable during regular
daytime hours when the airport is busier and where the ambient noise environment
at the nearest residential properties will be louder due to existing road traffic noise.

With regard to the potential noise impact on the neighbouring Business Park,
provided noisy operations take place on the apron such that the Hanger acts as a
barrier, then noise levels at the facade of the nearest offices will be no more than
would be expected from passing road traffic. Given the level of acoustic insulation
these buildings should already be provided with to protect against existing airport
noise, noise from the development should have no adverse impact on the internal
noise environment of these offices.

To mitigate the potential adverse impacts of the development, the Noise Assessment
makes a number of recommendations. The application is also accompanied by a
Noise Statement from Gulfstream, in which they commit to implementing noise
control measures to minimise disturbance as far as is practicable, and which would
form the basis of an operational Noise Management Plan. This Plan will be a live
document, so can be adapted to address any particular concerns that may arise
throughout the lifetime of the development.”

Therefore, with regard to noise impact, Environmental Health conclude:

“.....that provided noise mitigation measures are implemented as proposed, there
would be little risk of noise adversely impacting on neighbouring sites. To this end, it
may be considered prudent to apply a condition, should the Council be minded to
grant consent, requiring the submission of a Noise Management Plan, in accordance
with the submitted Noise Statement. A draft should be submitted and agreed with the
Council prior to occupation of the site. This will be a live document that will be
reviewed, in conjunction with the Council, after one year of operations commencing,
and as required thereafter should noise issues arise. The plan should include a noise
monitoring strategy to ensure the effectiveness of measures implemented and an
appropriate process for the proper investigation of any noise complaints received.”

Originally a holding objection had been submitted by the owners of Farnborough

Page 158



Business Park relating to the potential noise impacts on workers in the business park
and the lack of acoustic information or mitigation. However, following submission of
more detailed information and assurances, and the inclusion of a planning condition
to ensure a Noise Management Plan, this objection has since been withdrawn.

6. Economic Development and Employment

The Airport Policy Framework (APF) (2013) states that the Government wants to see
the best use made of existing airport capacity. However, it does recognise that the
development of airports can have negative as well as positive local impacts,
including noise levels. It therefore expects proposals for expansion to be judged on
their individual merits, taking careful account of all relevant considerations,
particularly economic and environmental impacts. It should be noted that the
proposal does not seek any increase in the already permitted maximum number of
business aviation movements (50,000 by 2019 allowed on appeal) and that the
impact of aircraft noise on the local area was thoroughly assessed at that time.

Significant economic benefits would arise from this proposal in terms of direct,
indirect and induced economic benefits, not only in terms of direct employment, but
also through the multiplier effect in the supply chain, utilising local businesses,
suppliers, and traders. Whilst it is expected that a number of specialist engineers
are likely to relocate from Gulfstream’s existing facility at Luton, there would be a
need to recruit a significant number of local technicians, support and office staff. The
proposed development is expected to generate about 500 direct job opportunities
once fully operational.

TAG has already established close links with local colleges, and Gulfstream has
indicated a commitment to build on this, hoping to collaborate with the colleges to
enrol local technical apprentices to train up aviation technicians for the future.
Gulfstream has also committed to engaging with Rushmoor Employment Skills Zone
(RESZ) to help maximise the opportunity to employ local people in both the
construction and operational stages of the development. RESZ looks to provide
employment and training support for people in Rushmoor, helping them to access
job and personal development opportunities.

The proposed development is strongly supported by the Economic Development
team at Hampshire County Council. They comment that HCC continues to support
the delivery of this project, in partnership with Rushmoor Borough Council and
Enterprise M3 Local Economic Partnership, and expect this investment to create
significant economic benefits to Farnborough and the wider economy, not only
through direct employment opportunities but within Gulfstream’s supply chain
companies. They add that Gulfstream’s investment in Farnborough will benefit local
tax payers, bring attractive employment opportunities to the area and generate
additional business rates from the new facility, helping to underpin the delivery of
local services by RBC and HCC.

HCC further states: “ Both Gulfstream and its employees will bring spending power
into the Borough, utilising local services, generating further economic benefit as they
earn and spend their wages in the local community. In the wider context of foreign
direct investment, this project represents a significant achievement. Gulfstream is a
globally recognised premium brand, at the leading edge of aircraft design and
manufacture. Gulfstream’s relocation raises the profile and enhances the credibility

Page 159



of Farnborough as a business location, in turn assisting the attraction of new inward
investment into the Borough.”

Rushmoor’s Skills and Employment Officer comments that the Skills and
Employment Plan submitted with the application makes a strong commitment to
engage with local colleges and employment schemes to maximise opportunities
created by construction and new business in the borough for local people, and is
pleased to support the application.

7. Landscape and Visual Impact

The landscaping approach for the development, whilst not extensive, is appropriate
for its location on an operational airport and is consistent with the open environment
generally. The design of the hangar complements the other suite of recent airport
buildings, highlighting clean modern lines with silver/grey cladding.

Policies in the emerging Local Plan seek to preserve the natural environment and
general amenity by ensuring development does not give rise to or would be subject
to unacceptable levels of pollution, including light pollution (Policy DE10). The
applicants state that all lighting units would be carefully located and angled so that
light distribution is on the carriageway / apron surface and light trespass beyond the
intended area is restricted.

The Environmental Health team has considered the External Lighting Strategy
submitted with the application and is satisfied that the lighting installations
associated with the development would comply with the Institute of Lighting
Engineers guidance for the reduction of obtrusive light, and does not consider that a
planning condition is required with respect to this aspect.

8. Biodiversity and Ecology

Natural England raise no objection to the proposed development. Based on the
submitted plans, they consider that it would not have significant adverse impacts on
local designated sites: Bourley and Long Valley Site of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSI), which is part of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA);
Eelmoor Marsh SSSI, which is also part of the Thames Basin Heaths SPA; and
Basingstoke Canal SSSI.

There is no proposal to increase business aviation movements at the Airport, over
and above that already permitted, as a result of this proposal, such that it is
concluded it would not have an adverse impact on the SPA or the SINC locally.
Lighting levels and its possible impact upon the SINC has also been assessed, and
bearing in mind the current situation and use as an airport, the proposal is unlikely to
have a heavy impact.

The loss of a small part of the acidic grassland SINC which extends across much of
the Airport is recognised, and a planning condition added to ensure adequate
mitigation through a process of biodiversity offsetting, to create additional
replacement habitat elsewhere.

Page 160



9. Drainage, Flood Risk and Surface Water

The Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy submitted with the application
confirms that the site is within Flood Zone 1 which is considered suitable for all forms
of development and would be at low risk from all sources of flooding. It is proposed
that the existing means of surface water disposal be retained for the Apron area,
along with appropriate sustainable drainage approaches where practical for other
areas.

The reports conclude that, provided an appropriate surface water drainage strategy
is employed, the development would be suitable in the location proposed, would be
at low risk from all potential sources of flooding, would not place additional persons
at risk of flooding and would offer a safe means of access and egress, and would not
increase flood risk elsewhere through the loss of floodplain storage or impedance of
flood flow. As a consequence, the proposals meet the flood risk requirements of the
NPPF.

HCC flood and water management team were, on request, supplied by the
applicants’ consultants with additional information and drawings setting out
maintenance regimes of the entire surface water drainage systems including
individual SuDS features. They confirm that the submissions address their concerns,
and consequently that they raise no objection to the proposal.

10. Energy and Sustainability Issues

Policies in the Rushmoor Core Strategy and the emerging Local Plan require
development proposals to incorporate sustainable construction standards and
techniques, and for all major developments to demonstrate they will be completed in
accordance with the ‘BREEAM’ standard of “Very Good”. The application is
accompanied by an Energy and Sustainability Statement, which concludes that the
proposed development would comply with national, regional and local policies on
sustainability.

Consultants acting for Gulfstream have undertaken a BREEAM Pre-assessment to
demonstrate that the proposed development would meet a BREEAM rating of “Very
Good” and exceed compliance with the 2013 Building Regulations Part L in terms of
energy and CO2 reduction. They anticipate that through the use of energy efficiency
measures and low carbon technologies, an energy saving of 11%, when compared
to the notional building, can be achieved. The applicants claim that the proposal
would be amongst the most advanced and sustainable hangar developments in
Europe and would set a standard in the UK.

11. Air Quality

A detailed Air Quality Assessment has assessed the potential impact of the
construction and operational phases of the development. The air quality impacts
during the construction period are predicted, in the assessment, to be not significant,
and during the operational phase, predicted to be negligible or not significant. Having
regard to the location and nature of works to be undertaken, the assessment
concludes that the impacts from dust emission would not be significant provided
appropriate control measures are put in place. Environmental Health agree with this
conclusion and suggests this is addressed within a Construction Method Statement,

Page 161



which can be conditioned.

It is considered that the predicted number of road vehicle movements on the road
network associated with the proposed development would be relatively small and will
therefore result in a negligible increase in road vehicle emissions.

The Environmental Health team has also reviewed the submitted information around
business aviation movements associated with the proposed development. The
airport already has planning permission for up to 50,000 movements per annum by
2019, allowed on appeal in 2011, and currently operates at around 29,000
movements each year. The estimated amount of aviation movements per annum
arising directly from this proposal once fully operational would be approximately
5,000 per year, which is still well within the permitted restrictions on flying at
Farnborough.

Detailed air quality modelling was undertaken as part of the planning application
increase movements to 50,000 per annum, and this included an assessment of the
potential impact on air quality and odour from these additional aircraft movements.
The submitted Air Quality Assessment has reviewed the reports produced in 2009, in
light of more recent ambient pollution levels and changes in relevant datasets. The
report concludes that the impacts of aircraft exhaust emissions arising from the
operational phase of the development would not be significant on local air quality
and odour. The Environmental Health team has no objection as the potential
increase in movements would be within the current permitted levels.

12. Heritage

The application is supported by a Built Heritage Statement and an Archaeological
Assessment. The Heritage Statement identifies that whilst there are no built heritage
assets on the site, there are a number sited nearby. These include Building G1
(Trenchard House), Building G29 (Black Shed), the Portable Airship Hangar
(formerly Buildings R51 and Q65), which are all Grade |l Listed Buildings; and The
Swan Inn, which is locally listed. The report concludes that whilst there would be
some inter-visibility with two of the designated built heritage assets, the proposed
development’s positioning, layout, shape, height and attractive aerodynamic design
and its contribution to the continuing use of the airport for aeronautical activities in
line with its historic use, result in there being no harm caused.

Historic England have responded to consultation by stating they do not wish to offer
any comments on the application and suggest the views of specialist conservation
and archaeological advisers are sought.

The County Archaeologist refers to the Archaeological Assessment submitted with
the application and concurs with the conclusions that the site can be considered to
have a generally low to negligible potential for all periods of past human activity pre-
dating the 20™ century; is unlikely to have a below ground archaeological impact;
and that no further below ground archaeological mitigation measures are necessary.
The County Archaeologist does not wish to raise any issues in this instance.

The Council’'s Conservation Officer acknowledges that the Built Heritage Statement

assess the impact of the proposal on the setting of a number of heritage assets close
to the site and concludes that there is no harmful impact. The site use as an airport

Page 162



along with the existing buildings creates an environment that can accommodate a
building of this size, and the design and materials proposed to be used are in
keeping with other structures on the airport. The visual impact of the structure is not
evidenced to harm the setting of the nearby heritage assets, and therefore no
objection is raised.

13. Construction

Assuming that planning permission is granted, construction on site is anticipated to
commence in April 2019, with the new MRO hangar being operational by June 2020,
just ahead of the next Airshow. Whilst the Design and Access Statement submitted
with the application contains indicative comment, there is no definitive construction
methodology for the proposed development as yet since this would be provided by
the successful tendering contractor.

There are a number of general comments made concerning the construction; that all
works would be undertaken in accordance with best practice; that all contractors
facilities would be provided on the site; and all deliveries, general construction traffic
and waste removals including spoil would utilise the Trenchard Way access point. It
is anticipated that there would be a concrete batching plant on-site for the duration of
the reinstatement of the apron and the construction of the ground slab of the
building. Any hazardous spoil that may be encountered would be moved to a
certified location for disposal.

14. Ground Contamination and Remediation

The Phase 2 Ground Investigation report submitted with the application details the
results of an intrusive investigation of the site. The report identifies a low risk from
ground contamination but it is recognised that asbestos may be encountered on site
during construction so a watching brief needs to be maintained throughout both
demolition and construction. Environmental Health agree with the report findings that
no gas protection measures are considered necessary.

Unsurprisingly some ground contamination was discovered, and the presence of
elevated metal concentrations is thought to be associated with the local geology. The
Environmental Health team consider it not unexpected given the historical use of this
and neighbouring sites, and agree with the report that it would be prudent to
undertake additional testing to quantify and deal with risks. Appropriate planning
conditions can cover this.

It is recommended that the use of barrier pipes be used for potable water supplies,
due to the presence of petroleum hydrocarbons.

The Environment Agency have also been consulted and after reading the Ground
Investigation report submitted with the application states that they have enough
confidence that it will be possible to manage the risk to controlled waters by this
development. They consider that the proposed development would be acceptable if
planning conditions are included requiring the submission of a remediation strategy.

Page 163



Conclusion

The proposed development to erect a new MRO facility for Gulfstream at
Farnborough Airport is technically a departure from the present development plan
due to part of the site being allocated as part of Farnborough Business Park in the
Rushmoor Core Strategy. However, planning permission has already been granted
in July 2018 for the change of use of that part of the site to form part of the
operational Airport. That application (18/00454/FULPP) was advertised as a
departure from the develoment plan and attracted no objection or comment in that
regard. Modifications have already been proposed to the emerging Local Plan to
reflect this. Once the new Local Plan is adopted (anticipated to be early 2019), the
proposal would be in complete conformity with the Development Plan. The material
considerations in this case, in particular the significant economic benefits that would
arise, carry great weight, are deemed to be overriding, and consequently no policy
objection is raised. The proposal accords with the Government’s planning policies as
set out in the National Planning Policy Framework.

Following a thorough examination of all the issues raised by the proposed
development, it is considered that, subject to appropriate conditions, it would make a
valuable contribution to the economic viability of the Borough, would enhance the
visual appearance of the area, and would not cause any adverse impacts on
neighbouring occupiers or on highway safety.

Full Recommendation

It is recommended that planning permission be GRANTED subiject to the following
conditions and informatives:

Conditions and Reasons

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3
years from the date of this permission.

Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

2. Notwithstanding any indication which may have been given in the application,
or in the absence of such information, no construction works shall start on site
until details of a method statement for demolition and construction works
(including works to the hangar apron) have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be
carried out in accordance with the approved method statement. *

Reason - To secure a satisfactory development.

3. No development shall commence until a remediation strategy to deal with the
risks associated with contamination of the site has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include
the following components:  *

0] The results of the site investigation and detailed risk assessment

Page 164



referred to in the Phase 1 and 2 report and, based on these, an
options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of
the remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken.

(i) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be
collected in order to demonstrate that the works set out in the
remediation strategy in (1) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages,
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action. Any
changes to these components require the written consent of the
Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented as
approved.

Reason — To prevent deterioration of water quality within the Windlesham
Formation, which is a Secondary A aquifer, during development.

If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be
present at the site then no further development (unless agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until remediation strategy
detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy
shall be implemented as approved.

Reason — To prevent a deterioration in water quality within the Windlesham
Formation, which is a Secondary A aquifer, during development

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the car parking
facilities have been provided and marked out in accordance with the approved
plans. The parking area shall thereafter be retained solely for parking
purposes, and made available to the occupiers and visitors to the premises
unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. *

Reason - To ensure that provision for vehicle parking clear of the highway is
available for users of and visitors to the development in the interests of
highway safety.

Construction or demolition work of any sort within the area covered by the
application shall only take place between the hours of 0800-1800 Monday to
Friday and 0800-1300 on Saturdays. No works at all shall take place on
Sundays and Public Holidays unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Any pile driving shall be restricted to 0800-1800
Monday to Friday only, unless otherwise first agreed in writing unless agreed
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and
other occupiers, and to prevent adverse impact on traffic and parking
conditions in the vicinity

A Construction Traffic Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved

by the Local Planning Authority in writing before development commences.
This should include construction traffic routes, parking and turning provision to

Page 165



10.

11.

12.

be made on site, measures to prevent mud from being deposited on the
highway and a programme for construction. The agreed details shall be fully
implemented before the development is commenced. *

Reason — In the interests of highway safety.

Prior to first occupation or use of the development hereby approved, a fully
detailed landscaping and planting scheme (to include where appropriate both
landscape planting and ecological enhancement) shall be first submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (also see condition
17).

Reason: To ensure the development makes an adequate contribution to
visual amenity and habitat creation.

All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season
following the occupation of the buildings or the practical completion of the
development, whichever is the sooner, and any plants which within a period of
5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season
with others of similar size and species, unless otherwise first agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - In the interests of amenity and to help achieve a satisfactory
standard of landscaping.

Notwithstanding any information given on the approved drawings, the security
gatehouse at the entrance to the site from Trenchard Way shall be
constructed in accordance with full details of its precise location, size, design,
appearance and external materials, which shall be submitted to and agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority before any work on it commences. The
structure shall be thereafter retained in accordance with the details so
approved *

Reason — The gatehouse will be within a Public Safety Zone, and the Local
Planning Authority will need to take account of advice and guidance given in
Department for Transport Circular 01/2010: Control of Development in Airport
Public Safety Zones.

Prior to occupation of the site, the access road from Trenchard Way shall be
constructed as shown in principle in drawing no. 184040/A/03, including
adequate visibility splays in accordance with the appropriate design
standards. *

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.
The barrier associated with the security gatehouse hereby approved shall be
set back a minimum of 35m from Trenchard Way to allow an appropriate

stacking capacity for queuing vehicles waiting to access the site.

Reason - To accord with the terms of the application and in the interests of

Page 166



13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

highway safety.

Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, a travel plan co-
ordinator shall be appointed to monitor travel to and from the facility based on
an agreed process and a travel plan, details of which shall be first submitted
to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The requirements
and obligations contained within the Travel Plan shall be implemented and
complied with as approved.

Reason : In the interests of preventing undue reliance on use of the private
car.

No permanent storage of parts, materials, plant or equipment shall take place
other than within the hangar or inside the screen wall of the external plant
area.

Reason — In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and to safeguard
the operation of the service yard.

No activity outside the proposed hanger during the hours of 22:00 to 07:00
Monday to Friday and 20:00 to 08:00 hours on weekends and on Bank
Holidays, shall involve the running of aircraft engines, the use of an aircraft’s
auxiliary power unit, the use of ground power units and the use of air tools for
the purposes of metal forming, unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority

Reason — To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and minimise
the impacts of the development.

Prior to occupation of the site, a Noise Management Plan shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Noise
Management Plan shall identify the type and location of operational and other
activities likely to cause disturbance to nearby sensitive receptors, including
occupants of the Farnborough Business Park, and set out means to minimise
noise arising from these activities. It shall set out a process for the recording
and investigation of complaints received pertaining to noise and how such
complaints will be dealt with. It shall include a strategy for monitoring noise to
ensure the effectiveness of measures implemented and identify a process for
regular review of the Plan. The Noise Management Plan shall be adhered to
throughout the lifetime of the development. *

Reason — To protect the amenities of neighbouring occupiers.

Within 6 months of the date of this permission, a Habitat Mitigation Plan to
address the loss of habitat (SINC) to additional apron shall be submitted to
and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing.

The scheme of mitigation shall include habitat creation, management and
monitoring methodology for wildflower habitats to be created around the car
park; and additional habitat creation, management and monitoring
methodology for acid grassland/heathland to be provided.

Page 167



18.

The scheme of mitigation shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
details and timescale so approved.

Reason - To provide mitigation for neutral and acidic grassland lost to
development on the Site of Nature Conservation Interest (SINC) and for
biodiversity gain, in accordance with Policy CP15 of the Rushmoor Core
Strategy 2011.

The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved drawings and documents - Drawing numbers:
1224-00-GA-904-000002 v3; 1224-XX-GA-200-000106 v2;
1224-00-GA-200-000101 v3; 1224-XX-GA-200-000107 v2;
1224-XX-GA-200-000102 v3; 1224-XX-SE-200-000108 v2;
1224-RF-GA-200-000103 v2; 1224-XX-SE-200-000109 v2;
1224-XX-SE-200-000104 v2; 1224-XX-GA-200-000110 v2;
1224-XX-SE-200-000105 v2; 1224-00-GA-200-000111 v2

and 184040/A/03, together with the document ‘Ownership and Adoption of
Drainage Systems’ dated 17/10/2018.

Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the
permission granted

Informatives

INFORMATIVE — The Local Planning Authority’s commitment to working with
the applicants in a positive and proactive way is demonstrated by its offer of
pre-application discussion to all, and assistance in the validation and
determination of applications through the provision of clear guidance
regarding necessary supporting information or amendments both before and
after submission, in line with the National Planning Policy Framework.

INFORMATIVE - REASONS FOR APPROVAL - The Council has granted
permission because: Whilst the proposal is technically a departure from the
current development plan, the material planning considerations in support of
the development are deemed to be overriding. It would make a valuable
contribution to the economic viability of the Borough, would enhance the
visual appearance of the area, and would not cause any adverse impacts on
neighbouring occupiers or on highway safety. It is therefore considered that
subject to compliance with the attached conditions, and taking into account all
other material planning considerations, including the provisions of the
development plan, the proposal would be acceptable. This also includes a
consideration of whether the decision to grant permission is compatible with
the Human Rights Act 1998.

INFORMATIVE - This permission is subject to a planning obligation under
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

Page 168



10.

11.

INFORMATIVE - Your attention is specifically drawn to the conditions above
marked *. These condition(s) require the submission of details, information,
drawings etc. to the Local Planning Authority BEFORE ANY WORKS START
ON THE SITE or, require works to be carried out BEFORE THE
COMMENCEMENT OF THE USE OR FIRST OCCUPATION OF ANY
BUILDING. Failure to observe these requirements will result in a
contravention of the terms of the permission and the Council may take
enforcement action to secure compliance.

INFORMATIVE - No materials produced as a result of site preparation,
clearance, or development should be burnt on site. Please contact the Head
of Environmental Health Services at Rushmoor Borough Council for advice.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is recommended to achieve maximum energy
efficiency and reduction of Carbon Dioxide emissions by: a. ensuring the
design and materials to be used in the construction of the building are
consistent with these aims; and using renewable energy sources for the
production of electricity and heat using efficient and technologically advanced
equipment.

INFORMATIVE - If the proposals include works to an ordinary watercourse,
under the Land Drainage Act 1991, as amended by the Flood and Water
Management Act 2010, prior consent from the Lead Local Flood Authority is
required. This consent is required as a separate permission to planning. The
Lead Local Flood Authority is Hampshire County Council, EIl Court West, 1.
Floor, Winchester, Hampshire, S)23 8UJ (swm.consultee@hants.gov.uk).

INFORMATIVE — The applicant is advised that during the demolition and
construction phases of the development measures should be employed to
contain and minimise dust emissions, to prevent their escape from the
development site onto adjoining properties. For further information please
contact the Head of Environmental Health on 01252-398398.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised to follow good practice in the
demolition of the existing buildings on site. Good practice includes the re-use
of all material arising from demolition as part of the redevelopment wherever
this is practicable.

INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised to ensure that all waste soil raisings
removed from the site during the redevelopment works will be disposed of to a
suitable landfill site and under a duty of care.

INFORMATIVE - If the proposals include works to an ordinary watercourse
under the Land Drainage Act 1991, as amended by the Flood and Water
Management Act 2010, prior consent from the Lead Local Flood Authority is
required. This consent is required as a separate permission to planning.

Information on ordinary watercourse consenting can be found at the following
link: http://www3.hants.gov.uk/flooding/hampshireflooding/watercourses.htm

Page 169


http://www3.hants.gov.uk/flooding/hampshireflooding/watercourses.htm

12.

It is strongly recommended that this information is reviewed before Land
Drainage consent application is made.

INFORMATIVE — It is important to ensure that the long term maintenance and
responsibility for Sustainable Drainage Systems is agreed between the Local
Planning Authority and the applicant before planning permission is granted.
This should involve discussions with those adopting and /or maintaining the
proposed systems, which could include the Highway Authority, Planning
Authority, Parish Councils, Water Companies and private management
companies.

For SuDS systems to be adopted by Hampshire Highways, it is recommended
that you visit the website at:
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/developers/constructionstandards

for guidance on which drainage features would be suitable for adoption.

Where the proposals are connecting to an existing drainage system it is likely
that the authorities responsible for maintaining those systems will have their
own design requirements. These requirements will need to be reviewed and
agreed as part of any surface water drainage scheme.

Page 170


https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/developers/constructionstandards

|||||||

— [
L

right. All Rights

e

Page 171



!L

<

T

T

14—'4

?

97}

W
LIf

DED
s

v

\>}
N \\\\,{;




PeoY AR Podiy

——

TR

<

VAN

HVONVH ONIN 3SOdO¥d [

==

NNV IO

JERuIRd

Page 173



srames []
= [H

Bugutlg 007 40 “
B 3
puabaT 75

pras——

?PPPE

SRR

=
SR L] il
N —r—— EEEEEEN -

ﬂ.ﬁ........@.,..

avod Imkmi—mmn_ 1d0dyl¥Y

\

Page 174



il

m,x:
Ziona1 &

1 : L

o

F]

il

IIIII

-

B

—pene b

O=0

&

Page 175



.......

o
)

SRR 5o~ ¢ uonensia

il
E‘E

g
'+ e

| E}
H

i§

VRSP 113
yinog - z uoneas;g ¢

052: 1 \...,,,
YMON - | uoneas|y  *

i A o v
N

NVId A3M

Page 176



1839

e e n

MBIA IS\ YINOS - ¢

M3IA JSB3 YUON - 2

MBIA 1SOM UHON - €

M3IA Jse3 yinos - |

Page 177



MBI/ J981IS }se] YUOoN -

MBI\ [8A87 YBIH 1SET YHON - £

MSIA YHON - |

S
) ool 7
T e

Page 178




Section D

The following applications are reported for INFORMATION purposes only. They relate to
applications, prior approvals, notifications, and consultations that have already been
determined by the Head of Planning and where necessary, in consultation with the
Chairman, in accordance with the Council’s adopted Scheme of Delegation.

If Members wish to have more details about the decision on any of the applications on
this list please contact David Stevens (01252 398738) or John W Thorne (01252 398791)
in advance of the Committee meeting.

Application No 17/00301/COND Ward: Wellington
Applicant: Jack Johnson
Decision: Permission Granted

Decision Date: 25 October 2018

Proposal: Submission of details pursuant to condition 3 (materials) of part reserved
matters 16/00757/REMPP dated 7th March 2017 (Corunna B1 & B2).

Address Zone B - Coruna Aldershot Urban Extension Alisons Road Aldershot
Hampshire

Application No 18/00291/ENQ106 Ward: Cove And Southwood

Applicant: Devonshires Solicitors

Decision: Conditions complied with

Decision Date: 24 October 2018

Proposal: Confirmation of whether s106 financial or non financial planning
obligations in relation to 16/00307/FULPP have been complied with

Address The Potters Arms 182 Cove Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14
OHJ

Page 179



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00341/COND Ward: St John's

Gurkha Security Services
Conditions details approved

08 October 2018

Submission of details pursuant to Condition Nos.9 (foundation
construction details) and 11 (operatives and construction vehicle parking
during construction period details) of planning permission
17/00315/FULPP dated 1 September 2017

Falcon House 16 Fernhill Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 9RX

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:
Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00390/ADVPP Ward: Empress

ASDA
Permission Granted

08 October 2018

Display of one 8m high freestanding totem with illuminated header

ASDA Westmead Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7LT

18/00505/COND Ward: Wellington

Mr Suneet Jain , Jan Mandozai And Sid C
Conditions not complied with

25 October 2018

Request for confirmation that condition 1 of planning permission
07/00541/FUL has been complied with and the development was
implemented within three years of the date of approval

16 Union Street Aldershot Hampshire GU11 1EG

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Page 180

18/00513/FUL Ward: Rowhill

Miss R. Arnott
Permission Granted

26 October 2018

Replacement windows with white UVPC and white UVPC wood grain
effect front sash bay window

14A Cargate Avenue Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3EP



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00525/FULPP Ward: Wellington

Mr H Schneck
Permission Granted

05 October 2018

Creation and associated cladding of internal courtyard (rear elevations of
54-56 Union Street and 53-55 High Street) following part demolition of
existing building (part retrospective)

54 - 56 Union Street And 53 - 55 High Street Aldershot Hampshire

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00539/FULPP Ward: Knellwood

Mrs Saima & Mr Sadagai Ali
Permission Granted

02 October 2018

Erection of new 3-bedroom house following demolition of existing
outbuilding and re-location of parking to front of existing building
(Kingston House) with new vehicular access onto Alexandra Road to
serve occupiers of Kingston House

Kingston House 11 Church Road West Farnborough Hampshire

18/00560/FULPP Ward: North Town

Tancia Holdings Ltd
Permission Granted

19 October 2018

Erection of purpose-designed portal frame commercial building of a total
of approximately 2378 sgm of gross external floorspace for production
and storage & distribution purposes (mixed Use-Classes B1(c) and B8)
with ancillary Use Class B1(a) offices following demolition of existing
building (Revised scheme following withdrawal of scheme submitted with
planning application 18/00045/FULPP in April 2018)

Unit 1A Eastern Road Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4TD

Page 181



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00569/TPOPP Ward: Empress

Mr Kane Gibbs
Permission Granted

08 October 2018

Cut back tree branches that are obstructing the sign on the entrance to
the car park. Crown lift the branches overhanging the access road and
the car park areas to no more than 4.5 metres from ground level ( this
includes remedial work to Oaks T9, T10 and T12, Sycamores T8 and T11
and the trees of groups W1 and G1 all within TPO 381)

B And Q Car Park Invincible Road Farnborough Hampshire

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:
Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00596/FULPP Ward: Knellwood

Ms J Baldwin
Permission Granted

04 October 2018

Erection of a single storey rear extension

59 Salisbury Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7AG

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:
Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00598/ADVPP Ward: North Town

Mercedes-Benz UK
Permission Granted

02 October 2018

Replacement external commercial vehicle dealership and forecourt signs

Unit 1 Eastern Road Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4TD

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Page 182

18/00604/TPOPP Ward: St Mark's

Mr J Adams
Permission Granted

08 October 2018

Removal of two Sycamores, two Scots Pine, one Holly and one Oak (all
part of group G3 of TPO 375) and three Sycamores (part of group W1 of
TPO 375) and remedial work to several other TPO 375 trees as per
submitted tree survey

Land Affected By TPO 375 Reading Road Farnborough Hampshire



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:
Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00606/FUL Ward: North Town

Mrs L Davis
Permission Granted

15 October 2018

Erection of a single storey extension

13 St Christophers Close Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4XF

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:
Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00607/FULPP Ward: Aldershot Park

Ms Vikki Turvey
Permission Granted

16 October 2018

Erection of a single storey side and rear extension

391 High Street Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4NF

18/00609/PRIOR Ward: Wellington

Allen Planning Ltd
Prior Approval Required and Granted
05 October 2018

Notification under Class M of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015 as amended for prior
approval for a proposed change of use of part of the ground floor of 53
High Street from a shop (Class Al) to a use falling within Use Class C3
(dwellinghouses) namely two flats

53 High Street Aldershot Hampshire GU11 1BH

Page 183



Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:
Proposal:

Address

18/00618/CONDPP Ward: St Mark's

Farnborough Power Limited
Conditions details approved

09 October 2018

Submission of details to comply with conditions 2 (external materials) and
3 (surfacing materials) pursuant to planning permission 18/00133/FULPP
dated 14 June 2018 in respect of the erection of a 16MW embedded
short term operating reserve ('STOR') generating plant building, auxiliary
equipment, plant control building, new bunds, landscaping and
associated works.

Land To The South Of Old Ively Road Cody Technology Park Ively
Road Farnborough Hampshire

18/00621/FULPP Ward: Cove And Southwood

Mr Fatos Nika
Permission Refused

09 October 2018

Erection of a part single and part two storey rear extension

60 Hazel Avenue Farnborough Hampshire GU14 ODW

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:
Proposal:

Address

Page 184

18/00625/FULPP Ward: Aldershot Park

Mr Laurence Willis
Permission Granted

24 October 2018

Erection of a single storey extension and alteration to pedestrian access

33 Brighton Road Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4HG



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00627/TPOPP Ward: Knellwood

Maggie Lonergan
Permission Granted

11 October 2018

Three False Acacia (T1,T3 and T4 on submitted plan) crown reduce by
no more than 1 metre, crown thin by no more than 10% and crown lift by
no more than 4.5 metres from ground level. One False Acacia (T2 on
plan) 1 metre crown reduction and 10% crown thin. Two Oaks ( T5 and
T6) 1 metre crown reduction, 10% crown thin and crown lift to no more
than 4.5 metres from ground level (all trees are part of group G3 of TPO
433)

Land Affected By TPO 433 Church Avenue Farnborough Hampshire

18/00628/TPOPP Ward: Knellwood
Lorraine Hodgson

Permission Granted

11 October 2018

One Acacia tree (T41 of TPO 435A) crown thin by no more than 10%,
reduce 3 lowest limbs from 4 metres to 2.5 metres and 2 higher limbs
reduce by no more than 1 metre

Kilbrogan 213 Sycamore Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 6RQ

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:
Proposal:

Address

18/00630/TPO Ward: Knellwood

Mrs Christine Ketteringham
Permission Granted

09 October 2018

One Oak (T3 of TPO 402A) crown lift by removing 3 lowest branches

Rush House 28 Cedar Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7AX

Page 185



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00632/TPO Ward: Fernhill

Ms Sharron Caslin
Permission Granted

16 October 2018

One Oak (part of group G1 of TPO 236) see submitted application plan,
crown lift to no more than 4 metres from ground level, reduce side
laterals by no more than 1 metre on neighbour side and crown thin by no
more than 15%

5 Randell Close Blackwater Camberley Hampshire GU17 9HF

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00634/FULPP Ward: West Heath

Mr S Yeung
Permission Granted

11 October 2018

Erection of part single and part two storey rear extension, single storey
side extension and front porch, along with widening of existing dropped
kerb O

23 Lynn Way Farnborough Hampshire GU14 8RT

18/00637/CONDPP Ward: Empress

Lothbury Property Trust Company Ltd
Conditions details approved

09 October 2018

Submission of details to comply with condition 4 (replacement tree
planting) attached to planning permisson 18/00507/FULPP dated 9
August 2018 for the creation of 8 additional car parking spaces with
associated works

Blackwater Shopping Park Farnborough Gate Farnborough
Hampshire

Page 186



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:
Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00638/FULPP Ward: Rowhill

Mr James Sayer
Permission Granted

01 October 2018

Erection of a single storey side and rear extension

87 Alexandra Road Aldershot Hampshire GU11 1QW

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00640/TPOPP Ward: Knellwood

Mrs Penny Gunn
Split decision
11 October 2018

One Silver Birch (T36 of TPO 433) reduce top of crown by no more than
8 metres and crown thin by no more than 25%

166 Farnborough Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7JJ

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:
Proposal:

Address

18/00644/ADVPP Ward: Knellwood

CO-OPERATIVE FOOD
Permission Granted

02 October 2018

Display of 1 facia sign with an internally illuminated co-op logo and 1 non
illuminated wall mounted sign

36 Woburn Avenue Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7EF

18/00647/FUL Ward: Knellwood

Mr & Mrs Kevin Jones
Permission Granted

02 October 2018

Erection of a single storey rear extension

3 Knightwood Close Farnborough Hampshire GU14 6HS

Page 187



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00648/FUL Ward: Fernhill

Mr J Meredew
Permission Granted

09 October 2018

Erection of a single storey front, side and rear extension and formation of
dormers along both east and west roof facing elevations following
removal of existing conservatory

29 Sandy Lane Farnborough Hampshire GU14 9HJ

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00652/TPOPP Ward: West Heath
Mrs Sam Marshall

Permission Granted

16 October 2018

Two Oaks (T3 and T4 of TPO 437) as per submitted TPO plan, prune
back branches to the boundary of 23 Stake Lane to suitable secondary
live growth

Land Affected By TPO 437 Stake Lane Farnborough Hampshire

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00659/PDC Ward: Aldershot Park

Mr Christopher Batchelor
Development is Lawful

02 October 2018

Proposed Lawful Development Certificate: Erection of a single storey rear
extension

5 Elston Road Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4HX

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Page 188

18/00660/TPOPP Ward: Empress

Alison Chapman
Permission Granted

18 October 2018

Remove one small Robinia (part of group G5 of TPO 380) growing over
the footpath

Forester House Coombe Way Farnborough Hampshire



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00661/NMAPP Ward: Wellington

Laura Powell
Conditions details approved

11 October 2018

Non-material Amendment to application 17/00494/REMPP dated
09.11.2017 including alterations to eaves design and height, design and
position of windows and doors and design of chimneys within McGrigor
Development Zone D.

Zone D - McGrigor Aldershot Urban Extension Alisons Road
Aldershot Hampshire

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00662/COND Ward: St Mark's

Prunus Developments Ltd
Conditions details approved

19 October 2018

Submission of details to comply with conditions 2 (external materials), 3
(window details), 4 (surfacing materials), 5 (levels), 6 (boundary
treatment), 8 (contaminated land), 10 (construction method statement),
11 (landscaping), 13 (SUDS), 14 (energy performance) and 15
(communal television facilities) attached to planning permission
17/00334/FULPP dated 1 November 2017 for the demolition of existing
workshops and erection of a part two storey, part three storey building
with accommodation in the roof to provide 11 one bedroom flats with
associated access and car parking

4A Netley Street Farnborough Hampshire GU14 6AQ

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00665/PDCPP Ward: North Town

Mr & Mrs Allaker
Development is Lawful

03 October 2018

LAWFUL DEVELOPMENT CERTIFICATE: Formation of a hip to gable
roof extension and dormer window to rear with three roof lights to front
roof elevation

9 Clive Road Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4RE

Page 189



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00668/FULPP Ward: Cove And Southwood

Mr Andrew Lundie
Permission Granted

10 October 2018

Demolition of existing conservatory and erection of a two storey side and
single storey rear extension

5 Gleneagles Drive Farnborough Hampshire GU14 OPH

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Page 190

18/00671/TPOPP Ward: Knellwood

Mr Tony Bramwell
Permission Granted

22 October 2018

One Sweet Gum tree (T24 of TPO 432A ) crown reduce back to previous
cutting points, leaving a canopy spread of no less than 4 metres and
finished height of no less than 5 metres

36 The Crescent Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7AS

18/00674/PDC Ward: Manor Park

Mr Rhys Rutledge
Development is Lawful

05 October 2018

LAWFUL DEVELOPMENT CERTIFICATE: Formation of a hip to gable
roof extension and dormer window to rear with a non-opening, obscure
glazed window in the side roof elevation and one roof light to front roof
elevation

77 Boxalls Lane Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3QH



Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:
Proposal:

Address

18/00676/TPO Ward: Empress

Ms Yvette Macleod
Permission Granted

22 October 2018

One Oak (T20 of TPO 368) and two Sweet Chestnut and one Beech tree
(part of group G5 of TPO 368) on right side of rear garden at 29
Pierrefondes Avenue crown lift to no more than 6 metres from ground
level. Two Sweet Chestnut trees and one Oak (part of group G3 of TPO
368) on left side of garden of 27 Pierrefondes Avenue crown lift to no
more than 6 metres from ground level

Land Affected By TPO 368- South Of Empress Avenue And
Pierrefondes Avenue Farnborough Hampshire

18/00681/FUL Ward: Manor Park

Nazar Alhashimi And Joanne McEwen
Permission Granted

15 October 2018

Erection of a front porch

16 Highfield Gardens Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3DE

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00682/PDCPP Ward: Knellwood

Mr David Jeffery
Development is Lawful

15 October 2018

Formation of a hip to gable roof extension, rear dormer and 3 front
rooflights to facilitate loft conversion

78 Ashley Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7HD

Page 191



Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00684/FULPP Ward: Manor Park

Mr & Mrs Crowther
Permission Granted

15 October 2018

Formation of a bay window, raised terrace and sail shade to the rear.
External alterations including rendering

48A Highfield Avenue Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3DA

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:
Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00686/FULPP Ward: Rowhill

Mr & Mrs John Kellagher
Permission Granted

15 October 2018

Proposed single storey rear extension following removal of the
conservatory and partial conversion of the integral garage to a habitable
room

Amberley 19 Hillside Road Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3LX

18/00690/REXPD Ward: Aldershot Park

Mr J Horton
Prior approval is NOT required

15 October 2018

Erection of a single storey extension measuring 5.5 metres from the
original wall of the house x 2.45 metres to the eaves and 4 metres overall
height

46 Gillian Avenue Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4HT

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:
Proposal:

Address

18/00694/FULPP Ward: Manor Park

Mr & Mrs Watkins
Permission Granted

19 October 2018

Proposed single storey rear extension with projecting bris-solell

1 Warwick Close Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3SX

Page 192



Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00696/ADVPP Ward: Empress
Mr Chris Jones

Permission Granted

19 October 2018

Replacement of 2 x DFS 'heart' logos with 2 internally illuminated 'Dwell’
signs

Unit 1 Solartron Retail Park Solartron Road Farnborough Hampshire
GU14 7QJ

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

Application No

Applicant:

Decision:

Decision Date:

Proposal:

Address

18/00701/FULPP Ward: St Mark's

Mr Robert Hutchings
Permission Granted

24 October 2018

Insertion of one roof light within side facing roof slope of existing rear first
floor extension and change of roof to existing single storey rear
conservatory to a flat roof incorporating a lantern roof light

Canterbury Villa 12 Netley Street Farnborough Hampshire GU14 6AQ

18/00737/COND Ward: Cove And Southwood
Devonshires Solicitors

Split decision

17 October 2018

Request for confirmation that all conditions of planning permission
16/00307/FULPP dated 23 June 2016 have been complied with

The Potters Arms 182 Cove Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14
OHJ

Page 193



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM No. 4

Development Management Committee Directorate of Community and
7th November 2018 Environment

11

2.1

Planning Report No. PLN1830

Planning (Development Management) summary report for the quarter
Jul-Sept 2018

Introduction

The purpose of this report is to update Members on the position with respect
to Performance Indicators for the Development Management Section of
Planning, and the overall workload of the Section. This report covers the
quarter from 1% July to 30™ September.

Planning Applications

The three tables below set out figures relating to Major, Minor and ‘Other’
planning applications for the first quarter. We are required to provide the
government with statistical returns in relation to decision times. It should be
noted that the returns required by government do not include some application
types including applications for the approval of details pursuant to conditions,
applications to fell or carry out works to TPO trees and trees in Conservation
Areas, Non-Material Amendments, Screening Opinions, Adjacent Authority
Consultations and applications for approval in relation to conditions. These
however constitute a significant source of demand on our service numbering
81 cases in the quarter and are included in the total figures reflecting workload
set out at 3.1 below.

Major and small scale major Applications determined within 13 weeks/PPA target
Decisions in Jul-Sept 2018 Government 2017/2018
Target Total

quarter
7 86% 60% 95.2%

Decisions in Jul-Sept 2018 ‘ Government 2017/2018

quarter Target Total

22 7% 65% 71%
*Decisions on eight applications determined in the quarter were outside the statutory period, three were the subject of
agreed extensions of time and therefore recorded as ‘in time’.

‘Other’ (Including Householder) Applications determined within 8 weeks
Decisions in Jul-Sept 2018 Government 2017/2018

quarter Target Total
69 91% 80% 94.9%

Page 195



2.2 The following table sets out figures relating to appeals allowed against the
authority’s decision to refuse permission.

% of appeals allowed against the authority’s decision to refuse

2017/18 Government ‘ Jul-Sept ‘ Appeal

Total Target 2018 Decisions
11% 40% max 33% 3

3. Workload

3.1  This section deals with workload demand on the Development Management
Section in the past three months.

Departmental Work Demand Jul-Sept 2018

Applications Pre-Application Incoming Applications Appeals
Submitted (All Cases Telephone Calls Determined (All Submitted

225 50 2014 188 1

3.2 The following graphs present the time period being taken to determine
different types of application.

Major and small-scale majors Total 7

Decision in Weeks

Weeks to Decision

3.3 Performance with regard to Major applications remains well above the
Government target  with six of seven cases determined within the statutory
13 week period.

Page 196



Minor (Non householder) applications Total 22

Decision in Weeks

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 13 15
Weeks to Decision

3.4

This second graph illustrates the determination times for minor applications,
77% of which were determined within the statutory period or in accordance with
agreed extensions of time.

‘Other’ (Including Householder) applications Total 69

Decision in Weeks

Weeks to Decision

3.5

4.1

4.2

5.1

This third graph shows that in the first quarter of this financial year the majority
of householder applicants received decisions in the fourth and fifth weeks
after their validation date.

Fee Income

The total amount of planning fee income received for the quarter was £112,149
against a budget estimate of £100,000.

The total amount of pre-application fee income received for the quarter was
£6,747 against a budget estimate of £9,000.

Section 106 contributions

Information in this section relates to financial contributions secured by way of
section 106 planning obligations. It should be noted that the allocation of
capacity in the Hawley Meadows, Southwood Il and Rowhill Copse SANGs is
now almost complete. Collection of contributions in respect of these projects
will therefore soon cease and will no longer form part of these reports..

Page 197



Section 106 contributions received Jul-Sept 2018

Contributions received (Rushmoor and Hampshire) £289,939.20
apportioned as set out below~
Open Space (specific projects set out in agreements) £68,795.20

a) £42,380.00
SANGS a) Hawley Meadows * b) Southwood Il ¢) Rowhill | b) £20,540.00
c) £13,260.00

a) £4,636.00
SAMM* a) Hawley Meadows b) Southwood Il ¢) Rowhill b) £2,249.00

d) Wellesley Woodland e) Bramshot Farm (Hart) gg 3;55 32080 00
e) £0
Transport (specific projects set out in agreements)* £0

~This figure also includes monitoring charges, interest and receipts for the Farnborough Airport Community Environmental

Fund.

*Contributions relating to the Hawley Meadows SANG. SAMM contributions and Transport are paid to Hampshire County

Council.

Eight new undertakings/legal agreements were signed in the period Jul-Sept 2018.

6.

6.1

6.2

7.1

Comment on workload for this quarter and year

This second quarter saw sustained numbers of application submissions and a
fall in pre-application submissions to 50 in the quarter. Pre-application fee
receipts were below the budget for the quarter and now stand currently at
£15,568 for the first six months of the financial year against an estimate of
£18,000. Planning application fee income exceeded the budget projection by
just over £12,000. This has overcome the shortfall in the first quarter and
leaves the application fee income total for the first six months of the financial
year in the black by approximately £7,800.00.

The Development Management Team is, as of the beginning of October, now
at full strength with Katie Ingram and Louise Davies joining as Planning Officers
to fill the existing vacancy in the team and the additional post created and
funded by the recent increase in planning fees.

Wellesley

Progress on the residential phases of Wellesley continues. Maida Development
Zone A is substantially complete. This zone contains 228 units and to date 226
are occupied. The remaining two units will be constructed/occupied once the
Bellway Homes’ sales suite is no longer required in connection with the
Corunna Development Zones B1 & B2.

Page 198



7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

8.1

The Corunna Development Zone lies opposite Maida on the west side of
Queen’s Avenue. Works are at an advanced stage on site for Phase B1 & B2
(227 residential units) and to date 40 units are occupied, including some
affordable housing. Works will shortly commence on Corunna Phase B3 & B4
to provide a further 454 residential dwellings.

Construction is now at an advanced stage on Gunhill (Development Zone E)
consisting of 107 residential units. This is located west of the Cambridge
Military Hospital and north of Hospital Road.

The first phase of construction will shortly commence at McGrigor Zone D. This
is located north of the Cambridge Military Hospital and east of Maida Zone. It
will provide a total of 116 residential units.

The Western Primary School, located on the corner site of Queen’s Avenue
and Alison’s Road, is now complete. The school opened in September 2018
with one reception class.

Recommendation

That the report be NOTED

Keith Holland
Head of Planning
Contact: John W Thorne 01252 398791

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None.

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	1 Declarations of interest
	2 Minutes
	Appendix A and B

	3 Planning Applications
	Sections A and B - Items to be considered at future meetings and petitions received
	Section C - Item 6 - Meudon House, Meudon Avenue, Farnborough - 18/00140/FULPP
	Section C - Item 7 - 117 Farnborough Road,Farnborough - 18/00466/FULPP
	Section C - Item 8 - Upper Union Terrace and 182 to 192 Victoria Road, Aldershot - 18/00481/FULPP
	Section C - Item 9 - Farnborough Airport, Farnborough Road, Farnborough - 18/00657/FULPP
	Section D - Planning applications determined under the Council's Scheme of Delegation

	4 Planning (Development Management) Summary Report for the Quarter July - September 2018

